
 

 

Health and Social Care Scrutiny 

Sub-Committee  AGENDA 
 
 

DATE: 

 

Wednesday 22 April 2015 

 

TIME: 

 

7.30 pm 

 

VENUE: 

 

Committee Room 5, 

Harrow Civic Centre 

 
 

 

 MEMBERSHIP      (Quorum 3) 

   

  Chair: 

 

Councillor Mrs Rekha Shah  

 

  Councillors: 

 
Michael Borio (VC) 
Niraj Dattani 
 

Mrs Vina Mithani 
Chris Mote 
 

  
 

 
 

Reserve Members: 

 
1. Kairul Kareema Marikar 
2. Jo Dooley 
3. Sasi Suresh 
 

1. Lynda Seymour 
2. Jean Lammiman 
 

  
 

 

Advisers: 

 
 Julian Maw Harrow Healthwatch 
Dr N Merali Harrow Local Medical Committee 
 
 

Contact:  Manize Talukdar, Democratic & Electoral Services Officer 

Tel:  020 8424 1323    E-mail:  manize.talukdar@harrow.gov.uk 
 



Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 22 April 2015 2 

 
 AGENDA - PART I   

 
1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS    
 
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 

 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after 

the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act 
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after 
his/her arrival. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising 

from business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Sub-Committee; 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

3. MINUTES   (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 February 2015 be taken as read and 

signed as a correct record. 
 

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS *    
 
 To receive any public questions received in accordance with Committee Procedure 

Rule 17 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 
Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received and there be a 
time limit of 15 minutes. 
 
[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, Friday 17 April 2015.  
Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk    

No person may submit more than one question]. 
 

5. PETITIONS    
 
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under 

the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 

6. REFERENCES FROM COUNCIL AND OTHER COMMITTEES/PANELS    
 
 To receive any references from Council and/or other Committees or Panels. 

 
 



Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 22 April 2015 3 

7. CNWL DRAFT QUALITY ACCOUNT 2014-15   (Pages 13 - 102) 
 
 Report of the Associate Director for Quality & Service Improvement. 

 
8. JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE   (Pages 103 - 

108) 
 
 Report of the Divisional Director, Strategic Commissioning. 

 
9. HEALTHWATCH UPDATE REPORT   (Pages 109 - 116) 
 
 Report of the Divisional Director, Strategic Commissioning. 

 
10. HARROW'S LOCAL ACCOUNT 2013/14   (Pages 117 - 178) 
 
 Report of the Corporate Director of Community, Health and Wellbeing. 

 
11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS    
 
 Which the Chairman has decided is urgent and cannot otherwise be dealt with. 

 
 AGENDA - PART II - NIL 

 
 * DATA PROTECTION ACT NOTICE   
 The Council will audio record item 4 (Public Questions) and will place the audio recording on the 

Council’s website, which will be accessible to all. 
 
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 5 February 2015 - 24 - 

 
 
 

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 

SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE   

MINUTES 
 

5 FEBRUARY 2015 
 
 
Chair: * Councillor Mrs Rekha Shah 
   
Councillors: 
 

* Michael Borio 
* Niraj Dattani  
 

* Mrs Vina Mithani 
* Chris Mote 
 

Advisers:  * Julian Maw - Harrow Healthwatch 
 * Dr N Merali - Harrow Local Medical 

Committee 
   
   
* Denotes Member present 
 
 
 

1. Attendance by Reserve Members   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that there were no Reserve Members in attendance. 
 

2. Declarations of Interest   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that the following interests were declared: 
 
All Agenda Items 
Councillor Mrs Vina Mithani declared a non-pecuniary interest in that she was 
employed by Public Health England. She would remain in the room whilst all 
matters were considered and voted upon. 
 
All Agenda Items 
Councillor Chris Mote declared a non-pecuniary interest in that his daughter 
was employed at Northwick Park Hospital. He would remain in the room whilst 
all matters were considered and voted upon. 

Agenda Item 3
Pages 5 to 12

5



 

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 5 February 2015 - 25 - 

 
 
 

3. Minutes   
 
RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2014 be 
taken as read and signed as a correct record. 
 

4. Public Questions *, Petitions & References   
 
RESOLVED: To note that none were received. 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS   
 

5. Harrow and Barnet Public Health annual report   
 
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Director of Public Health which 
looked back over 50 years at a selection of topics which were public health 
issues fifty years ago and remained issues currently and contained proposals 
to address these. 
 
Following a brief overview of the report, an officer responded to the following 
questions from Members: 
 

• Obesity had a number of other conditions such as type 2 diabetes 
associated with it.  What strategy was in place to deal with the high 
levels of diabetes among residents in Harrow? 

 
There was an obesity strategy in place.  Local analysis had shown that 
Harrow had one of the highest rates of diabetes nationally, which was 
prevalent mainly among those residents of South Asian origin.  However, GPs 
provided excellent advice and services which were focussed on prevention. 
Harrow had the lowest complication rates for diabetes in the Country. 
 

• Had the take up rate for NHS Health Checks trialled by Barnet and 
Harrow improved and had these been sufficiently publicised to the 
residents of both boroughs? Harrow had the highest rate of TB in 
London.  What screening process was there for migrants who came to 
the UK who may be carriers? 

 
The take up rate for Health Checks in both boroughs had improved since 
2014.  Point of care testing equipment had been rolled out to local 
pharmacies, where only a single visit, (as opposed to two or three visits to a 
GP) was required.  These were also being offered at community venues. 
 
Health checks for TB were required under visa conditions for travellers 
coming to the UK from south Asian countries.  However, this would not 
eliminate those who had latent TB which could be exacerbated by a poor diet 
and living conditions and may be expressed at a later stage.  Public Health 
England was rolling out a latent TB test which was being trialled at the clinic in 
Wealdstone. 

6



 

- 26 -  Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 5 February 2015 

 

• What was the strategy in relation to smoking cessation and deterring 
young people from starting smoking in the first place.  Was there any 
evidence that e-cigarettes were less harmful than tobacco products? 

 
The evidence base for or against e-cigarettes was not sufficiently strong to 
provide a definitive answer.  Officers carried out test purchases of e-cigarettes 
and prosecuted any one found to be selling them to those under age.  The 
National Institute for Clinical Excellence had set up London-wide and 
nationwide initiatives to look into this and was working in partnership with ASH 
and the National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training (NCSCT). 
 

• Were home STI testing kits being promoted? 
 
The home testing kits were being promoted and were available for a number 
of different STI’s. Early HIV testing was being promoted at clinics. 
 

• Had the take up rates for the measles vaccination improved in Harrow? 
 
In recent years there had been a national decrease in the take up rates for the 
measles vaccination.  The take up rate in Harrow in percentage terms was in 
the low 90’s. There was a targeted programme to ensure improved take up. 
 

• What were the take up rates for the HPV vaccine and did the vaccine 
have any side effects? 

 
The side effects for the vaccine were not major and the take up rate in Harrow 
was 80%. 
 

• What was being done to ensure that GPs captured information from 
patients regarding their tobacco, shisha and e-cigarette smoking 
habits? What were the risks associated with shisha smoking? 

 
It was a fallacy that Shisha was not harmful.  There were a number of different 
ways shisha could be smoked and the level of risk would depend on the type 
of pipe and tobacco used as well as the heating method used.  She added 
that hospitals should be encouraged to routinely ask questions regarding 
smoking and provide cessation support if required.  Most smoking cessation 
information was delivered by Pharmacists, which reduced the pressure on 
GPs as the cessation programme lasted 5 weeks.  Harrow was working 
closely with CNWL in this area.   
 
Brent Council had recently undertaken an awareness raising campaign 
regarding the dangers of shisha smoking and Harrow would be looking to 
Brent for advice and support in designing its campaign.  Additionally, there 
were plans to inspect every venue in Harrow where Shisha was available to 
ensure the premises were aware of their legal obligations.  The university of 
Westminster campus would also be targeted. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 

7



 

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 5 February 2015 - 27 - 

6. NWLHT A&E / Winter pressures   
 
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Chief Nurse at London North 
West Healthcare NHS Trust (LNWHT) which provided an update on the 
Trust’s emergency pathway and the action it was undertaking to address the 
underperformance of the core A&E performance targets. 
 
Following a brief overview of the report by the Chief Operating Officer at 
LNWHT, he responded to the following questions from Members: 
 

• Had the recent introduction of a Golden Hour ward round helped to 
improve weekend discharges and reduce the length of stay or had 
this led to patients being discharged at odd hours, i.e. late at night? 

 
Patients were not discharged at odd hours.  The high rate of re-admissions at 
Northwick Park Hospital was average in comparison to other hospitals but this 
figure was rising.  High re-admission rates may be due to patients being 
discharged too early, patients’ difficult home circumstances and inadequate 
community based support.   
 

• Why were the current levels of A&E waiting times so high? 
 
This had been due to winter pressures i.e. illnesses such as flu outbreaks. 
However, the levels had not been as high as in previous years. 
 

• Had penalty clauses for delays in delivering the construction of the 
modular unit been written into the building contract? 

 
Penalty clauses had been written into the contract as there were inherent 
risks associated with working on such a complex site, however, he did not 
anticipate any major challenges which would lead to delays in completion by 
December 2015. 
 

• What was being done to ensure better signage for and access to the 
A&E unit? 

 
The estates service at Northwick Park was aware of the situation and was 
working to resolve it. 
 

• What measures were in place to ensure that those patients who were 
not eligible for free treatment were being charged accordingly? 

 
There was a well-developed income protection policy in place.  However, this 
would not apply to emergency care as it was the ethos of the NHS to provide 
emergency care to everyone. 
 

• What would be the net increase in bed capacity after the building works 
were completed at Northwick Park Hospital? 

 
There had been an increase of 40 beds in the current financial year and there 
would be 66 additional beds once the modular build was complete.  Although 

8



 

- 28 -  Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 5 February 2015 

this increase represented an increase in capacity that would bring the hospital 
on par with other A&E provision in London, it should be noted that demand at 
peak times would continue to exceed bed capacity, though this would occur 
with less frequency than previously. 
 

• Ealing hospital had recently extended the level of consultant cover at 
weekends.  Was there sufficient weekend consultant cover at 
Northwick Park Hospital? 

 
Yes, as it was the Trust’s policy that working arrangements and working 
conditions for staff at all three hospital sites should be the same.   
 

• The Capita report of May 2014 suggested that an additional 100 beds 
were needed at Northwick Park Hospital – would this be sufficient? 

 
The figures quoted in the report were a snapshot in time and this figure would 
increase as the local population continued to both increase and age.  The 
increase in bed capacity would bring the hospital in line with other UK 
hospitals, however, this was not a one-off fix.  Northwick Park continued to be 
in the top decile nationally for rates of occupancy and length of stay.  This was 
due in part to the rise in chronic cases and increased number of acute beds. 
There were additional challenges in terms of community bed capacity and 
community services to support patients after they had been discharged.  
 

• Had there been any cases where the discharge of patients had been 
delayed because care packages were not in place? 

 
The number of delayed transfer of care cases had reduced during the winter, 
but here was room for improvement. The hospitals’ merger and the creation of 
a Community Services Director had helped to mitigate against this. 
 

• Was the current workforce adequate and why did the Trust need to 
employ more consultants? 

 
The increase in bed capacity meant that additional consultants had to be 
deployed.  This was an area of challenge nationally and there were difficulties 
in recruiting and retaining Emergency consultants.  There were plans to 
recruit more sub-consultants. 
 

• An adviser stated that GPs had the capacity to reduce hospital 
workloads and noted that although the number of attendances had not 
increased, the number of admissions had. Good risk assessment and 
management by senior consultants would lead to fewer admissions 
and earlier discharges would reduce the pressure on beds.  He asked 
how many patients were currently waiting to be discharged pending a 
care package being implemented. 

 
This figure was 10%, however, 10% of 600 beds was a high figure.  In such 
cases patients were delayed awaiting care packages or support from social 
services and/or family members as well as due to logistical issues. 

9



 

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 5 February 2015 - 29 - 

The Rapid Access and Treatment (Ratting) policy was designed to alleviate 
these pressures by helping identify those individuals who were medically fit for 
discharge.  
 

• Had the Trust considered providing GP cover at Hospitals as a means 
of relieving pressure on A&E or looked at alternative models of 
provision, for example, opening 7-days a week between 8.00 am to 
8.00 pm, allowing GPs to accompany consultants on ward rounds?  

 
Northwick Park received around 500 patients per day. Half of these were 
urgent care cases. It was not a question of the volume of individuals who 
visited the hospital but related more to the number of medical admissions and 
how to ensure fewer repeat admissions. 
 

• An adviser stated that the number of referrals by GPs to A&E had 
increased despite recent efforts to reduce them.  Community units, for 
example, the Denham unit and contracts with other social care 
providers should also be considered as step-down units.  

 
There was a campaign to ensure that the Alexandra Clinic remained open  
7-days a week.  The Trust was considering all of the measures mentioned 
above. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
 
 

7. CQC inspection of CNWL Mental Health and Community Services   
 
At its meeting of 24 November 2014, the Sub-Committee Members had 
indicated a desire to submit evidence and comments from the Sub-Committee 
to be fed back to the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in relation to its 
inspection of the CNWL planned for 23 February 2015. 
 
An adviser from Harrow Healthwatch stated that Harrow Healthwatch had 
already forwarded comments to the CQC, which would inform the work of the 
inspectors.  Patients’ groups and user groups had also fed back to the CQC 
regarding improvements they would like to see made to local services. 
 
In view of the above, the Sub-Committee decided not to send any additional 
comments to the CQC and requested that a copy of the inspectors findings 
and any subsequent compliance action plan be forwarded to Sub-Committee 
Members as soon as they were available. 
 
RESOLVED: That the CQC be requested to forward a copy of the inspector’s 
findings and any subsequent compliance action plan to Sub-Committee 
Members as soon as they were available. 
 
 
 
(Note:  The meeting, having commenced at 7.30 pm, closed at 9.10 pm). 
 

10



 

- 30 -  Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 5 February 2015 

 
 
 
 
(Signed) COUNCILLOR MRS REKHA SHAH 
Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11



12

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Trust Headquarters: Stephenson House, Hampstead Road, London  NW1 2PL 
Telephone: 020 3214 5700  Fax: 020 3214 5701  www.cnwl.nhs.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

2nd April 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Colleagues, 

 

Re. Consultation with Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSC) on CNWL DRAFT Quality Account 2014-

15  

 

Firstly, we would like to take this opportunity to thank those that have contributed and helped us shape 

our draft Quality Account this year. 

 

Please find attached to this letter CNWL’s draft Quality Account 2014-15 for 30-day consultation.  

 

As you will be aware, all NHS providers have had a legal duty to publish an annual Quality Account since 

June 2010, and are required to publish the draft version for a 30-day formal consultation to various groups, 

including OSCs, commissioners and local Healthwatch.  

 

This marks the start of that consultation, which runs from Thurs, 2 April – Wed, 6 May 2015. 

 

This year we are offering an earlier initial date of Fri, 24 April by which you can submit your initial 

statement, enabling us to respond and update/improve the document based on your feedback; and re-

submit to you by Thurs, 30 April 2015. Your final statement is then due as planned on Wed, 6 May 2015. 

 

OSCs have a role in the external assurance of Quality Accounts through formal consultation. We have 

included in this letter (embedded below) guidance for OSCs published by the Department of Health in 2010 

which sets out what your role is in assuring our Quality Account.  

 

Roles of 
Commissioning PCTs 140110.pdf

 
 

We welcome and encourage your feedback on our draft Quality Account 2014-15.  

 

There are some points to note when reviewing this document: 

 

� In Part 1, KPMG, our external auditors, still need to publish their statement of assurance based on 

audit findings (due in May 2015) 

� The document has set sections and requirements as laid out by the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual 2014-15, and the format and page numbers will all change once formatted and 

incorporated into the Trust’s full annual report 

� We have published quarter 4 or year-end data, but in some few cases this data was not available at 

the time of the start of this consultation (so month 11 or quarter 3 is used), and will be updated in 

the final version; these are not expected to greatly change the current data positions reported 

Quality Directorate 

Stephenson House 

Hampstead Road 

London 

NW1 2PL 

Tel: 020 3214 5700 

Fax: 020 3214 5892 

Agenda Item 7
Pages 13 to 102

13



 
 

Trust Headquarters: Stephenson House, Hampstead Road, London  NW1 2PL 
Telephone: 020 3214 5700  Fax: 020 3214 5701  www.cnwl.nhs.uk 

� Borough and specialist service pages have been included highlighting patient/carer feedback, 

achievements and challenges; as well as borough breakdown of data for our current and historic 

Quality Priorities, and other performance indicators (e.g. Monitor targets) 

� An EASYREAD version of the Quality Account will be produced once the final Quality Account has 

been signed off in May 2015, and published on NHS Choices in June 2015. 

 

Your Statement 

 

Please note: 

• Your statement has a word limit of 1000 words as set out in the NHS (Quality Accounts) 

Amendment Regulations 2011.  

• It will be published verbatim at the back of the Quality Account. Therefore, please do not refer to 

specific page or section numbers as these will change when the document is incorporated into our 

annual report and will no longer make sense 

• For your statement, consider the following prompts (as per the guidance): 

� Do the priorities of the provider reflect the priorities of the local population; 

� Does the Quality Account provide a balanced report on quality of services; 

� Are there any important issues missed in the Quality Account;  

� Has the provider demonstrated they have involved patients and the public in the production of 

the Quality Account; and  

� Is the Quality Account clearly presented for patients and the public?  

 

As mentioned, to allow for response and amendments based on your initial statement, please respond by 

Fri, 24 April 2015.  

 

Your final statement will be needed by Wed, 6 May 2015 

 

Submission to: matt.malherbe@nhs.net 

 

Many thanks for your continued support and active engagement with us in the development of this year’s 

Quality Account. Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any queries that we can help with on the 

following email address: ela.pathak-sen@nhs.net. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Ela Pathak-Sen 

Associate Director for Quality & Service Improvement 

 

Distributed to: 

rnshah@harrow.gov.uk 

Michael.borio@harrow.gov.uk 

Elizabeth.richardson@milton-keynes.gov.uk 

Henry.bewley@rbkc.gov.uk 

gareth.ebenezer@rbkc.gov.uk 

harley.collins@islington.gov.uk 

hannah.hutter@camden.gov.uk 

jriley@hillingdon.gov.uk 

nohalloran@hillingdon.gov.uk 

mewbank@westminster.gov.uk 

barzymanow@westminster.gov.uk  

toby.howes@brent.gov.uk  

cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk  

14



 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Draft Quality Account 

2014-15 

 
v.3.0.1 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15



 

1 
 

 

     Glossary of terms 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents 
 

Part 1 – Chief Executive Statement 2 

Independent Auditor’s report to Council of Governors of 

Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust on the 

annual Quality Report 

4 

  

Part 2 – Priorities for improvement  

‘Quality Account 2014-15 on a page’ summary 

2.1. A review of our performance in 2014-15 against last year’s 

Quality Priorities 

2.1.1. Summary of performance against our Quality Priorities 

2.1.2. The detail of performance against our Quality Priorities 

2.2. A borough and specialist service focus 

5 

6 

 

7 

9 

21 

2.3. Our Quality Account Priorities for 2014-15 

2.3.1. Monitoring and sharing how we perform 

42 

44 

2.4. Statements relating to quality of NHS services provided 47 

  

Part 3 – Other information  

3.1. Our performance against national priorities and Quality 

Priorities – current and historic 

56 

3.2. Borough and specialist service breakdown – performance 

against national priorities and historical Quality Priorities 

69 

3.3. Other indicators of quality 74 

 

Annex 1 – Glossary of terms 83 

Annex 2 – Statements provided by our commissioners, 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Healthwatch, and 

CNWL’s response 

85 

Annex 3 – Statement of directors responsibilities 86 

  

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CMHT Community mental health team 

CNWL 
Central and North West London NHS 

Foundation Trust 

CPA Care Programme Approach 

ASIP Accelerated Service Improvement Plan 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

ED Eating Disorder services 

FFT Friends and family test 

GP General Practitioner 

HMYOI Her Majesty’s Young Offender Institution 

HTT Home Treatment Team 

LD Learning Disability services 

MDT Multi-disciplinary team 

NHS National Health Service 

NICE 
National Institute for Health and Care 

Excellence 

OSC Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

PALS Patient Advice and Liaison Service 

POMH Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health 

Q3/Q4 Quarter 3 / Quarter 4 

UAL Urgent Advice Line 

UCLH 
University College London Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust 

YTD Year to date 

16



 
 

2 
 

Part 1 – Chief Executive’s Statement 
This is Central and North West London’s (CNWL) Quality Account for 

2014-15. 

 

The Quality Account tells you how we have performed against the quality 

priorities that we set through consultation last year, and what we are 

going to focus on in this new financial year.  

 

We know that quality is ‘bigger’ than a series of measures that we report 

against: it’s about every single encounter patients and carers have with 

our services. That is why we continue to use patient, carer and staff 

reported measures and commitments as we firmly believe that these are 

the best indicators of quality.   

 

As with previous years, 2014-15 has presented its own challenges and 

change for our Trust.  

 

This year we saw  Monitor investigate our governance systems giving us a 

‘clean bill of health’; we’ve seen the start of changes to our IT and IT 

support systems, major organisational restructuring at all levels, and our 

planned CQC inspection with 115 CQC inspectors ready to inspect across 

over 55 inpatient wards and 240 community teams.  All of this, as would 

be expected, resulted in an amount of stress or anxiety on our staff.  

 

I am pleased, however, to report that we pulled together through each 

challenge – never before has an organisation of our size and diversity felt 

so small. The first piece of verbal CQC feedback after our inspection in 

February was about our staff; that we are open, welcoming, and should 

be proud of teams. Indeed, this makes me immensely proud. This just 

reaffirms that we are committed, motivated, and overall engaged.  

 

This was further supported when our national Staff Survey results were 

published: CNWL was placed 8
th

 out of 57 similar Trusts for staff 

engagement, based on the ‘2015 League Table on Staff Engagement’ (by 

Listening into Action). Staff engagement has been the key ingredient to 

helping us meet the range of challenges we have faced this year. 

 

While our full CQC inspection feedback will only be available in June 2015, 

we had already begun work on our action plans where we know 

challenges exist. These include bed pressures particularly in mental 

health, waiting times for some of our services, access to CAMHS specialist 

beds, better complaints management systems and the sharing and 

implementation of local learning from when things go well as well as 

when things go wrong. And everywhere we know we need to increase the 

pace of change when these issues are identified. 

 

This year has seen review and restructure of our corporate services, and a 

fundamental service design shift from service lines to borough and 

specialist service-based divisions. Our divisions went live in December 

2015. This means better accountability and better, closer local 

relationships with our local public, commissioners, local authorities, 

Healthwatch and other local health partners. The ultimate aim is a more 

integrated patient care pathway, the ability to fix and resolve local 

problems locally and better care for local patients, their families and 

carers.  

 

Our new management structures reflect our focus on learning: our 

Divisional structures help us ensure that local lessons are learnt not just 

within teams but across the division and our new clinical networks 

support learning and development of best practice across the trust. 

 

Central to improving the quality of our services is gathering feedback 

from our patients, carers and staff and responding to it. During 2014-15 

we expanded the way we do this, from the launch of our on-line patient 

survey (Friends and Family Test), to the roll-out of staff listening events, 

carer focus groups and the work of the Carer’s Council.  

 

17



 
 

3 
 

I am pleased to report that this year we have achieved 83% of our priority 

objectives, an improvement on last year (64%). Our Quality Priority areas 

were: 

• Helping our patients to recover by involving them in decisions 

about their care 

• Supporting carers to look after their loved ones 

• Competent and compassionate workforce 

 

Our Quality Account highlights 

• At year end, 95% of 11,010 patients told us that they would be 

‘likely’ or ‘extremely likely’ to recommend CNWL services to their 

family or friends 

• At year end, 98% of 9,393 patients reported that they were 

treated with dignity and respect 

• We have achieved our target – overall and in mental health - in 

patients reporting they felt ‘definitely’ involved in their care and 

treatment  

• A year-on-year upward trajectory was seen in: 

o Patients reporting they felt safe during their most recent 

inpatient stay,  

o Community patients reporting they have a number to call 

out of hours/in crisis 

o Community patients reporting they were offered/given a 

copy of their care plan 

 

Our areas for improvement 

• Staff with in-date appraisals which have been logged on our 

monitoring system 

• We record inpatients’ risk assessments have been completed and 

reflected in their care plans 

• Continued focus on the recording of whether our patients have or 

don’t have a carer involved in their care or treatment 

 

Next year 

During January to March we had a very busy stakeholder and 

engagement programme in the developing of our Quality Priorities for 

2015-16. Our individual stakeholder events culminated in our annual ‘all 

stakeholder’ consultation event on 5 March 2015. Chaired by our Trust 

Chair, Prof. Dot Griffiths, over 60 people attended, and we had 

representation from patients, carers, staff, Council of Governors, 

commissioners, Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Healthwatch. The 

three key areas for quality priorities we consulted on were:  

• Helping our patients to recover by involving them in their care or 

treatment with the support of carers 

• Strengthening our learning culture  

• Integrated physical and mental healthcare 

 

After debate and feedback, it was strongly felt that the essence of each of 

these was imperative, interdependent and that a combination of these 

should be taken forward under the overarching heading of “Effective 

Care and Treatment Planning”. On page 42 in the detail of the Quality 

Account we show how we are going to measure and monitor progress in 

this area.  

 

I wholeheartedly support this - it underpins the patient-carer-staff 

relationship which is precisely where we know care quality exists.  

 

We thank all those who took part, contributed and helped shape our 

quality improvement agenda for 2015-16. Your views are invaluable. 

 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Quality Account is true and 

accurate. It will be audited by KPMG in accordance with Monitor’s 

guidelines. 

 

Claire Murdoch RMN 

Chief Executive  

  

18



 
 

4 
 

Independent Auditor’s report to Council of Governors of Central 

and North West London NHS Foundation Trust on the annual 

Quality Report 

 

 

[KPMG to provide in May 2015] 

 

 

KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 

KPMG LLP 

15 Canada Square 

London 

E14 5GL 

 

May 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

19



 
 

5 
 

PART 2 – Priorities for improvement 
‘Quality Account 2014-15 on a page’ summary 

Achievement of current Quality Priorities 2014-15 

We achieved 10 out of our 12 (83%) Quality Priority measures from 2014-

15. This is an improvement on last year where we achieved 64%.  

 

The results are shown in the diagram below. For more details see Section 

2.1 and borough tables in Part 3. 

1. Involvement in 

care and treatment 
2. Supporting carers 3. Competent and 

compassionate 

workforce 

Continued roll-out of the 

Improving Involvement 

Project 

Thematic review/action 

re carers feeling 

supported by CNWL and 

know how to access 

services 

Improve screening in the 

recruitment process  

Patients report feeling 

definitely involved in 

their care or treatment 

To provide carers with 

service contact cards and 

leaflets on local 

information, services and 

contacts 

Implement a programme 

of staff listening events  

Patients report how well 

their lead professional 

organised their 

care/services needed 

 Publishing our staffing 

levels on our inpatient 

wards  

To undertake a review of 

our care and treatment 

planning 

 Staff reporting they 

would recommend CNWL 

services 

  Patients report feeling 

treated with dignity and 

respect     

  Staff have had their 

annual appraisal 

Development  of our Quality Priorities 2015-16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

The start: The starting point in developing our Quality Priorities. We 

considered: 

• Performance against current indicators and targets 

• Our organisational learning themes (themes from analysis of 

complaints, incidents, audits and other sources) 

• Feedback from our patients, carers and staff 

• Feedback from internal and external reviews of compliance, for 

example by the Care Quality Commission 

• Our annual plan priorities  

The consultation: The above information formed the basis for our 

consultations with our internal and external stakeholders - for their 

consideration and feedback on what they think the Quality Priorities should 

focus on. We held individual events and a main group event with the 

following stakeholders:  

• Patient, carer and staff representatives 

• CNWL Council of Governors 

• Healthwatch 

• Commissioners 

• Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

The Quality Account was also submitted to key stakeholders for a 30-day 

consultation, and their formal feedback is included (see page xx) 

Our Quality Priorities 2015-16: Based on the themes from our consultations, 

and Board agreement, the priority of ‘Effective Care and Treatment Planning’ 

was decided upon. This is to be measured by the following three Quality 

Priority indicators for the coming year: 

• Patients report feeling definitely involved as much as they wanted 

to be in decisions about their care or treatment 

• Patients report their care or treatment plan helped them achieve 

their personal health or daily living goals 

• Carers report that they felt appropriate  involved in the care or 

treatment planning for their loved one  

20



 
 

6 
 

2.1. A review of our performance in 2014-15 against our Quality 

Priorities 

 

We are committed to delivering high quality healthcare services. 

This means services which are safe, effective, and personalised – 

where involvement of the individual is key, as well as the support of 

their carer or loved one. This is achieved through:  

• Listening to and partnering with our patients, carers, staff, 

governors, commissioners and communities  

• Ensuring our practice is evidence based, closely monitoring 

our performance, and implementing innovation and change  

• Learning and sharing lessons to continuously improve our 

services, and 

• Strong leadership and the support of our most valuable 

asset, our staff 

 

We believe that the quality of our services is decided by those who 

use them and our staff who deliver them. For this reason we closely 

monitor the extent to which both our patients and staff would 

recommend CNWL services to family or friends if they needed 

treatment, and why the majority of our Quality Priorities are always 

patient, carer or staff reported measures.  

 

‘Friends and Family Test’ 

 

In October 2014 we launched our on-line patient survey based on 

the ‘Friends and Family Test’; allowing for feedback to be given 24 

hours a day from all of our services. This is accessed via the front 

page of the Trust’s website, and is advertised in all our services by 

posters, feedback flyers and feedback business cards. Also available 

are prepaid postage feedback post cards for those who do not have 

internet access. We also collected this information via telephone 

surveys and paper-based questionnaires. 

 

Overall, we are pleased to report that at year end, 95% of 11,010 

patients told us that they would be likely or extremely likely to 

recommend CNWL services (target 90%). 

  

We analysed the main reason patients reported for their response, 

whether positive or negative. The following are the key themes 

which describe what our patients value most: 

• Our staff, and their relationship with them: staff who 

listen, are compassionate, friendly, supportive, competent 

and accessible 

• Personalised care 

• Information received, from an explanation of services and 

choices available, to possible side effects and what to 

expect during the care or treatment 

• Short as possible waiting times and service efficiency 

 

These comments have informed our Quality Priorities for next year, 

and are addressed in our local action plans.  

 

In this section we demonstrate how we performed against our 

Quality Priorities for 2014-15, what we plan to focus on for next 

year, and our statements relating to the quality of our services. For 

example, what national audits we took part in.  

 

We also include borough and specialist service specific information 

which highlight their key achievements and challenges from 2014-

15.   

 

21



 
 

7 
 

Our posters and feedback flyers available across all our services 

encouraging patient and carer feedback: 

 

 
 

 

2.1.1. Summary of performance against our Quality Priorities 

2014-15 

 

Last year, we set three Quality Priorities which were determined 

through our organisational learning themes and wide consultation 

with our stakeholders.  

 

CNWL’s three Quality Account Priorities for 2014-15, were: 

• Helping our patients to recover by involving them in their 

care or treatment 

• Supporting carers to look after their loved ones 

• A competent and compassionate workforce 

 

To measure and monitor our achievement in these areas we set 12 

objectives. Six of these were commitments or projects we planned to 

carry out, while the other six were targets we aimed to achieve. 

Almost all of our targets were based on patient, carer or staff 

feedback from surveys or focus groups.  

 

Our performance against our Quality Priorities was monitored by the 

Quality and Performance Committee, and overseen by the Board of 

Directors. These were in turn a key focus for our Divisions to monitor 

performance, and design and implement improvement programmes 

where required.  

 

We also reported our performance externally. Throughout the year 

our Borough Directors met with our Healthwatch either locally or at 

central quarterly meetings. The aim was to facilitate open dialogue; 

to discuss quality of services, share monitoring information and 

feedback key messages. We also reported to our commissioners 

through the Clinical Quality Group. 

22



 
 

8 
 

Overall achievement: Quality Priorities 2014-15 

 

This year we achieved 10 of our 12 Quality Priority objectives, 

representing 83%, as displayed below:  

 
 

The detail of these objectives and actions taken are described in 

the following section. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Some useful pointers when reading this document 
 

• In presenting performance against our Quality Priorities, bar 

charts are either presented as quarter-on-quarter, where it is a 

new measure with no previous year’s data for comparison; or 

year-on-year where the measure has been collected in previous 

years. 

• Depending on the methodology used to collect the data against 

each indicator, our year-end reporting figures are either ‘at 

quarter four’ (Q4) or ‘year to date’ (YTD). In some cases, where 

responses from patient surveys was relatively low, we have 

aggregated our performance across the four quarters to produce 

a more meaningful year to date result. This will be made clear 

throughout the Quality Account. 

• Measures are presented by borough and specialist services in 

Section 3.2. 

• To demonstrate a well-rounded view of the quality of CNWL 

services, we have included a number of other indicators of 

quality which are detailed in Part 3. These include historic 

Quality Priority indicators, performance in national staff and 

patient surveys, and details of complaints and equalities and 

diversity developments during 2014-15. 

 

 

 

 

 
  

10 (83%)

2 (17%)

Objective met

Objective unmet

23



 
 

9 
 

2.1.2. Detail of performance against our Quality Priorities 2014-15 

 

The following sections describe our performance achieved for each 

of our three Quality Priorities and the 12 supporting objectives.  

 
• Helping our patients to recover by involving them in 

decisions about their care 
 
This priority builds on our focus from previous years to embed a 

culture of inclusivity, co-production and personalisation throughout 

the organisation and our services. Evidence tells us that to achieve 

recovery and wellbeing patients’ must be actively involved and 

participate in shaping a personalised care or treatment plan 

tailored specifically to their needs.  

 

This approach ensures patients understand what their care or 

treatment includes, what the alternative options are, possible side-

effects, where to get help if things go wrong; and encourages 

empowerment and ownership of their journey to wellness.  

 

Objective 1: Continued roll-out of the Improving Involvement 

Project in our mental health services 

 

A Trust-wide project, known as the Improving Involvement Project, 

was initiated during 2013-14. The aim was to identify, with patient, 

clinician and operational staff representatives, key goals to create a 

culture of partnership, patient empowerment and co-production. 

 

Since the start of the project various initiatives have been achieved 

– in our London mental health services, and now successfully rolled 

out to our Milton Keynes services too. Such as:  

• The Trust’s Operations Board and Board of Directors 

meetings now begin with a patient story – which sets the 

tone and focus of the meeting, and facilitates shared 

learning. This models the theme of involvement and 

patient/carer focus for our divisions, team and supervision 

level discussions. 

• The launch of the Trust’s Service User and Carer Strategy, 

and establishment of the Trust-wide Service User 

Involvement Board. 

• Co-produced care plan folders, leaflets setting out the 

Trust’s commitments to service users and awareness-raising 

‘Do you have your care plan’ posters were successfully 

rolled out to all mental health services; to encourage and 

empower patients to take ownership and control of their 

care journey. 

• Training reception staff to welcome and prompt patients 

about their care plans, and offer care plan folders if they 

would like one. 

• Encouraging patients, where appropriate, to chair their own 

care plan review meetings with the support of clinicians in 

our community recovery teams. 

• The development of ward specific patient welcome and 

information pamphlets detailing ward services, activities, 

meal times, and key support contacts, like advisory services 

or how to make a complaint or compliment.  

• Setting up of a 24-hour patient feedback mechanism via our 

Trust website, where patients can feedback their 

experiences, and allow us to make improvements. 

• The development of Recovery College courses such as 

‘Citizenship and co-production’, ‘Peer working and co-

production in practice’, ‘Co-production at a clinical level’. 

24



 
 

10 
 

 

To understand and monitor the impact of these, various mental 

health ‘process’ and ‘patient reported’ indicators were monitored. 

These showed largely positive results and are reported in detail in 

Section 3. For example: 

• 90% of patient notes audited had at least one personal 

recovery goal as part of their care plan (Q4 last year 81%) 

• 73% of patient notes audited had their carer status 

recorded (Q4 last year 68%) 

• 74% of patients reported that they had been offered or 

given a copy of their care plan (Q4 last year 63%) 

• 90% of patients reported feeling involved in their care and 

treatment (definitely and to some extent, Q4 last year 90%)   

• 92% of community patients who report that their care 

coordinator or lead professional had organised the care and 

services they needed well (a new measure this year) 

 

The Improving Involvement Project will continue next year and will 

make closer links with CNWL’s Carers Council. Future progress will 

be reported as part of our Quality Priority next year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Objective 2: Community patients who tell us they were definitely 

involved as much as they wanted to be in decisions about their 

care or treatment  

 
Measuring how involved patients felt in their care or treatment 

planning was a Quality Priority this year; and a roll-forward from 

the previous three years.  

 

This measure was applied to the majority of our services, from 

sexual health services and addictions to mental health and 

community health services. Data was collected in a variety of ways 

to best suit the service; for example, patient-to-patient telephone 

surveys, quick feedback cards and questionnaires. Over the year, 

9,376 patients responded to this question, with 2,402 being in 

quarter four. 
 

We have shown year-on-year improvement in this area, as we have 

put in place many initiatives to address ‘involvement’ as mentioned 

in Objective 1, to adjust the culture towards one of partnership, co-

production and ‘no decisions about me without me’. Our progress 

has stabilised between 2013-14 and 2014-15. 

 

At quarter four, 81% Trust-wide reported that they were ‘definitely’ 

involved in their care or treatment, and 68% for our mental health 

services. This separate result has been included so historic 

comparisons can be made, as well as benchmarked nationally, as 

the national figure is based on a mental healthy only patient 

survey.  

 

We are pleased that both the Trust-wide and mental health result 

achieved the target and beat the national average for this measure.  

25



 
 

11 
 

 
^Source: Quality Health Ltd 2014 NHS community mental health service user survey 

* Data represents mental health and specialty services only 

 

When we consider those who reported being involved ‘definitely’ 

and ‘to some extent’, we achieved 97% (and 90% in mental health). 

 

However, we are not complacent: To ensure this level of 

performance is improved and a culture of inclusion and partnership 

is fully embedded into practice we will be rolling this priority 

forward next year with an increased target of 75%.  

 

Objective 3: How well does your care co-ordinator or lead 

professional organise the care or services you need? 

 

During our consultation last year we heard from our carer groups 

that whilst involvement is important, patient satisfaction with the 

implementation of the care and treatment plan is also a critical part 

of care quality. So we included this new measure, and a baseline 

target was set at quarter one. We asked patients ‘how well their 

care co-ordinator or lead professional organised the care and 

services they needed’ to understand patient satisfaction with care 

delivery. This is also a National Patient Survey question which 

allows for national benchmarking.  

 

The graph below describes our quarter on quarter performance, 

and the national average for comparison. 

 

 
^Source: Quality Health Ltd 2014 NHS community mental health service user survey 

 
We achieved our target throughout the year and showed steady 

increase in performance quarter on quarter. Each quarter action 

plans were put in place in local services where the target was 

missed. In quarter four we achieved 92%, on par with the national 

*41% *57% *71% *68% 43%

82% 81%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 National^

Target 65%

79% 88% 91% 92% 92%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 National^

Target 75%

26



 
 

12 
 

average. This was based on 545 responses, with a total of 1,984 

patients responding to this question over the year. 

 

We will no longer be assessing our performance against this 

indicator going forward; instead, as part of our Quality Priorities for 

next year we will be shifting focus, asking patients about their care 

or treatment plan’s ‘effectiveness’. This is explained further in 

Section 2.2.  

 

Objective 4: To undertake a review of care and treatment 

planning across the Trust 

 
The aim of this commitment was to review our care and treatment 

planning  processes across the Trust. 

 

CNWL has grown over recent years, and so inherited different care 

or treatment planning protocols and requirements, as well as 

patient information systems, like RiO or JADE, which support them.   

 

While each has its strengths and challenges, consistent feedback 

from our staff has been that it needs to be simplified, removing 

unnecessary bureaucracy, to allow for more time for hands on 

clinical care of patients and carers.  

 

In scoping this project earlier this year we quickly realised that 

completion within 12 months was short-sighted: the project is 

multifaceted, including processes, systems and different treatment 

requirements. Getting this vital, underpinning aspect of care 

provision right takes consultation, requirement scoping, system and 

process review, re-design, implementation, training and funding.  

  

So, while we cannot confirm this commitment as complete, it is 

certainly underway: This year CNWL instigated the “More Time for 

Care” project. Its aim is to review, streamline and standardise IT 

systems and process to better support care delivery. This included a 

review and consultation of a number of patient information 

systems to assess which would best suite requirements. In January 

2015 the Board agreed on SystmOne, one of the accredited systems 

in the government's programme of modernising IT in the NHS. Next 

steps include configuration, implementation and training.  

This new system will support our care and treatment planning 

processes which are to be reviewed concurrently over the next two 

years using the Trust’s Accelorated Service Improvement 

Programme (ASIP) methodology (explained further on page 46). 

Progress will be reported by exception in future Quality Accounts. 

  27



 
 

13 
 

• Supporting carers to look after their loved ones 
                                                                                                 

Objective 5: A thematic review of carer feedback based on their 

experience of support and information received, to inform 

improvement action 

 

This year we engaged with and gained feedback from our carers in a 

multiple of ways:  

• We held bi-annual focus groups across our London boroughs for 

carers supporting someone accessing our adult or older adult 

mental health services, or learning disability services. Adult 

mental health services in Milton Keynes continued to run carer 

involvement groups with outcomes being taken forward in local 

service development. 

• Community Services in Hillingdon and Camden continued to 

conduct telephone surveys of carers to gather information about 

their experience of services.  

• Quarterly carer interface meetings for Kensington and Chelsea 

and Westminster were held, involving carers, staff 

representatives from community and acute teams, together with 

our partners providing support to carers: Carers Network and 

Kensington & Chelsea Carers. 

• Our Carer’s Council, which consists of carer representatives and 

Trust leads, was held quarterly. This group continued to have an 

overview of carer developments within the Trust, and will be 

setting priorities for 2015-16 at the April meeting, taking into 

account current quality priorities and any relevant feedback from 

the recent CQC visits. Group membership will also be expanding 

to include more representation from our community health 

services. 

 

Based on feedback, below is a summary of the key actions taken this year 

to improve the experience and support of carers:  

Carer identification: The first step is to be able to identify our carers. 

Together with our Information Team, we have developed our patient 

information systems to better capture and report on carer information, 

such as carer identification and the support and services provided. 

Reporting is done in conjunction with our borough business managers, 

who have been responsible for putting in place action where results need 

improvement.  

 

Carer Training and Peer Support: Carers told us they wanted support and 

information through training – to better equip themselves and gain the 

support benefits from networking with fellow carers and peer support 

workers. Our Recovery and Wellbeing College is open to all carers, and 

willing carers have undertaken train-the-trainer training and co-facilitate 

courses which are available to staff, patients and carers.  

 

Available courses can be found in the Recovery and Wellbeing College 

prospectus, and include courses such as ‘The last time we spoke – A 

Carer’s Story’ and ‘A two hour sessions for carers, friends and family’, 

‘Introduction to managing stress’, ‘Living with diabetes’, ‘Understanding 

dementia’, ‘Go smoke free’, and many others. Work continues with the 

Peer Development Steering Group to ensure greater carer involvement in 

training. 

 

Carer Film: Together with carers, we wanted to raise the ‘carer profile’ 

among our staff and services, as partners in the care and wellbeing of our 

patients. We co-produced a carer film ‘The last time we spoke: A carer’s 

story’. The film is a combination of carer stories about supporting a family 

member with a mental health illness. As part of our commitment to 

improve practice in this way, this emotive and powerful film has become 

crucial in providing high standard of training for our staff and others. 

 

The Care Film was shown at the national and multi-professions 

‘Implementing a Compassionate Framework for Everyday Care’ 

conference in Leeds this year. This was attended by a carer, member of 

28



 
 

14 
 

staff and the film producer (see photo below). The film was shown at one 

of the conference workshops and received very positive feedback.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
From left: Murray Wallace (PatientStories.org), Chris Butler (CEO Leeds and York 

Partership NHS Foundation Trust), Ann Smith (Carer, Hillingdon),  

Amynta Cardwell (Consultant Organisational Learning and Development, CNWL) 

 

Carer information and access to services: Our aim was to provide carers 

with information that was local and provided them with the right support 

and access to the services they need. This is explained further in Objective 

6 below. 

 

Objective 6: To provide carers and patients with local information 

on services available, through leaflets and contact card distribution 

 

We are pleased to report that we have achieved this objective.  

 

Carer Contact Cards and information leaflets have been co-developed 

with carers and include the use of our patient art work.  

 

Cards have been printed and distributed with borough specific local 

information, for example, local carer organisations, medicines advice line, 

out-of-hours Urgent Advice Line, their loved one’s key worker details and 

a central point of contact. These cards will be reviewed on an annual 

basis. There are now developments to produce similar cards for CAMHS 

specific services and other community services.  

 

While objective 5 and 6 will not be reported on next year, carer 

involvement and support is rolled forward as one of our Quality Priorities 

for 2015-16, and so progress and the continued work of the Carers 

Council will be reported.  

Examples of our Carer Contact Cards: 

 

29



 
 

15 
 

 

We have also co-produced carer information leaflets, and  

ward-based patient information leaflets; to welcome,  

help induct and orientate our patients who get admitted 

to our inpatient settings. These leaflets provide patients  

with details of ward based activities, meal times, visiting 

times, advocacy services, how to make a complaint or  

compliment, and much more.  

 

Below are examples of some of our carer and patient 

information leaflets which have been distributed: 

 

  

30



 
 

16 
 

• Competent and compassionate workforce 

 

The quality of care we deliver is reliant upon a competent and 

compassionate workforce. By competent we mean has the 

knowledge, skill and training to carry out the role safely and 

effectively; and by compassionate we mean a workforce whose 

behaviour reflects all our Trust’s values: Compassion, Respect, 

Empowerment and Partnership. And above all, that there is the 

leadership, modelling and staff engagement to ensure this is 

achieved.  

 

Evidence states that staff who are well led, supported, listened to, 

and receive regular feedback are better engaged, motivated and 

provide better quality care. 

 

Although this was a new Quality Priority for this year, a competent 

and compassionate workforce is very closely monitored by our 

Executive Board at all times. This includes many other indicators in 

addition to the six Quality Priority objectives reported here (See 

‘Staff experience’ in Part 3): 

 

Objective 7: Improve the efficiency in the recruitment process 

through development of an online assessment screening tool 

 

This year we worked with an Occupational Psychologist to develop 

a values framework, which could be used by managers to 

undertake values based recruitment. This is so that we make sure 

we recruit not only competent staff, but staff that are 

compassionate and who reflect the Trust’s values.  

 

The framework was co-developed - through focus groups of staff 

and patients across the Trust. The final draft has now been 

published. Our initial aim was to make this an on-line screening 

tool, however, after careful consideration and advice from the 

Occupational Psychologist, the tool will be used via interviews.  

 

The training of managers on values based recruitment techniques 

will shortly commence to support the roll-out and implementation 

of this new recruitment approach. As this initiative will now form 

part of business as usual, this will not be reported next year. 

 

Objective 8: Development of a programme of staff listening 

events, to facilitate open dialogue between management and 

front-line staff for sharing messages and action planning 

 

Not only do we need a workforce which is ‘competent and 

compassionate’, but also one which is engaged and satisfied.  

 

Part of our strategy to achieving this was to open channels of 

communication between management and front-line staff; to gain 

feedback, share views and lessons learned, and provide support 

where it is needed. 

 

This became particularly useful in briefing staff at all levels about 

our Care Quality Commission inspection (February 2015), in terms 

of what to expect, provide reassurance, question and answer 

sessions and sign-post where to get support. 

 

The following provide examples of how we not only opened 

channels of communication between colleagues at all levels, but 

also cross-team/service and division: 

31



 
 

17 
 

• “Talking Trust”, the Chief Executive’s fortnightly blog where 

staff hear first hand about key updates and developments, 

and personal and work related anecdotes 

• “In conversation”, a blog where CNWL staff share their 

opinions 

• Divisional leaders and staff engage on Twitter 

• Weekly CNWL newsletter 

• Quarterly Listen, Learn and Act newsletter 

• Production of the ‘CNWL who we are’ film, highlighting 

some of the Trust’s recent achievements and contributions 

by staff
1
 

• Programme of staff briefings and feedback events: 

Between September 2014 and March 2015 a total of 18 

were held across the Trust chaired by the Chief Operating 

Officer and new divisional heads. The aim was for divisional 

heads to meet their service, team, ward and profession 

leaders, and vice versa, engage in discussion about key 

issues or concerns, feedback on updates (e.g. on the 

impending CQC inspection), and provide support and 

reassurance to front-line teams.  

• Programme of staff listening events: Further to the above, 

a programme of on-going staff listening events has already 

begun to maintain the ‘conversation’ and engagement 

through 2015-2016. So far the programme includes 19 

events across the Trust, and is led by our Director of People 

and Organisational Development and supported by a 

representative from our Communications Team. The 

programme includes both surgery style sessions and visits to 

                                            
1
 http://www.cnwl.nhs.uk/news/this-is-cnwl-the-film/ 

staff workstations for one-to-one and smaller group 

feedback.  

 

Our approach has begun to pay off with CNWL placed 8
th

 out of 57 

similar Trusts for staff engagement based on the ‘2015 League 

Table on Staff Engagement’ by Listening into Action
2
. 

 

Examples of “staff said, we did” so far.. 
 

• Staff voiced frustrations around the Trust’s IT systems, and 

too many burdensome processes. There is already a 

programme of major capital development to address our IT 

systems over the next two years, and we are reviewing our 

care and treatment planning processes to simplify and 

streamline our approach. 

• Team managers said they wanted to be able to 

communicate local key messages and share lessons with 

their team in an accessible way. We created a team level 

newsletter template for local completion to support team 

information dissemination and sharing. 

• Staff voiced dissatisfaction with our intranet and wanted 

easier access to Trust policies. We scoped, consulted on and 

introduced the new Trustnet system in January 2015 to 

address problem areas. 

• Staff were anxious about the CQC inspection and wanted to 

know what to expect and be prepared. We created a staff 

handbook and presentation, and set up a telephone 

interview and peer review programme so staff could 

practice their knowledge and experience. We also set up on-

                                            
2 Link: http://bit.ly/1N86e9H 

32



 
 

18 
 

site surgeries for questions and answers on specialist areas, 

like the mental health or capacity acts.  

• The Recovery and Wellbeing College received feedback that 

it should offer courses on physical health care issues. This 

has been rolled out and the prospectus now includes 

courses on both mental and physical healthcare. 

 

As this initiative will now form part of business as usual, this will be 

monitored and acted on internally, and not be reported next year. 

 

Objective 9: To publish the staffing levels on our inpatient wards 

for the information of patients, carers and staff 

 

Safe and appropriate staffing levels on all our wards are essential to 

maintaining a safe, calm and comfortable ward environment. Our 

ward staffing establishment is adjusted per shift in response to the 

changing needs of our patients.  

 

We closely monitor numbers and ratios of our qualified versus 

unqualified staff as per national guidelines, as well as permanent 

versus bank or agency staff. Our aim is always to employ 

permanent staff, but where this is not possible bank staff are used, 

and agency staff as a last resort. Credentials are always checked 

and a proper induction given.  

 

The aim of this objective was to publish the staffing levels of each 

shift on all our inpatient wards - for the visibility of our patients, 

carers and staff. This was completed in June 2014.  

 

It was also a requirement from the NHS Chief Nursing Officer 

(England) and the Care Quality Commission in response to the 

Francis Report which called for greater openness and transparency 

in the health service. 

 

Example of one of our ward staffing boards: 

   

 
 

 

As this project has been completed, this will not be reported on 

next year. 

33



 
 

19 
 

Objective 10: The percentage of staff who would recommend 

Trust services to family or friends if they needed similar care or 

treatment 

 

One of our most important measures of quality is whether our staff 

tell us that they would be happy to recommend our services to 

their family or friends. For this reason we have monitored this via 

three on-line and postal staff surveys this year; in quarter one, two 

and four. All staff from across the Trust have had the opportunity to 

respond. The chart below presents the results, along with the 

national staff survey average as a comparator. Our target of 66% 

was based on our performance in last year’s national staff survey. 

 

We are pleased to report, even through the organisational 

restructures our staff have experienced this year, an upward 

trajectory from quarter one, achieving 72% in quarter four, based 

on 523 staff responses. This result is an improvement on our 

position last year (the target), as well as the national average of 

60%.  

 

We ascribe this partly due to our engagement efforts with our staff 

– with a particular focus on face-to-face contacts, rather than a 

heavy reliance on electronic means. We will build on this success in 

the coming year and report on progress internally. 

 

Objective 11: Patients report that they were treated with dignity 

and respect 

 

We have learnt from the feedback from our surveys (see Section 

2.1) that what is valued most is staff who are caring, friendly, listen 

and respond, as well as the staff-patient-carer relationship. To 

understand our performance in these aspects we measured 

specifically how involved patients feel, whether patients would 

recommend our services to family or friends (presented above), 

and finally whether our patients feel they were treated with dignity 

and respect.  

 

Over the course of the year 9,393 patients responded to this 

question, including 2,507 in quarter four. The chart below shows 

our quarter-on-quarter performance: 

 

68% 70% 72% 60%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 4 National^

Target 66%

34



 
 

20 
 

 
^Source: Quality Health Ltd 2014 NHS community mental health service user survey           

* Data represents mental health and specialty services only 

 

We have consistently achieved our target this year, and achieved 

98% at quarter four.  

 

Overall, mental health services achieved 95%, presented separately 

as a comparator to the national average which is based on the 2014 

National Community Mental Health Survey. Performance is 

stronger in our mental health community, rehabilitation and older 

people’s services. Although still achieving the target, performance 

shows to be slightly more variable in our acute mental health acute 

services which have a smaller number of responses. By their nature 

these settings prove to be more challenging environments for both 

patients and staff, with many patients detained under the Mental 

Health Act. Staff have been trained to effectively to deal with all 

eventualities on our wards to ensure, firstly, the safety of all 

patients and staff, as well as maintaining patient’s dignity and 

respect at all times. Data is fed back to services and local action 

plans put in place. This indicator will continue to be monitored and 

reported on next year. 

 

Objective 12: The percentage of staff who have had their annual 

appraisal 

 

In order to support a workforce which is compassionate and 

competent, annual appraisals and frequent supervision sessions are 

essential. This is essential to providing strong clinical leadership to 

ensure our workforce is engaged, provided opportunities for 

professional development and adequately trained. 

 

We ended last year with 62% of our workforce with ‘in-date’ 

appraisals logged on our system.  

 

Throughout this year we have campaigned to reach our target:  

• We found that some local services were holding their staff 

appraisal logs manually. This meant on-going Trust-wide 

messages and training to encourage correct reporting of 

staff appraisals on our electronic system.  

• Managers were sent on-going reminders as staff became 

‘out of date’ until their appraisal was complete and logged 

on the system. This is an on-going mechanism to support 

managers.  

• Performance was also managed monthly via our Human 

Resources dashboard, with divisional leads tasked with 

ensuring compliance of their appraisal rates. 

 

Our action has begun to pay off: The chart below shows our 

quarter-on-quarter performance; an upward trajectory from 63% in 

98% 97% 98% 98%
94%*95%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 National^

Target 90%

35



 
 

21 
 

quarter one to 86% in February 2015. This figure will be updated 

with the confirmed year-end position during April 2015, and so we 

are unable to confirm whether we have achieved this measure. 

 

 
This measure will continue to be closely monitored as part of 

business as usual via our Human Resources dashboard and 

reported to our Quality and Performance Committee, with action 

continued to be directed as needed. This measure will not be 

included in the Quality Account next year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2. A borough and specialist service focus 
 

To view how Quality Priorities and other indicators performed by 

borough or specialist service, see Section 3.2.  

 

The following pages present specific information on each of our 

main boroughs and specialist services including key achievements, 

initiatives and areas for improvement.  

 

  

63% 68% 84% 86%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Target 95%

36



 
 

22 
 

Borough of Brent 

 

Borough Director: Natalie Fox 

Clinical Director: Dr Anupam Kishore 

 

Overview of our services in Brent 

We provide a wide range of mental health services in Brent for children 

and young people, working age adults through to older people. Services 

include acute mental health services, mental health assessment and brief 

treatment services, community recovery services, older people’s mental 

health and healthy ageing services and psychological medicine services. 

We also provide addictions and sexual health services in Brent. 

 

Patient/carer feedback about services 

• Overall, our patient telephone surveys from quarter four told us that: 

• 98% of patients would recommend our services to friends or family 

if they needed similar care or treatment, 

• 98% of patients felt treated with dignity and respect, 

• 89% felt that their care had been well organised by their care 

coordinator or lead professional, 

• 66% felt ‘definitely’ and 94% felt ‘definitely and to some extent’ 

involved in the decisions about their care and treatment, 

• 80% stated that they had a phone number to call out of hours or in 

a crisis, 

• 79% felt they had enough advice and support for their physical 

health care (year to date). 

• Individual feedback:  

• Father of patient attending Healthy Kickers, Tamarind Centre: “I 

cannot believe this is available for patients when they leave 

hospital. It is amazing.”  

• After taking part in a group supporting service users to write health 

and wellbeing plans, one service user gave this feedback: “It has 

helped me to understand more about my illness. It has allowed me 

to express my feelings. I felt listened to. I was given enough time. I 

will share my Health and Wellbeing Plan with my care coordinator.” 

• Acute services: “Thank you for putting up with me. You are good, 

patient people! God bless you and may all your dreams and 

aspirations come true. I wish you all the best for the future, most 

sincere appreciation for a job well done”.  

 

Recent successes and service improvements 

• Successful step-down process in Rehabilitation services: We have been 

able to step more clients down from 24 hours service to less supported 

facilities due to coordination with the Local Authority, Start Plus and third 

party accommodation providers. Self-directed support has been granted 

to almost all clients who applied for them. This has helped clients 

to move forward; buy equipment for their studies, and improve their 

social lives by employing a personal assistant.  

• Our Healthy Kickers football project has developed over the last 18 

months and we now have 100 registrants. The project has its own 

Facebook page and is managed by one of the players, and so far three 

service users have successfully completed their Level 1 FA coaching 

certificate. Two now work as part time voluntary coaches. 

• The introduction of primary care dementia nurses (five in total): This 

innovative role has been introduced in the Brent Memory Service. The 

nurses work across the borough covering a locality of GP practices. They 

provide a bridge between primary and secondary care, supporting GPs 

as well as enabling service users to stay in their own home, with support, 

for longer. 

• In response to learning from an incident investigation the Assessment 

and Brief Treatment Team have introduced a morning feedback meeting 

to discuss each assessment from the day before in a multidisciplinary 

environment, and agree the best way forward. This ensures appropriate 

clinical challenge and agreement on the best way forward. Following the 

meeting an outcome letter is sent to both the referrer and the patient. 

• A new peer support worker for personalisation role has been developed 

within Brent Community Recovery Team. The peer support worker has 

37



 
 

23 
 

sourced and identified services to meet individuals personalised needs 

and recovery goals and will help to deliver a new course - Personal 

budgets in Brent as part of the CNWL Recovery and Wellbeing College.  

• Supported Housing: Staff and service users have been involved in 

improving the buildings that they live and work in. Choice of colours and 

purchase of renovation materials were made by service users with staff 

support.  

 

Challenges 

• Acute services: One of the main challenges in Brent is staff recruitment 

and retention. This often makes it difficult to develop and sustain project 

work, and demand versus capacity can lead to waiting lists. Pressure and 

demand for inpatient services means that the unit is busy with high levels 

of disturbance, however across the year 88% of service users report 

feeling safe after their most recent inpatient stay. Here, newly qualified 

staff view it as a good grounding following qualification and then move 

on, especially Band 6 posts on the community teams. Staff tell us this is 

partly because Park Royal is equidistant between the inner London 

boroughs with their associated prestige, and the other two outer London 

boroughs which are in better locations.   

• Supported Housing: Dealing with the housing associations and landlords 

who own some of the properties can be challenging. Repairs sometimes 

take longer than desired to be completed.  

 

 

Borough of Camden 

 

Borough Director: Graham Caul Clinical 

Director: Dr Pramod Prabhakaran 

 

Overview of our services in Camden 

We provide a wide range of community health services for children and 

adults with physical health problems in the community setting. This 

includes neurological and stroke services, podiatry services, diabetes 

services, wheelchair services and palliative care services to improve the 

quality of life of patients and their families facing problems associated 

with life-threatening illness. Services for children include school nursing, 

immunisation, health visiting, looked after children and Camden MOSAIC, 

an integrated service for children and young people with disabilities, and 

their families. 

 

Patient/carer feedback 

• Overall, our quarter four patient telephone survey for Camden 

community services told us that 98% would recommend our services to 

family or friends, 98% treated with dignity and respect, and 89% feeling 

‘definitely’ involved in their care and treatment, 

• Additionally, a Palliative Care patient satisfaction survey completed in 

October 2014 revealed that:  

• 94% of respondents rated the care they received from our team as 

excellent or very good, 

• 94% thought the team members were helpful always or most of the 

time, 

• 100% said the team members treated them with respect and dignity, 

• 100% would recommend the service to family and friends  

• A 2014/15 community telephone survey for Camden Podiatry 

Service revealed that:  

• 93% would recommend the service to family and friends,  

• 69% felt ‘definitely’ involved as much as they wanted to be in 

decisions about their care and treatment, 31% felt they were 

involved to some extent. 

• Camden Children’s Service, following an intervention, Child J’s mother 

reported the following: ‘J is willing to try a wider range of foods at home; 

the family is eating their meals together frequently; and I am feeling more 

confident about managing J’s behaviour at mealtimes and less anxious 

about the food he is willing to eat’. 

•  The Camden Active Living Group, a small group of people who regularly 

use our services, have co-produced and co-delivered a range of training 

including person centred care for the Care Certificate and Induction as 

38



 
 

24 
 

well as Customer Service training. The training embodies CNWL’s values 

and allows direct patient feedback to staff. 

 

Recent successes and service improvements 

• Camden Palliative Care Team, together with Islington ELiPSe and Centre 

404 Housing Service, won a prestigious award for Outstanding End of Life 

Support at the Palliative Care for People with Learning Disabilities 

Network (PCPLD) awards. 

• Integrated Adult Services worked jointly with UCLH/National to open 

seven additional beds of a higher dependency to support the stroke 

pathway. This freed up acute beds to support the emergency care 

pathway at UCLH as well as HASU (Hyper Acute Stroke Unit) beds. 

• The Rapid Response Team was expanded to provide 24/7 support for 

admissions avoidance as well as early supported discharge seven days 

a week from 9am to 3pm. 

• Camden has established an Alliance Provider model for children’s 

services, involving CNWL, Whittington Health, the Royal Free and the 

Tavistock and Portman NHS trusts. The new role of Head of Children’s 

Services has been established and leads the partnership, working for 

CNWL which is the organisation with the role of Operational Lead. The 

partnership is established to specifically meet the needs of children with 

developmental concerns and disabilities and is now formalised as 

Camden Integrated Children’s Services. 

• We have introduced safe staffing tools across District Nursing and Rapid 

Response teams so we can objectively assess safe staffing levels to 

support our patient care and co-ordinate support from other 

teams/services when safe staffing is not available to provide high quality 

safe care. 

• Heart Failure Team is now combined with the screening service to form 

one cohesive service that now works in localities, so GPs have a named 

nurse/representative for their area. 

• Development of Camden’s Single Point of Referral (SPOR): SPOR is the 

single access point to developmental assessments including community 

paediatrics, speech and language therapy, occupational therapy and 

physiotherapy for children and young people in Camden. Prior to SPOR, 

each service had its own referral form and pathway, and did not always 

know when a child was known to the other services. Over the last 12 

months the SPOR took 1854 referrals, of which 85% were allocated to 

uni-disciplinary pathways and 15% to multidisciplinary/multi-agency 

pathways.  

• Health Visiting Duty Desk was developed to give parents and 

professionals access to a qualified Health Visitor by phone for advice and 

support. 

 

Challenges 

• An ageing population and increase in the diabetes population are 

placing growing demands on the Podiatry Service and Wheelchair Service. 

This demand will increase over time meaning we need to find innovative 

ways of working. The Camden Podiatry Service has started to redefine the 

service it delivers to patients using a ‘need based’ model similar to other 

parts of the country. Currently this is mainly addressing new patients 

accessing the service. The model will be reviewed this year and rolled out 

to existing patients. 

• The Disabled Children’s Team (DCT) works alongside all of MOSAIC 

(Making Our Services All Integrated in Camden) services to achieve good 

outcomes for children who reach the threshold for these services. The 

challenge is to incorporate more of a systemic approach for the DCT in 

order to include early intervention to address need and reduce 

vulnerability at an early stage. We are beginning to address this with 

social care involvement in the SPOR intake panel. 

• Referrals to the Social Care Assessment Service (SCAS) are increasing by 

up to 50% on the last year. This is impacting on waiting times for 

assessment and intervention, and is a trend seen in neighbouring 

boroughs and in Hillingdon Community Services. 

 

 

 

 

39



 
 

25 
 

 

Borough of Harrow 

 

Borough of Harrow 

Borough Director: Tanya Paxton Clinical 

Director: Dr Tanya Thirkell 

 

Overview of our services in Harrow 

We provide a wide range of mental health services in Harrow for children 

and young people, working age adults and older people. Services include 

acute mental health inpatient wards, mental health assessment and brief 

treatment services, community recovery services and liaison psychiatry 

for adults and older adults.  

 

Patient/carer feedback 

• Overall, our patient telephone surveys from quarter four told us that: 

• 100% of patients would recommend our services to friends or 

family if they needed similar care or treatment, 

• 100% of patients felt treated with dignity and respect, 

• 91% felt that their care had been well organised by their care 

coordinator or lead professional, 

• 68% felt ‘definitely’ and 98% felt ‘definitely and to some extent’ 

involved in the decisions about their care and treatment, 

• 89% stated that they had a phone number to call out of hours or in 

a crisis, 

• 76% felt they had enough advice and support for their physical 

health care (year to date). 

 

Individual feedback: 

 

• Carer, Memory Services: “JC and I are very satisfied with the team’s 

professional care and treatment” 

• Carer, acute services: “I would particularly like to thank the 

occupational therapists who did a splendid job in encouraging my mother 

to participate in the sessions. The sessions she most enjoyed were the 

ones on music and literature where I feel she found herself again and 

regained her self-esteem. To see my mother choosing to watch TV or chat 

to people is wonderful. Credit must also go to the genuine caring shown 

by the staff, helping with washing, dressing etc. Also I know my mother 

appreciated the way patients were consulted on the running of the ward 

at regular business meetings. At a time when the NHS is facing many 

pressures and the mental health service often referred to as the 

Cinderella service I wish to commend all on Ellington Ward for their 

consistent care” 

• Patient, Harrow Home Treatment Team: “Absolutely amazing service, 

praised by my sister who was involved in my care. My care plan was very 

clear and simple, not overwhelming, allowing me to take one day/one 

visit at a time, always explaining process and agreeing it with me. I felt 

safe and listened to, the team was ever so helpful and understanding. 

Very respectful. The most amazing people and with so much compassion 

and dedication. Just keep doing what you are doing.”  

 

Recent successes and service improvements 

 

• Commissioning the Memory Service has improved patient pathways 

meaning better management and care of patients in which the whole 

team contributes. 

 

• Courses for patients at the CNWL Recovery and Wellbeing College in 

Harrow to support patient recovery journeys, including ‘Go Smoke Free’ 

(article in The Advisor Journal, Winter 2014) and joint workshops in 

collaboration with the University of Westminster and art groups including 

The Bridge.  

• Peer support workers on Ferneley and Eastlake Wards at Northwick 

Park Mental Health Unit offer formalised peer support and practical 

40



 
 

26 
 

assistance to service users in order for them to regain control over their 

lives and their own unique recovery journey. 

 

• The introduction of multidisciplinary team daily white board reviews on 

Ellington Ward has contributed to improved communication between 

professionals and stakeholders.  

 

• CNWL promised our local health commissioners to review all the 

complex patients in Roxbourne inpatient rehabilitation to potentially step 

them down. Our team has been able to be central in delivering on this, 

increasing the confidence the commissioners have with CNWL in Harrow.  

 

• The introduction of the assessment lounge at Northwick Park Hospital 

has reduced inpatient admissions, waiting time for patients to be seen 

and offers more focused time to patients in a calm environment enabling 

the team to offer the right care at the right time.  

 

Challenges 

 

• Ellington Ward: Management of patients admitted to the ward with 

multiple mental and physical health issues especially out-of-hours and at 

weekends has been problematic.  In order to look after patients better 

with mental and physical health needs we are in the process of creating a 

patient transfer protocol detailing the patient pathway if patients have 

urgent physical health needs while staying on the mental health ward. 

This patient pathway and protocol will be used 24/7, this will be ready for 

implementation in May 2015. 

 

• Home Treatment Team: Using bank and agency staff to cover shifts.  

 

To overcome this problem we have been reviewing the reasons behind 

the use of agency staff. We are now working very closely with the central 

recruitment team to attract more nurses to apply to our vacancies. We 

are having discussions with the staff bank to make it a 24/7 service to 

cover out of hours and therefore be more responsive to patient need.  

• Increase in number of referrals to our Memory Service and current 

resources not meeting demand.  We have worked closely with Harrow 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to raise awareness of this current 

issue. We have now increased our capacity of the service by increasing 

the amount of days worked by our consultants so that our patients are 

seen and treated quicker. 

• There is a lack of commissioned community personality disorder 

services compared to other boroughs meaning personality disorder 

patients are treated in inpatient settings. We are working closely with our 

commissioners to raise awareness of this local issue in order to provide a 

joint solution for this current service gap. We are reviewing the current 

need in Harrow for service users with personality disorders and how we 

can deliver our existing services that will include a service for this patient 

cohort. Site visits are taking place of gold standard services are so we can 

stride to develop such a service in Harrow.  

 

 

Borough of Hillingdon 

 

Borough Director: Kim Cox 

Community Services Clinical Director: Dr Sagar Dhanani 

Mental Health Services Clinical Director: Dr Mellisiha Padayatchi 
 

Overview of our services in Hillingdon 

We provide a wide range of community health services for children and 

adults with physical health problems. This includes diabetes services, 

speech and language therapy, continence services, district nursing, 

palliative care and rapid response. Services for children include health 

visiting, children’s nursing and infant feeding, as well as paediatric 

services including speech and language therapy, occupational therapy 

and physiotherapy services. We also provide mental health services 

across the borough for adults and older people, including a psychiatric 

41



 
 

27 
 

intensive care unit at the Riverside Centre and two adult inpatient mental 

health wards that provide a safe and therapeutic environment for people 

with acute mental health problems.  

 

Patient/carer feedback 

• Overall, our patient telephone surveys from quarter four told us that: 

• 91% of community health patients, and 93% of mental health 

patients would recommend our services to friends or family if they 

needed similar care or treatment, 

• 100% of community health patients, 97% of mental health patients 

felt treated with dignity and respect, 

• 92% of mental health patients felt that their care had been well 

organised by their care coordinator or lead professional, 

• 64% of community health patients, and 74% of mental health 

patients felt ‘definitely’ involved in the decisions about their care 

and treatment (definitely and to some extent: 84% and 95% 

respectively), 

• 78% of mental health patients stated that they had a phone 

number to call out of hours or in a crisis, 

• 86% of mental health patients felt they had enough advice and 

support for their physical health care (year to date). 

Individual feedback: 

• Very positive and consistent feedback was received from our Tissue 

Viability patients. 

• Patients on Oak Tree Ward have recently sent letters to us outlining 

their positive experiences, for example: “Very informative, professional 

and caring”, “The person I saw was extremely helpful”, “They were very 

helpful and understanding. I found it very easy to talk to this person.” 

 

Recent successes and service improvements 

Adult Community Health Services 

• Introduction of Community Nursing Assistants into District Nursing 

teams 

• Falls assisted discharge programme  

• Introduction of a ‘high risk’ clinic in community Podiatry Service 

• Care bundles for Dementia, Venous leg Ulcers and Chronic Obstructive 

Pulmonary Disease (COPD) have been developed 

• The reduction in ‘did not attend’ appointment (DNA’s) to 6% in 

Diabetes, Podiatry and Musculoskeletal (MSK) Physiotherapy 

• Extension of physiotherapy therapy input into Hawthorn Intermediate 

Care Unit (HICU) to seven days 

 

Children’s Community Health Services 

• Development of staff and recruitment of health visitors 

• School age immunisation uptake 

• Therapy (Physiotherapy and Speech and Language Therapy (SLT)) 

provision in children centres  

• Speech, Language and Communication Needs (SLCN) Early Years 

pathway 

• School nurse drop-in clinics for targeted secondary schools 

• TB (tuberculosis) Service relocated to a local clinic for improved access 

for patients, and a TB nurse qualified as Nurse Prescriber enables 

improved, efficient care for patients 

• Improved TB screening in detention centres 

 

Adult Mental Health Services 

• Bespoke and well attended recovery and wellbeing courses have been 

established in Hillingdon for patients, carers and staff. 

• Section 136 suite has been enhanced and recent internal inspection 

rated this as ‘excellent’. 

• Set up of peer support worker posts in the acute inpatient services: The 

aim is that people with lived experience of mental health symptoms and 

direct experience of service provision are able to engage directly with 

patients on the wards. Traditional support worker posts have been 

converted to these posts. 

42



 
 

28 
 

• Shifting settings of care strategy has been underpinned by the 

establishment of two mental health navigator posts who will be part of 

the new Primary Care Mental Health Team in Hillingdon. 

• Commissioned Liaison Psychiatry services have been established, as well 

as a well received training programme for Hillingdon Hospital staff. 

 

Challenges 

• Recruitment to permanent posts, and recruitment of qualified, 

experienced staff 

• Conflicting demands from commissioners 

• Working seamlessly with partner organisations 

• Inpatient bed pressures 

• Limited resources out of area for patients in crisis and socially isolated 

• Increased number of complex children requiring health care 

 

 

 

Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 

 

Borough Director: Angela McGee  

Clinical Director: Anna Maratos 

 

Overview of our services in Kensington and Chelsea (K&C) 

We provide a wide range of mental health services in the borough of 

Kensington and Chelsea. Many of our services are delivered from St 

Charles Hospital where we have four adult inpatient wards, two 

psychiatric intensive care units and two older adult wards, which provide 

a safe and therapeutic environment for people with acute mental health 

problems. Other services include: liaison psychiatry services, home 

treatment services, early intervention services and community recovery. 

 

Patient/carer feedback 

• Overall, our patient telephone surveys from quarter four told us that: 

• 78% of patients would recommend our services to friends or family 

if they needed similar care or treatment, 

• 93% of patients felt treated with dignity and respect, 

• 92% felt that their care had been well organised by their care 

coordinator or lead professional, 

• 66% felt ‘definitely’ and 94% felt ‘definitely and to some extent’ 

involved in the decisions about their care and treatment, 

• 68% stated that they had a phone number to call out of hours or in 

a crisis, 

• 88% felt they had enough advice and support for their physical 

health care (year to date). 

• South Kensington Recovery Team carers evening feedback: 80% said 

they found the combination of meeting with patients and professionals, 

finding out about the service, and meeting other families parents/carers 

helpful. 

• There is also a monthly carers evening (held at Beatrice Place, with a 

large number of staff offering after hours sessions) for all new referrals 

over the previous 3 month period. 100% of respondents said it was useful 

or very useful, in particular the opportunity to speak with service user 

representatives who spoke of their recovery journey. 

• Employment Specialist Service feedback: 

• “I am very fortunate to have met my employment specialist who 

has helped me throughout this process and was very encouraging and 

supportive and has helped to give me back my self-belief and confidence” 

• “Thank you so much you have helped me, I wouldn’t have got the 

job if it hadn’t been for all your help and support” 

• “I am grateful for the support I have received from the Early 

Intervention Team, my family, and my employer. Remaining employed 

has been a big factor in staying well, I am now looking to advance my 

career and share my experience to help and support other people” 

 

 

 

43



 
 

29 
 

Recent successes and service improvements 

• Recruitment of peer support workers has received positive feedback all 

round. 

• Primary Care Services launched their new website and communications 

plan to all GPs (website: www.take-time-to-talk.com). The Primary Care 

Mental Health Services have had a successful year and achieved their 

access targets and service improvement of recovery rates in 2014/15. 

• A lot of work has gone into strengthening the Recovery Model which 

has resulted in the introduction of TRIPs (Team Recovery Implementation 

Plans), K&C Recovery and Wellbeing College Spoke Courses, six day a 

week acute outreach programme’s, MDT involvement in South 

Community Recovery Team Clozapine Clinic and a pilot of personal health 

budgets in the North Recovery Team in partnership with K&C MIND and 

the local authority. 

• Primary Care Mental Health Service expansion: Recently held an 

opening for the new Primary Care Centre in St Charles Hospital expanding 

their capacity to 17 therapy rooms, one large group room and nearly 30 

hot desks in the north of the borough. 

• Carers: Work has been underway in the adult community teams to 

improve the identification and assessment of carers. A bi-borough 

carer/service interface meeting has been running over the past year, 

which brings together managers and leads from the various 

teams/services, individual carers, and representatives from the third 

sector to discuss carer issues, share knowledge, and work together to 

develop an increased understanding of staff on the need to support 

carers in a stronger way than we do. A carer support group that was 

previously chaired by a local authority staff member, and was vulnerable 

to closure has been taken on by our local managers to ensure that it did 

not close (it has been running for at least 10 years). 

 

Challenges 

• Bed pressures and the demand for beds is a constant challenge. We are 

managing this as a coordinated effort daily but we also have a longer 

term plan to remodel our community provision to ensure people get the 

help they need before they become so unwell they need admission. 

• Agency use also remains high, although there have been some 

reductions over the last few months 

• Recruitment - Services across Kensington and Chelsea have struggled to 

recruit a high calibre of skilled and motivated staff across the services – in 

particular Primary Care services, Older Adults and Acute have been 

hardest hit which has resulted in several vacancies which has put 

pressure on the teams. We are looking at targeted recruitment strategies 

in these areas. 

 

 

Borough of Milton Keynes 

 

Community Services: Overview of our services in Milton Keynes 

 

Community Service Director: Sheila Begley 

Clinical Director: Ryan Kemp 

 

We provide a wide range of community health services for children and 

adults with physical health problems in Milton Keynes. Services include 

universal children’s services such as health visiting and school nursing, 

specialist therapies, podiatry services, specialist children’s health services 

and community district nursing, intermediate care, speech and language 

therapy and dental services.  

 

Patient/carer feedback 

• Overall, our patient telephone surveys from quarter four told us that: 

• 96% of our patients would recommend services to their family or 

friends, 

• 99% reported feeling treated with dignity and respect 

• 80% reported feeling ‘definitely’ involved in their care and 

treatment. 

44



 
 

30 
 

• In response to Friends and Family Test patient feedback we have 

implemented a two hour time band for District Nurse visits to ensure that 

patients know approximately when to expect a visit.  

• Winners of the Multiple Sclerosis (MS) Trust ‘My MS Super Team’  

Awards 2014 which was voted for by people with MS, Emily’s Star charity 

set up following one mum’s experience with the Children with Complex 

Needs Team – recognising their support and raising money to help the 

team and support other families.  

 

Recent successes and service developments 

• Set up of our OPAT team (Outpatient Antibiotic Therapy Service) and 

were nominated for a Nursing Times Award. 

• Introduced essential to role pressure ulcer training to improve 

management and prevention of pressure ulcers. 

• Published an advanced care planning in Neuro Conditions article in the 

Nursing Standard January 2015 by our Neuro Clinical Specialist. 

• Launched our District Nursing ‘bags’ which has improved stock 

management and availability of equipment in patient homes. 

• Introduced a new patient leaflet for patients with indwelling urinary 

catheters in collaboration with the Infection Prevention and Control 

Team. 

• Worked in partnership with patients to develop a national education 

resource for professionals on sexuality in patients with Multiple Sclerosis 

(MS). 

• Successful continuation of patient/carer support groups for a specific 

group of patients (e.g. Continence Nursing Services) 

• Oral Health Improvement (Dental Services):  Successful delivery of 

training and accreditation programmes to a variety of users, including 

early year’s settings, residential homes, paid carers and health and 

wellbeing professionals (healthcare assistance, health visitors, speech and 

language therapists etc). Training is evaluated before and after, this 

captures information on knowledge attainment, implied behaviour 

change but also feedback on the training and specific programme.  

• Milton Keynes Patient Experience Campaigns: Over the past three years 

these campaigns were a successful vehicle for working with and making 

improvements for some of the most vulnerable service users, including 

people with characteristics protected under Equality and Diversity law, 

mental health, children’s service users and people with Learning 

Disabilities. Campaigns are prioritised as a result of both national and 

local information and are developed in consultation with the local 

Healthwatch. One of the identified campaigns for 2014-15 was supporting 

Carers to look after their loved ones. Working in conjunction with Carers 

MK, it was agreed that all staff are actively engaged with training on how 

to identify a carer and make a referral to MK Carers. As a result, there has 

been noticeable uptake of training in both District Nursing and 

Intermediate Care and Carers MK are starting to see more referrals come 

through from community services.   

 

Mental Health Services: Overview of our services in Milton Keynes 

 

Mental Health Service Director: Pete Raimes 

Clinical Director: Dr Keelyjo Hindhaugh 

 

We provide specialist mental health services for people of all ages 

(children and adolescents, people of working age, and older people) for 

the approximately 10% of people with mental health needs in our 

population who need more specialist care and treatment. 

 

The majority of our services are based in the community and cover a wide 

range of mental disorders such as severe anxieties and depression, 

psychosis illnesses such as schizophrenia and bipolar affective disorder, 

personality disorders, and memory assessment and dementia services. 

 

We also provide inpatient services in the 38 bed Campbell Centre for 

working age adults, the 20 bed TOPAS (the older person’s assessment and 

treatment) unit. 

  

45



 
 

31 
 

Patient/carer feedback 

 

• Overall, our patient telephone surveys from quarter four told us that: 

• 86% of our patients would recommend services to their family or 

friends, 

• 97% felt they were treated with dignity and respect, 

• 92% felt they were ‘definitely and to some extent’ involved in 

their care and treatment decisions, 

• 80% felt safe during their most recent inpatient stay, 

• 92% reported to have a contact number to call out of hours or in 

case of crisis. 

 

• Positive Friends and Family Test feedback received from our personality 

disorders services 

• Positive feedback received from carers having attended Recovery and 

Wellbeing workshops. 

 

Recent successes and service improvements 

 

• We have implemented a Street Triage pilot in conjunction with the 

Thames Valley Police where a CPN (community psychiatric nurse) 

attends incidents with the police where they suspect the person 

involved may have a mental health disorder.  This gives the police on 

hand mental health expertise and support and if the person 

ultimately needs some form of mental health care, the CPN can 

arrange this quickly.  

 

• We have completed major remedial and redecoration work at the 

Campbell Centre to improve the internal environment of the unit, and 

commissioned a new 136 Suite.  This is for people who the police 

have detained under a power of the Mental Health Act and where 

they think the person may have a mental health disorder.  The person 

will have their mental health assessed in the new suite by a 

psychiatric doctor and an approved mental health professional. 

 

• Introduced the CAMHS (child and adolescent mental health service) 

Liaison and Intensive Support Team (LIST) in September 2014 having 

secured additional funding from the local clinical commissioning 

group. This provides emergency and very urgent mental health 

assessment and support for young people presenting in some form of 

mental health crisis or other emergency. 

 

• Introduced a Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT) service for young 

people who have a complex history of mental health crises and self 

harming behaviours.  This programme provides intensive 

psychological support over sustained periods of time to help the 

young person understand, come to terms with and to address their 

symptoms and behaviours, and has been shown to be successful in 

reducing future mental health crises, self harming behaviours and 

hospital admissions. 

 

• We have implemented a new one stop shop clozapine clinic which 

now provides patients on this medication with their monthly repeat 

prescriptions and a physical health screening check, and which has 

eliminated the previous need for the patient to have to make two 

separate visits to the clinic site in the same week. 

 

• The Memory Assessment Service (which screens patient for possible 

dementia) has recently delivered the national target of ensuring that 

over two thirds of the people in our local population who are thought 

to have dementia, have been properly diagnosed and are now getting 

proper support. 

 

• Successful implementation of service user and carer engagement 

groups within various services (Memory Assessment, Dementia 

services, TOPAS (inpatient unit) community meetings) – with on-going 

review of best times to engage with carers (e.g. weekend meetings).  

 

46



 
 

32 
 

• Mental Health Forums – successfully implemented since July 2012 to 

date; open forums inviting patients/service users and carers to share 

their experiences of using local Community and/or Inpatient Mental 

Health services; supported by the Patient Experience team and 

facilitated by Mental Health Clinicians and/or Directors. The Forums 

were a valuable tool for involving previous service users to become 

members on interview panels; and return to the service to share their 

recovery stories with and support existing service users.   

 

• As part of the local Carers Campaign, Carers MK met with local 

Healthwatch where it was agreed that carers are provided with a card 

containing useful information and useful contact numbers for people 

with mental health issues, and for their carers/family members. This 

has been implemented and cards are being distributed in CNWL-MK. 

 

Challenges and looking forward 

 

Our plans for 2015-16 include: 

 

• Implementing a Hospital Liaison Psychiatry Service at the Milton 

Keynes Hospital which will provide a comprehensive mental health 

service for people presenting in A&E or admitted to the wards either 

as a result of a mental health disorder or where they have a mental 

health disorder alongside their main physical health problem. 

 

• Improving and enhancing our Early Intervention in Psychosis Service 

which provides early assessment and treatment of generally younger 

people who are suspected of having experienced a first episode of 

psychosis. Evidence shows that the earlier a psychotic illness is 

identified and treated, the better the clinical, educational and 

employment outcomes for the patient. 

 

Many patients treated for psychosis will either make a complete 

recovery or have their symptoms very well controlled and able to live 

a meaningful and productive life without limitation 

 

• Improving the support given by specialist mental health services to 

GPs and primary healthcare teams to help primary care better assess, 

treat and support patients with a wide range of mental health 

problems. 

 

Working even more closely with our partners in the police, the 

Ambulance Service, the NHS 111 service, the urgent care centre and GP 

out of hours services, to ensure people who present either in an 

emergency or out of hours with a significant mental health problem, get 

the help and support they need in the right place and in good time. 

 

 

Borough of Westminster 

 

Borough Director: Nicola Hazle 

Clinical Director: Dr Jo Emmanuel 

 

Overview of our services in Westminster 

We provide a wide range of mental health services in Westminster for 

adults and older people. Services include acute mental health services, 

mental health assessment and brief treatment services, community 

recovery services and therapies services. Unique to this borough are the 

Forced Migration Trauma Service and Joint Homelessness Team. There 

are three adult inpatient wards at the Gordon Hospital. 

 

Patient/carer feedback 

• Overall, our patient telephone surveys from quarter four told us that: 

• 96% of patients would recommend our services to friends or family 

if they needed similar care or treatment, 

• 94% of patients felt treated with dignity and respect, 

47



 
 

33 
 

• 93% felt that their care had been well organised by their care 

coordinator or lead professional, 

• 86% felt ‘definitely’ and 94% felt ‘definitely and to some extent’ 

involved in the decisions about their care and treatment, 

• 86% stated that they had a phone number to call out of hours or in 

a crisis, 

• 86% felt they had enough advice and support for their physical 

health care (year to date). 

• Individual feedback:  

• US Embassy praises The Gordon: The Trust has received a letter 

from the US Embassy, praising the professionalism and dedication 

of the staff at The Gordon Hospital, Westminster. The patient 

required emergency hospitalisation for treatment of a potentially 

life threatening psychiatric illness while visiting London, which 

resulted in a positive outcome. “I hope my expression of gratitude 

is viewed as a testament to efficiency and quality the institution 

and relayed to the NHS for well-deserved recognition.”  Regional 

Medical Officer, US Embassy London 

• Members of our community user groups gave extremely positive 

feedback post specific sessions organised by our pharmacist to 

discuss and explain medication from the hospital. It was felt to 

have been ‘invaluable’. 

• A community service user described how thankful she was after 

being anxious about organising her bills and finances. A member of 

our CMHT took the service user for coffee to talk it through, and 

then provided practical help to sort it out, like accompanying her to 

the post office.  

 

Recent successes and service improvements 

• The CNWL Waterview Centre, a personality disorder service across 

Westminster, Kensington and Chelsea, has maintained its Enabling 

Environment accreditation. This is a mark of quality that shows a service 

has met critical standards set by the Royal College of Psychiatrists Centre 

for Quality Improvement (CCQI). 

• The Homelessness Prevention Initiative (HPI) was set up in recognition 

that service users who are homeless/threatened with homelessness tend 

to have longer hospital stays than those with secure accommodation. The 

HPI Team aim to meet with anyone admitted to a Westminster acute 

mental health bed within 48 hours of their admission. A Community Care 

Assessment, including a housing plan are completed, and the team help 

with other practicalities needed; such as attending appointments with 

embassies or flat cleaning. Since going live in January 2014 to March 2015 

190 service users have been supported, and this number continues to 

rise. 

• The Westminster Employment Team: A member of the Job Centre Plus 

now works within our team full time as part of an in-reach partnership 

programme. This has enabled increased outcomes for the team: This year 

we have worked with 107 service users, and successfully placed 37 into 

employment. 

• KCW Memory Service: This team won the Team Award from the Royal 

College of Psychiatry late 2014 and has received funding for another 

year. This investment has paid for additional staff (e.g. GP Liaison Nurses, 

and Liaison Nurses (Acute/A&E). The team include peer support workers 

and partnerships with Housing 21. The team has been accredited as 

‘excellent’ by the Memory Service National Accreditation Programme 

from the Royal College of Psychiatry last year. 

• Primary Care Plus has run as a pilot service since June 2013. A key focus 

of the service has been to support people to “step down” from secondary 

care mental health services as part of the Shifting Settings of Care work. It 

is a partnership between CNWL and CLH (a GP network organisation). The 

CCG recently announced its intention to lift the pilot status and finalise 

contractual arrangements with both providers.  

• Female Genital Mutilation Project: Building on a successful pilot in 

Westminster last year, Tri-borough Children’s Social Care services have 

won funding from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime. The project 

aims to identify those women who have been affected and make inroads 

48



 
 

34 
 

into ending the practice, to safeguard children at risk of having the 

practice done and to identify and treat trauma in women from practicing 

communities. 

• Peer support workers are employed across the Westminster borough 

services as part of a Trustwide initiative and work closely within our  

teams. They are recruited for their lived experience of mental health 

challenges, which they are skilled and trained in using positively, in order 

to support service users to progress along their individual recovery 

journeys. 

 

Challenges 

• Shifting Settings of Care/Step Down Agenda: In keeping with the 

principles of recovery our local commissioners have invested in 

services such as Primary Care Plus (PCP) to help support the transfer of 

patients from secondary care to be safely managed within a primary care 

setting. Although our Westminster staff have worked within these new 

primary care settings, there remain challenges such as overcoming 

anxieties in both staff and service users about such a change. In response 

to this the PCP team is providing in-reach to the teams to allow face to 

face discussion between clinicians and the planning of joint appointments 

and identification of people suitable for step.  

• Bed management/S136 and walk ins: The Gordon Hospital provides a 

place of safety and assessment for people detained under 

Section 136 of the Mental Health Act 1983. In addition, the Gordon 

provides a “walk in” service (not CCG commissioned) that is well 

established and used by people who are known to local mental health 

services. GPs also make referrals for assessment through this route. On 

average there were 56 admissions per month for 2014. This activity puts 

significant pressure on bed finding within Westminster as they are 

unplanned and people may have extended stays in the assessment suite 

whilst a suitable bed is identified. The suite has a minimum of two nursing 

staff, one qualified and one unqualified, with the capacity to request 

further staff from the Nurse Bank when needed.  

 

Our specialist services 

 

Addictions and Offender Care 

 

Service Director: Richard Comerford 

Clinical Director: Annie Bartlett and Farukh Alam 

 

Overview of services 

Addictions and Offender Care services span the whole geography of the 

Trust, providing services in London, and from Milton Keynes down to 

Kent, Surrey, Sussex and Hampshire. We are the leading provider of 

addiction and substance misuse treatment and recovery services in 

London. We provide community addiction treatment options, including 

treatment for dependence on alcohol and a range of drugs, as well as the 

National Problem Gambling Clinic. In Offender Care, we provide advice, 

assessment, treatment and healthcare services to people at all points 

along the criminal justice pathway. Our services include community 

forensic mental health services, Court and Police liaison and diversion 

services, inpatient secure services and prison and immigration removal 

centre services. 

 

Patient/Carer feedback 

Addictions and Offender Care employ a range of tools and activities to 

garner the views and recommendations of our patients. To compliment 

quantitative performance reports to NHS England commissioners, we 

present qualitative ‘patient stories’ at our contract review meetings, 

which are written accounts of our patients’ experience of their health 

difficulties and the care we have provided. 

• The HM Chief Inspector of Prisons unannounced inspections found: 

- In HMP Wormwood Scrubs (May 2014) four peer supporters 

worked in Conibeere Unit and C Wing and there was an active 

monthly service user forum. From their survey, 71% of prisoners 

said they were receiving support with drug issues against the 

comparator of 62%. 

49



 
 

35 
 

- In HMP Holloway (June 2013), service user consultation was 

found to be well developed and informed service developments 

and the peer supporter programme was excellent. In their 

survey, more prisoners than in the comparator were happy with 

the help received. 

• The Community Addictions Strategic Service User Group (SSUG) has 

been active since August 2010 and provides representation in the 

services management, quality and performance meetings. 

• All community addiction services have developed strong peer 

support frameworks that provide paid and/or voluntary Peer Support 

Worker posts that facilitate in partnership with peer led charity 

organisations a range of activities including peer led treatment 

inductions, recovery cafes and recovery check-ups following 

discharge. 

• CNWL in partnership with the SSUG and a peer led charity (Building 

on Belief) develop and facilitate an annual peer led service user audit 

which is now in its 4
th

 year (392 respondents).  

- 100% [1
st

 audit] of the sample group stated that ‘staff definitely 

treated them with respect and dignity’. 

- 97% of the sample group stated that they ‘were definitely or to 

some extent involved as much as they wanted to be in decisions 

about their care plan’.  

- 96% of the sample stated that they ‘did not feel that they were 

disadvantaged by the service because of their ethnicity, gender, 

sexuality or a disability’. 

 

Recent successes and service improvements 

Offender Care has: 

• Won a contract, tendered by NHS England, to deliver mental 

health services in four Surrey prisons from 1 May 2015. 

• Offender Care has won a bid with two partners to enhance 

existing liaison and diversion services in Courts and Police custody 

suites in North West London from 1
st

 April 2015. 

• Offender Care has successfully launched a new Sexually Harmful 

Behaviour Service in HMYOI Cookham Wood. 

• Commenced delivery of an integrated healthcare service to young 

people detained in Medway Secure Training Centre (STC) from 1
st

 

April 2015. 

• Merged Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster Forensic 

Community Teams to consolidate resource and create a more 

comprehensive service. 

Addictions has: 

• Won a public tender and retained our substance misuse services 

in Brent (commences 1
st

 April 2015). 

• Won a public tender, as a sub-contracted partner, to deliver 

substance misuse services in Hackney (Commences 1
st

 October 

2015). 

 

Challenges 

• Prison officer staffing difficulties have impacted on and limit 

prisoner access to healthcare provision. 

• The national shortage of nursing staff and GPs has impacted 

greatly in hard-to-recruit areas such as prisons and immigration 

removal centres. 

• Addictions and our partner CRI have worked closely together to 

re-address inherited performance issues within the West Sussex 

substance misuse service but CNWL has decided to withdraw 

from this service, effective from 1
st

 June 2015. 

• A reduction in referrals for clinical detoxification coupled with the 

high running costs has resulted in a decision to close CNWL’s Max 

Glatt Unit on 31
st

 March 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

50



 
 

36 
 

 

CAMHS and Eating Disorders 

 

Service Director: Jackie Shaw 

Clinical Director: Frances Connan 

 

Overview of services 

Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) and Eating Disorder 

Services were bought together as a single service line in 2014.  

 

We provide CAMHS services in the London boroughs of Brent, Harrow, 

Hillingdon, Kensington and Chelsea, Westminster. Our CAMHS services 

include children’s community services, children’s inpatient services, 

mother and baby inpatient services and early infant and perinatal 

services. We provide a specialist Tier 4 national inpatient CAMHS service, 

Collingham Child and Family Centre in Kensington, and a specialist 

inpatient perinatal unit for mothers and babies, Coombe Wood, in Brent. 

 

CNWL’s Eating Disorders Service is known as Vincent Square Eating 

Disorder Service and is located at South Kensington and Chelsea Mental 

Health Centre with a satellite service at Northwick Park Hospital in 

Harrow.  The service also provides a small community ED service in Milton 

Keynes.  We accept national referrals for inpatient, outpatient and day 

patient services. 

 

Patient/carer feedback 

 Individual feedback: 

• “I like that I am able to share my concerns without fear of 

judgement” -17 year old, January 2015 

• “That everyone listens to you and that you can have an opinion 

and you know you will be listened to and you can resolve your 

problem” - 12 year old, January 2015 

Carer feedback: 

• The Carer workshops have taught me new skills to help with my 

relationship with my loved one with an eating disorder. 

 

Recent successes and service improvements 

• 15-Step Challenge was completed across in-patient and 

community sites. Feedback has informed action plans to improve 

aspects of service delivery and service user environment.  

• Feedback has been received around timing of appointments. In 

response, as of April 2015 early and late appointments will be 

available across all services to help patients with more convenient 

access.  

• Brent and Harrow CAMHS were successful in a partnership 

approach and awarded the final Wave 4 funding for CYP IAPT 

(Children and Young Persons Improved Access to Psychological 

Therapies) 

• Our team at Collingham Inpatient Unit won ‘Team of the Year 

Award’ at Trust Annual Awards event, and our ‘CAMHS & Me 

Project Group’ was runner-up for the ‘Project of the Year Award’.  

• Development of our ‘CAMHS&Me’ website – co-produced with 

our patients, and continues to be developed 

(http://camhs.cnwl.nhs.uk/)  

• Coombe Wood Mother and Baby Unit were successful in 

maintaining their registration with the Royal College of Psychiatry 

Quality Network for Perinatal Mental Health Services.  

• Service users and parents remain actively involved in the 

recruitment of staff.  

 

Challenges 

• Ensuring all our service users from CAMHS, Eating Disorders and 

Perinatal Services are involved in developing their care plans and goals, 

and that they confirm they have a copy of the plan, and a number to call 

our of hours. This will be developed and monitored through local care 

quality and service user group structures. 

51



 
 

37 
 

• Working with CAMHS and adult clinicians, carers and our service users 

to improve the system and service user experience of transition from 

CAMHS to Adult services. The service will work with our adult services to 

operationalise a new CNWL Transition Protocol and make service changes 

required to deliver against a transition CQUIN set out for 2015-16 with 

commissioners. 

 

Follow us on Twitter @CNWLCAMHS, and our website launch poster: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Learning Disabilities 

 

Service Director: Jo Carroll 

Clinical Director: Scott Galloway 

 

Overview of services 

We offer services to people with learning disabilities and mental health 

services who require specialist assessment and treatment with a 

Recovery Service:  Our Learning Disability Services include Autism 

Diagnostic Service, Court Diversion and Vulnerable Offender Services, 

Psychosexual Assessment Services, Community Learning Disability 

Services and Inpatient Learning Disability Assessment and Treatment 

Services together with Recovery. We deliver services across the London 

area and accept national referrals to our inpatient facilities. 

 

Patient/carer feedback 

• For community carers and inpatient carers, 100% would recommend 

the service to their family or friends for Q2 and Q3. In Q4 ‘yes’ and 

‘maybe’ answers combined gave a result of 72% with 14% neutral and 

14% saying no 

• In Q4 100% of inpatients said they felt safe during their most recent 

inpatient stay 

• In Q4 92% of community service users responded saying ‘yes’ and 

‘maybe’ to recommending their friends or family with 8% (n=1) saying no. 

All the previous quarters had 100% of service users recommending the 

service. 

  

Recent successes  

• Case A: A severely Autistic service user that had not left his room for 

many years allowed a specialist Learning Disability and Physical Health 

Care Team to enter the home, manage the autistic behaviours, physically 

restrain him so he could be anaesthetised to bring him to our inpatient 

unit to be treated.  Here he was weaned off his dependence on his 

52



 
 

38 
 

mother and was slowly encouraged into the world around him. Nine 

months later he moved into ground floor supported living 

accommodation to live on his own with support from a Specialist Team – 

a complete success for him and his family. 

• Case B: An 18 year old service user was admitted to our inpatient 

service from a specialist placement as she needed a minimum of 2 to 1 

staffing to stop her from persistent self-injury. Working with a female 

professional staff group we introduced alternative ways she could 

reproduce the sensations she wished. Through behavioural analysis and 

trial and error the Service User was led to the solution of her holding soft 

toys and brisk exercise. She was then able to return home where she has 

maintained her progress and started college one day a week. 

 

Service improvements 

• Implementing a Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) Approach: Following 

recommendations by the British Institute of Learning Disabilities (BILD) 

we initiated a programme of developing PBS which was rolled out to all 

staff across The Learning Disability Services (community and inpatients) 

comprising of a series of introductory sessions and modular training 

workshops.  

• Multimedia project developed a creative way of working with the 

service users using bespoke easy-to-read communication for service users 

to make their care and treatment more accessible and easy to 

understand, such as their pathways in and out of hospital. Other 

approaches include the filming of a dance workout DVD that service users 

get to direct and star alongside the sports coach so they use the DVD to 

undertake a session themselves.  Sessions also included using an iPad to 

help a lady combat her fear of having a blood test by using it as a 

distraction when having her bloods taken.  

• Introduced a local induction pack for staff: The breadth of information 

needed for new starters meant that staff needed a readily available 

document that helped them go through their full local induction with 

their line manager and provide them with a reference guide. 

• Training to Service Users and Carers via the Brent and Harrow 

Community Health Teams to enable them to confidently ask their GP to 

have an Annual Health Check and Health Action Plan.  This led to an 

increase in uptake for both Annual Health Checks and Health Action 

Plans. 

 

Challenges  

• Delayed transfers of care (month 11 = 14.3%): We rely upon Social 

Service providers to find placements for our inpatients when they are 

ready for discharge though owing to a London-wide shortage of 

appropriate placements this is difficult especially as we do not manage 

the Social Workers seeking appropriate placements.  We do however 

regularly write to these Social Services and Commissioners advising then 

when placements have not been provided in a timely manner and led to a 

delayed transfer of care to the community. 

• Achieving income target from beds for 2014-15: This is always going to 

be a struggle with commissioners purchasing beds as they need and not 

taking a contract for a set number of beds.  We regularly market to 

Commissioners and invite them to our site to view the quality of our 

service for themselves. 

• Waiting list reduction for community teams: When we won the contract 

for our Harrow and Brent Community Teams we were funded to 

undertake work with the more complex of cases and to refer other less 

complex cases to mainstream services, which would help us to reduce the 

staffing base.  This has proved difficult and we carry all the cases that 

should be mainstreamed which has led to waiting lists being utilized, and 

the increase in Eligibility Assessments owing to increased demand on the 

teams and Behaviour Support Services. 

• Recruitment of learning disability service staff across our multi-

disciplinary teams is difficult when skilled staff are in short supply in some 

professional areas, however we regularly hold recruiting rounds for 

skilled staff and work with Universities to train and develop staff. 

 

 

53



 
 

39 
 

 

Mental Health Rehabilitation 

 

Service Director: David Dunkley 

Lead Consultant Psychiatrist: Dr Shirish Bhatkal 

 

Overview of services 

Mental health rehabilitation services provide treatment and support to 

service users in in-patient units to enable them to live more 

independently. The Trust provides in-patient services across north west  

London and also in Surrey at Horton Rehabilitation Services. The 

Placement Efficiency Programme supports service users placed in in-

patient units out of area and helps them to move on to more  

independent living nearer to home.  

 

Service user and carer feedback 

• The Horton service user council that had been running for several years 

with service user representation from different units has been replaced 

by a new model. This incorporates all service users at Horton who wish to 

attend, instead of representatives, which was not working well. It is run 

by an independent service user group and a programme is being set up 

for 2015-16. Each meeting has a theme identified by service users, and 

the facilitator draws up a list of recommendations at the end of the 

meeting for the management team to take forward. The first meeting in 

December 2014 went well, with discussions on medication and building 

relationships. 

• Placement Efficiency Programme: A recovery booklet has been 

produced, giving feedback from service users on how the work of the 

programme has empowered them and changed their lives. 

• Employment Programme: An article was written for Social Inclusion 

Journal last summer, in which four service users who were supported into 

work by the employment specialists gave feedback on the support they 

received and the hugely positive impact this has had on their mental 

health.  

 

Recent successes 

• We have developed a range of arts psychotherapies in inpatient 

rehabilitation units, by using honoraries and students under the 

supervision of qualified experienced therapists. The therapies are 

evidence based and popular with service users, and extend the range of 

treatments on offer in rehabilitation services. 

• Arts in health programmes: Experienced psychotherapists link with a 

group of volunteers to include rehabilitation service users in arts events, 

including gallery visits, a community choir, acting in short films, creating 

art works for public display. Many service users take part and find it very 

enjoyable, with a positive impact on their mental health. The programme 

continues and we aim to develop it further. 

• Placement Efficiency Programme: The programme has been working 

with six CCGs and community rehabilitation teams to facilitate service 

users moving on from in-patient to community placements and 

independent living. The programme has given hundreds of service users 

opportunities for more independent living and saved considerable public 

expenditure for commissioners. It has won two Health Service Journal 

Awards and has strong commissioning support. 

 

Service improvements 

• We are improving the inpatient rehabilitation pathway at Horton, by 

creating a controlled access unit for service users to step down more 

quickly from the locked wards, before moving to an open ward on the 

site. The unit opened in April 2015.  

• Digital inclusion programme includes Wikis – a multi-media application 

for service users to develop with their interests and goals. They can add 

music and pictures to the application, which will then be incorporated 

into the care planning process. 

• We are exploring the use of digital inclusion to facilitate rehabilitation in 

numerous ways, including calendars, reminders, self medication, social 

networking. There have been a series of service user workshops to 

develop this topic. 

54



 
 

40 
 

• Embedding the recovery approach in practice: There has been a 

programme of staff training and recovery workshops, in which all teams 

have developed their approach to recovery oriented practice. We have 

also created a supervision template in line with recovery principles. 

 

Challenges 

• Horton Rehabilitation Service is a large inpatient site with five units and 

98 beds. Staff retention is generally good, but due to a number of 

retirements in recent years, recruitment is a challenge. The service is 

based in a rural area in Surrey and not close to train services, which 

makes recruitment a challenge, particularly for qualified nurses. We 

advertise locally and nationally and often have recruitment initiatives. 

• Identifying suitable estate for a new service development: we have a 

proposal for a new rehabilitation service for 18-25 year olds, which would 

meet demand locally. Commissioners are keen on the proposal, but it is 

difficult to find the ideal site, which is small (5-6 beds), safe, comfortable 

and gives easy access to local communities – our search continues. 

• There is low take-up from service users in smoking cessation 

programmes. This will be a particular challenge when all NHS sites 

(including outdoor space) become smoke free. 

 
Our Chair, Prof. Dot Griffiths, and Service Director, David Dunkley 

Sexual Health services 

 

 

Service Director: Mark Maguire  

Clinical Director: Danielle Mercey 

 

Overview of services 

CNWL’s sexual health and HIV services include STI (sexually transmitted 

infection) testing and treatment, contraception, and HIV testing, 

treatment, and care. Our services are provided in 30 centres across 

London. Our three main centres are Mortimer Market Centre, Archway 

Centre and Margaret Pyke Centre. We also provide a range of specialist 

services such for young people, sex workers and outreach to gay men. 

 

 

Patient/carer feedback 

• Bloomsbury Patient Network: We have a small team of HIV patient 

representatives who run newly diagnosed courses, provide advice, 

support and signposting to patients who may be struggling with things 

like finances, accommodation or finding a supportive GP. There is also a 

programme of social and educational sessions planned throughout the 

year, for example on ‘faith and HIV’ or ‘growing older with HIV’. This 

service receives very positive feedback from our patients. (See 

(http://www.bloomsburynetwork.co.uk/ for more information) 

• Quick Feedback Cards: We also collect patient feedback from our quick 

feedback cards every quarter. Uptake is good with around a 40% 

response rate. Patients like this method of feedback as it is easy to use 

particularly if English is a second language as no writing is required. In 

quarter four 97% of patients reported that they would recommend our 

services to friends and family.  

• Margaret Pyke Centre (MPC) Patient Engagement: Last year our MPC 

patient forum was re-launched as a patient engagement forum, called 

Involved@MPC. Patients are invited to an education session on their 

sexual health, with refreshments and music. Interaction and feedback is 

55



 
 

41 
 

encouraged, and the forum now has over 100 members. Our first session 

was in June 2014 on the topic ‘Women and Sex: Myths and Realities’. 

 

Recent successes and improvements 

• We successfully won the re-tender of two of our services during 

2014/15: Brent SRH and Pan London Condom distribution.  

• Increasing HIV cohort: Since 1 April 2014 we have seen 438 new 

patients join the service. A key feature is that all our patients have access 

to patient representatives/advocates and the Patient Forum.  

• We have been commended by the GMC for the positive results of our 

national trainee survey. In particular the indicators around induction and 

local teaching were highlighted as a strong positive outlier.  

• Patient waiting times in clinic: We take our patient feedback seriously 

and know that clinic waiting times is important. As a result we now 

monitor how long patients wait, with long waits being investigated to 

identify cause and prevention measure. We saw a reduction from 11.8% 

in 2013-14 to 8.5% stating that they had waited too long in clinic. 

• Accessible Services: We offer quick check clinics for patients with no 

symptoms and are to implement early morning and late evening clinics at 

our Mortimer Market Centre, and Saturday Clinics at our Archway Centre. 

All our patients are able to access GUM (Genito-Urinary Medicine) 

services within 48 Hours.  

• Increase HIV Testing: While our HIV testing rates in our clinics is high, 

we are launching an initiative in April 2015: We plan to make HIV Home 

Testing kits (subject to BSI approval) and HIV Home Sampling kits 

available, through our Freedoms Shop website. 

 

Challenges 

• The recent introduction of our new electronic patient record system, 

Cellma, has presented some challenges which have impacted activity, 

appointment time and hence waiting times. We expect this to improve as 

the system beds in and implementation issues ironed out. 

• We know that integrated GUM & SRH (sexual and reproductive health) 

services are best for patients, providing one-stop-shop appointments: 

This is also the commissioning goal that many Local Authorities are taking. 

At present there are plans for an integrated tariff however until this is in 

place our funding arrangements present challenges in arranging services. 

• We have some concerns about our ability to maintaining 48 hour access 

for patients with some of the proposed changes to the commissioning 

environment.  

• Ensuring best value: We know that our commissioners are under 

pressure to reduce their spending and the tenders that are being 

published reflect this. We are working with our partners and 

commissioners to determine where we provide efficiencies to ensure that 

our services are competitive, yet meet the needs of our patients. 

 

56



 

42 
 

2.3. Our Quality Priorities for 2015-16 

  
In this section we describe the journey we have taken to develop 

and agree our Quality Priorities for the coming year. We include the 

rationale for their selection, and how we will measure, monitor and 

report on them. 

 

How we agreed our Quality Priorities for 2015-16 

 

We agreed our Quality Priorities for next year based on wide 

consultation and engagement with our stakeholders. Workshops 

with patients, carers, Carers Council, staff, our Governors, 

Healthwatch, commissioners, lead GPs and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees where held from January to March 2015.  

 

The starting point for our consultation workshops was to present 

and consider: 

• Our Organisational Learning Themes; which are key themes 

from our complaints, claims, incidents, and PALS; cross 

referenced with our patient and carer feedback and key 

audits  

• Performance against current indicators 

• Feedback from our patient, carer and staff surveys 

• Findings from our internal and external reviews of CQC 

compliance 

• Our CNWL Annual Plan  

 

Based on the discussion and common themes that emerged from 

these initial events, Quality Priorities are drafted. These are then 

presented for further consultation and refining at our ‘all 

stakeholder’ consultation event. This half-day event was held on 

Thursday, 5 March 2015 and attended by over 60 delegates 

representing our stakeholder groups. Each attendee had the 

opportunity to feedback their views, share personal insights and 

network with peers. The event received positive feedback and we 

thank all those who participated. 

 

Consultation: Key messages 

 

Through our consultation programme the following key principles 

were agreed for the next year’s Quality Priorities. The priorities 

should: 

• Be written in the patient’s voice to be easily ‘accessible’ and 

understandable to all 

• Cover no more than three areas to ensure focus and 

embedding of key quality improvements 

• Focus were possible on outcomes and experiences 

• Be relevant to local boroughs and services 

 

Feedback from our individual stakeholder events provided initial 

direction for the development of the Quality Priorities. Based on 

this, the following three draft Quality Priorities were presented at 

the ‘all stakeholder’ consultation event for further refining:  

• Helping our patients to recover by involving them in their 

care or treatment with the support of carers 

• Strengthening our learning culture  

• Integrated physical and mental healthcare 

 

After debate and feedback, it was strongly felt that the essence of 

each of these was imperative, interdependent and that a 

combination of these should be taken forward under the 

overarching heading of “Effective Care and Treatment Planning”. 

57



 
 

43 
 

 

We agreed on considering the ‘Triangle of Care - Carers included
3
’: 

to ask both patients and carers their opinions on care plan or 

treatment involvement and effectiveness. 

 

To measure this we will build on the success of last year’s patients 

telling us they felt involved in their care or treatment, and so we 

will continue to measure this. However, to develop this further, the 

next step is to assess the effectiveness of the care or treatment 

plan.  

                                            
3
 http://www.rcn.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/549063/Triangle_of_Care_-

_Carers_Included_Sept_2013.pdf 

 

Our three draft Quality Priority 2015-16 measures are: 

 

Quality Priority 2015-16:  

Effective Care and Treatment Planning 

Measure Roll-

forward or 

new 

measure 

Target 

2015-16 

Collection 

method 

1 Patients report feeling 

definitely involved as much 

as they wanted to be in 

decisions about their care 

or treatment 

Roll-

forward 

65% 

increased 

to 75% 

Patient 

survey 

2 Patients report their care or 

treatment plan helped 

them achieve their 

personal health or daily 

living goals 

New 

Baseline 

target to 

be set at 

first 

survey 

Patient 

survey 

3 Carers report that they felt 

appropriately involved in 

the care or treatment 

planning for their loved one 

New 

Baseline 

target to 

be set at 

first 

survey 

Carer 

survey 

 

These questions will be followed up with questions asking for the 

main reason for patients’ or carers’ responses, to inform the 

improvement action we take.  

 

It was agreed that strengthening our learning culture should be 

taken forward along-side this and implemented as part of business 

58



 
 

44 
 

as usual, and progress reported in the next Quality Account. We 

have already developed and are now rolling-out and implementing 

our new Learning Guide. 

 

Above all, we will continue to monitor and report our patient and 

staff satisfaction of our services as our overarching indicator of care 

quality, via the Friends and Family test question:  

 

Patients/staff who report that they would recommend CNWL 

services to their family or friends if they needed similar care or 

treatment. 

 

 

Our other performance measures 

It is important to note that other indicators, although not Quality 

Priorities, will be monitored to support our Effective Care and 

Treatment Planning goal. For example: risk assessments which are 

reflected in care/treatment plans; CPA care plans reviewed at least 

every 12 months; physical healthcare assessments completed; 

mental health patients report getting enough care for the physical 

health; and community health patients report getting enough care 

for their mental health and wellbeing needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.3.1. Monitoring and sharing how we perform 

 
Reporting our performance and achieving our targets 

 

The measuring and monitoring of the clinical safety, effectiveness 

and experience of our patients, carers and staff is a top priority.  

 

This work is monitored and scrutinised by the Quality and 

Performance Committee (chaired by a non-executive director, and 

made up of executive and other non-executive directors) and the 

Operations Board (chaired by the Chief Operating Officer), who in 

turn provide assurance and recommendation to the Board of 

Directors.  

 

This year CNWL has undergone a restructure from service lines to 

three divisions, Jameson, Goodall and Diggory. Divisions are 

borough and specialist service based. This means better accountability 

and better, closer local relationships with our local public, commissioners, 

local authorities, Healthwatch and other local health partners. It also 

facilitates a more integrated patient care pathway.  

 

The ultimate aim of the restructure is to enhance the quality and 

safety of care for the patient and those who care for or support 

them. 

 

Divisions have the responsibility to monitor and report on their key 

performance indicators and put in place improvement action where 

necessary. This is overseen by monthly Divisional Boards, which 

report to the Executive Board. 

 

59



 
 

45 
 

The Quality and Performance Committee, Operations Board and 

divisions have a variety of tools and information streams to 

effectively triangulate intelligence, and monitor and facilitate their 

achievement of safe and high quality services. For example:  

 

• Integrated dashboard:  

Our Quality Priorities, historic priorities and other indicators 

of quality include both quantitative and qualitative 

indicators. This enhances the richness of the intelligence we 

collect and enables us to put in place focused and informed 

action plans for improvement.  

 

To achieve this, our data is collected from automatic 

reporting from our information systems (such as Datix 

Web), clinical audit, patient and carer telephone and postal 

survey, focus groups and listening events. This information 

is collected on a monthly and quarterly basis and a reported 

via the Trust’s Integrated Dashboard. For further 

triangulation, the dashboard also includes achievements 

against Monitor, HR, CQUIN and financial measures, and is 

broken down by service line and borough. Where targets 

are missed action plans are put in place and progress 

monitored in the following report.  

 

• Organisational learning: 

As already described, we also actively compare, analyse and 

triangulate the messages from our incidents, complaints, 

claims, PALS, audits and surveys to produce organisational 

learning themes. These themes are used to inform action 

plans with executive leads to ensure improvements in the 

areas identified, and are used to inform the Quality Account 

Priorities for the next year. This work is undertaken by the 

Organisational Learning Group. 

 

• Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) standards and Intelligent 

Monitoring: 

We monitor our compliance against the CQC’s regulations, 

reporting on this quarterly via an on-line self assessment 

tool. The CQC have also introduced a new way in which they 

assess, monitor and rate health and social care services. We 

are in the process to adjusting our internal assessments to 

reflect the CQC’s new approach, known as Key Lines of 

Enquiry or KLOEs. These cover five domains by asking if 

services are safe, effective, responsive, caring and well-led. 

Our quarterly self-assessments will be validated through an 

annual programme of peer review. This is also a good way 

to share learning and innovation across services.  

 

We also monitor our performance against the CQC’s 

Intelligent Monitoring tool. This tool includes a number of 

key performance indicators which benchmarks the Trust 

against national average for similar Trusts or set targets. The 

outcome, once a quarter, is a Trust risk banding from 1 

(highest risk) to 4 (lowest risk). The banding is not a 

judgment of the quality or safety of our services, but helps 

the CQC programme their inspections and its focus. 

 

At the time of printing CNWL was ‘unbanded’ due to the 

CQC’s full, planned inspection of our services in February 

and March 2015.  

 

60



 
 

46 
 

Although the full outcome of the inspection will only be 

known in June 2015, improvement action plans have 

already been put in place for areas highlighted in their initial 

verbal feedback.   

 

• Service Improvement and Special Measures Programme: 

Where we hear frequent messages or “noise” in the system 

from a variety of sources about a particular site or team, we 

instigate an initial assessment to determine whether there 

are fundamental or systemic issues which require further 

detailed investigation and improvement. If it is agreed that 

further action needs to be taken we deploy a level of 

response that appropriate to the seriousness of the issues 

found. 

 

Our service improvement intervention has three levels: 

Level 1 warrants local management and reporting to resolve 

issues; Level 2 is an executive-led Accelerated Service 

Improvement Programme (ASIP); and Level 3, where 

systemic failings are found, requires a Board monitored 

Special Measures Programme. 

 

Benchmarking 

 

We are a member of the NHS Benchmarking Network. The 

network’s purpose is to perform nationwide comparisons, or 

benchmarking, across all mental health and community services 

across a variety of performance measures, such as ‘re-admission 

rates’ for example. 

 

We are also a member of Prescribing Observatory for Mental 

Health (POMH-UK), and partakes in their national programme of 

audits focussing on medication and side effect monitoring. CNWL is 

benchmarked against all other similar participating Trusts, as well 

as able to assess improvements since the previous audit. 

Participation and performance monitoring is carried out by the 

Medicines Management Group (MMG), with actions for 

improvement agreed and implemented by our services.  

 

Partnerships 

 

We value the support, partnerships and conversation with both our 

internal and external stakeholders in our joint quest to provide the 

best services possible to the patient and carer. On a regular basis 

throughout the year we meet with our Healthwatch, our Council of 

Governors and key commissioners to report on our quality and 

safety progress, facilitating presentations on key topics as 

requested, and gaining valuable feedback for action. 

 

  

61



 
 

47 
 

2.4. Statements relating to the quality of NHS services provided 

 
Review of services  

 

During 2014-15 CNWL provided and/or sub-contracted seven 

healthcare services.  

 

These included: 

• Mental health (including 

adult, older adult,  CAMHS, 

and forensic services) 

• Offender care services 

• Sexual health/HIV Services 

• Community physical health 

services (Camden, 

Hillingdon and Milton 

Keynes 

• Eating disorder services 

• Learning disabilities services 

• Addiction services 

 

CNWL has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of 

care in all of these healthcare services. 

 

The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2014-15 

represents 100% of the total income generated from the provision 

of NHS services by CNWL for 2014-15. 

 

Participation in clinical audit  

 

During 2014-15, 4 national clinical audits and 1 national 

confidential enquiry covered NHS services that CNWL provides. 

 

During that period, CNWL participated in 100% of the national 

clinical audits and national confidential enquiries which it was 

eligible to participate in. 

 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that 

CNWL was eligible to participate in during 2014-15 are as follows:  

 

• National Audit of Intermediate Care (NAIC) 

• Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) 

• National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 

Audit Programme 

• Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (POMH) 

• Mental Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme: 

National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide for 

People with Mental Illness 

 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that 

CNWL participated in during 2014-15 are as follows: 

 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that 

CNWL participated in, and for which data collection was completed 

during 2014-15, are listed below alongside the number of cases 

submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number 

of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry. 

National Confidential Enquiry / 

National Audit 
Cases submitted 

National Confidential Inquiry 

(NCI) into Suicide and Homicide 

by People with Mental Illness 

(NCI/NCISH) 

97.4% (for period January 2008 

to January 2014) 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit 

Programme (SSNAP) 

Services in Camden and 

Hillingdon participated in this 

audit.  Data inputting is still 

underway in Camden. 

62



 
 

48 
 

Prescribing in mental health 

services (POMH): 

• Prescribing for substance 

misuse: Alcohol 

detoxification 

• Prescribing for people 

with a personality 

disorder 

• Antipsychotic prescribing 

in people with a learning 

disability 

No set number required - audit 

sample determined by Trust: 

• 75 cases 

 

• 228 cases 

 

• Data collection currently 

in progress 

National Audit of Intermediate 

Care (NAIC) 

The Trust submitted 173 cases.  

No set number is required. 

National Chronic Obstructive 

Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit 

Programme 

Data collection is currently in 

progress 

 

The reports of 7 national clinical audits were reviewed by the 

provider in 2014-15 and CNWL intends to take the following actions 

to improve the quality of healthcare provided: 

 

• National Audit of Intermediate Care: Results have been 

discussed in the teams and an action plan put in place.  In 

Hillingdon, the plan includes action in relation to providing 

contact details to patients, involving patients in decisions 

about discharge from care, and discussing with patients 

whether they need any further health or social care 

services.  In Milton Keynes, they identified a need for 

psychological screening in the assessment tool and have 

implemented this.  They also merged two teams to manage 

patient flow and reduce duplication. 

 

• Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP):  The 

Trust does not receive organisation / service level data from 

this audit and therefore an action plan is not required.  

  

• Prescribing in mental health services (POMH-UK):  The 

Trust received audit reports for the following POMH UK 

topics during 2013/14: Prescribing for substance misuse, 

alcohol detoxification; Prescribing for people with a 

personality disorder; Prescribing anti-dementia drugs; Use 

of antipsychotic medication in CAMHS.  The results of the 

audits were disseminated to the participating teams, and 

discussed in relevant quality and performance meetings. 

 

• National Audit of Schizophrenia: the Trust has discussed 

and disseminated the results of the audit and is developing 

an action plan. 

 

The reports of approximately 130 local clinical audits were 

reviewed by the provider in 2014/15 and CNWL intends to take the 

following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided: 

 

Local quality governance structures are in place across the 

organisation to monitor, and take action on the results of audits. 

Through these groups, the results of clinical audit reports are 

discussed, and any actions required to improve practice are 

identified.  Some examples are given below: 

 

 

63



 
 

49 
 

Lipo Audit in Diabetes Team  

The purpose of the audit was to see how many patients had sites of 

lipohypertrophy (lipos), as research shows that patients who 

continue to inject in lipo sites can have erratic blood glucose levels.  

58% of the patients audited were found to have lipo sites.  The 

audit also found that it was harder to find these sites than 

anticipated.  The audit also found that some patients had been 

injecting for many years and were using the older style needles.  

The newer needles are found to be both more efficient to user and 

have cost benefits. 

 

Actions:  Education of both nursing staff and patients; patients to 

be asked what type of needles they were using; staff to regularly 

check patients and reiterate the importance of rotating sites; 

patient’s info leaflets and tools for nurses to aid nurses to find lipo 

sites to be researched.  

 

Management of Allergic conditions in schools 

This was a re-audit.  Its purpose was to find out how many children 

within Hillingdon Schools suffer from allergies, how many required 

medication in school and number that had a treatment plan.  Its 

purpose was also to see how many schools had a policy in place as 

required, how medication was stored and whether there was 

annual training provided in the schools.  The audit found an 

improvement in the number of schools with a policy over the 

previous year. Although improvements were shown, and more 

schools involved in the audit, not all schools had a policy.  All 

schools participating were provided with education by the team.   

 

Actions: Schools without a policy to be offered a policy outline; 

ensure all schools keep medication unlocked; for all patients who 

require it to have a care plan; offer annual training/information 

session to each school 

 

MOSAIC Complex Feeding Clinic  

The purpose of the audit is to seek improvements through therapy 

for children with feeding difficulties.  Two referrals were received in 

the third quarter of 2014-2015 with “restricted diet” and/or “food 

aversions” as the main reasons for referral.   Both children made 

progress in therapy; however they continued to have difficulties 

managing a range different food textures (e.g. wet foods). They will 

be invited for a second block on intervention in clinic. Following this 

block of intervention both parents will be asked to re-rate the 

Eating Behaviour Questionnaire 

 

Actions: The audit is to continue to be run on a quarterly basis; the 

MOSAIC Feeding Clinic has also taken part in other activities to 

support service development and continuing professional 

development; in November 2014, The MOSAIC Feeding Clinic team 

presented at the International Feeding Disorders Conference, at the 

Institute of Child Health.  

 

District Nursing Care Records 

This was a qualitative re-audit which looked at the record 

keeping, in particular the quality of care planning, of the District 

Nursing team; the previous audit was conducted in March 2013 

and the District Nursing service had produced updated 

documentation following the findings of the 2013 audit. 

 

Actions: The area of recording practice saw much improvement 

where 100% of records reviewed were signed and dated, and 

100% of uploaded documents presented were legible and 

64



 
 

50 
 

contemporaneous.  The service have now developed an 

evaluation booklet ensuring that the NHS number only needs to 

be captured once – it will then be replicated automatically on 

each page.  A service specific list of abbreviations is also being 

produced to compliment the Trust list. 

 

Types of restoration placed in deciduous teeth under general 

anaesthesia 

This audit took place within Bucks Priority Dental Services with 

the aim being to ensure that practice complied with UK National 

Clinical Guidelines in Paediatric Dentistry (which states that “A 

primary tooth restored under GA should be expected to 

exfoliate naturally without failure” and “Preformed metal 

crowns (PMCs) are the most predictable and durable 

restorations for anything but the smallest of carious lesions in 

primary molars”). 

 

Actions: Areas of good practice were found where preformed 

metal crowns were regularly used, the continued practice and 

importance of using PMCs was and continues to be emphasised. 

The practice of recording/justifying why PMCs were not being 

used/placed was introduced. 

 

Audit of electronic discharge notification forms (eDNF) 

The aim of this audit was to determine whether adequate 

communication of information with GPs is achieved on discharge 

from services. In 97% (n=199) of cases, eDNF were completed 

accurately and sent to the GP within 24 hours of discharge from 

services. In the 3% (n=6) of non-compliant cases, 5 were 

completed, however they were not sent within 24 hours and 1 was 

missed due to the case being closed on the electronic system 

before the eDNF was completed.  

 

Actions: If the Specialty doctor is on leave, the North Westminster 

Home Treatment Team (NWHTT) must request the duty doctor to 

complete a notification of discharge. If the duty doctor refuses, it 

needs to be documented in the service users’ electronic system. 

The reasons for late completion need to be recorded. Pharmacist 

always must save the finalised eDNF version in the documents 

section of the service users electronic system. Any information 

imported from previous eDNF must be adequately amended and 

needs to be reflecting accurate admission and discharges dates.  

Before closing service users cases on electronic system, all NWHTT 

staff need to ensure the eDNF was completed.  

 

Audit of care plans sent to patients under Lead Professional Care 

(LPC) 

The aim of this audit was to investigate whether patients under the 

care of an older adult Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) and 

under Lead Professional Care (LPC) were receiving a care plan. To 

also assess the time it takes from assessment to the patient being 

sent a copy of their care plan.  Only 52% of cases showed evidence 

of service users receiving a copy of their care plan. This was 

significantly below the standard of 100%. The most common 

recorded reasons for not sending a care plan were because the 

content would upset/distress the patient or the patient lacked 

capacity to understand their treatment plan. Whilst it was 

considered that these are adequate reasons not to show service 

users a letter that contained their full review, this should not stop 

them from receiving a care plan. Therefore this is an area which 

needs improvement in, for both education to staff that all service 

65



 
 

51 
 

users should receive a care plan, and that there should be a way of 

providing the care plan to patients without causing distress or 

disengagement.  

  

Actions: Develop a simple care plan letter to send to patients under 

LPC, who aren’t included in correspondence with the GP.  

 

Physical health monitoring amongst inpatients 

The aim of this audit was to investigate whether physical health 

monitoring is routinely completed and documented for the 

inpatients admitted to adult psychiatric wards. 100% of all 

inpatients audited had evidence of a physical examination being 

completed during their current admission period. Only 52% of cases 

had their examination recorded on the Trust standardised Medical 

Examination. Results showed that medical examinations were 

alternatively recorded in the progress notes (92%) or scanned into 

their electronic record (8%) 

 

Actions: All physical health examinations/attempts to be recorded 

on the JADE Medical Examination Form. All doctors on induction 

should be informed that all physical health examinations/attempts 

must be recorded on the Medical Examination Form.  

 

Hearing & vision assessment for children undergoing an 

assessment of special educational needs (re-audit) 

Sensory impairments can impact a child’s ability to access the 

school curriculum.  Hearing and vision assessment is 

recommended in all children undergoing an assessment of 

special educational needs unless there is documented evidence 

of assessment in the preceding 12 months.  The aim of the audit 

was to assess current coverage. 

 

Actions: Part of the recommendations was to raise awareness 

amongst clinicians and support staff of the need for vision and 

hearing assessments and the referral pathways, this included 

raising such awareness through the local trainee induction 

programme.  The team also introduced a documented ‘prompt’ 

system to ensure referrals are sent and results chased. 

 

A&E CAMHS Admissions 

The aim of this audit was to review the number of children and 

adolescents (under 18 years of age) referred to CAMHS via A&E 

over a three month period and establish whether current 

practice was in accordance with NICE guidelines (which states 

CAMHS referrals to be seen within 24 hours and a safe place 

provided until assessment complete), in addition to performing 

a Service Evaluation. 

 

Actions: All patients were seen within 24 hours of appropriate 

referral, and remained in hospital during this period which 

demonstrated that practice was consistent with NICE guidelines.  

One of the main recommendations from the audit was to ensure 

appropriate CAMHS staffing levels overnight and ensure that a 

copy of the CAMHS proforma is retained in the medical record. 

 

Comparison of ASTI Referrals (referral to treatment times) 

The aim of the audit was to establish baseline for length of time 

from referral to being seen for core assessment; length of time 

from core assessment to discussion at meeting; length of time 

from discussion at meeting to medical review and to establish 

where in the pathway delay is occurring, in order to develop 

strategies to reduce the delay. 

66



 
 

52 
 

 

Actions: Patients were being seen within the recommended 

time, but there was a wait, both for the initial appointment for 

core assessment and then a further wait for patients who 

required a medical review.  The wait for medical appointments 

was significantly altering the time that patients were being seen.  

The assessment process was changed with core assessments 

taking place at 9:30am followed by multidisciplinary meetings at 

10:30am.  Doctors in the team then had free slots in the late 

morning to review patients seen that morning.  This reduced the 

wait for medical appointments and meant patients were seen 

faster for medical review. 

 

BASHH (British Association for Sexual Health and HIV) National 

Herpes Simplex Audit 

The aim of this audit was to assess the quality of the management 

of Herpes Simplex in the UK; locally the service used the audit to 

specifically look at herpes testing performance. The audit was 

undertaken against the National Herpes Simplex Guidelines and 

audit standards. National standard for diagnosis of primary genital 

herpes is; ‘patients presenting to sexual health clinics in the UK 

with suspected primary genital herpes should have the diagnosis 

confirmed by molecular tests’ with the target being 100%. National 

performance in the 2014 BASHH Audit was 94.8% with 

performance at CNWL GUM (Genito-Urinary Medicine) Clinic hitting 

100%. 

 

 

 

 

 

Research  

The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided 

or sub-contracted by CNWL in 2014-15 that were recruited during 

that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics 

committee was 2099.  
Throughout the year, the Trust has been involved in 63 studies. Of 

these: 

• 55 were funded 

• 8 were unfunded 

• 1 was a commercial trial. 

Goals agreed by commissioners 

A proportion of CNWL’s income in 2014-15 was conditional on 

achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed 

between CNWL and any person or body they entered into a 

contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHS 

services, through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

(CQUIN) payment framework. 

 

Further details of the agreed goals for 2014-15 and for the 

following 12 month period are available electronically at 

www.cnwl.nhs.uk. 

 

Last year (2013-14) CNWL achieved 96% of its CQUIN goals, 

securing CQUIN income of £5.14million against a target of 

£5.35million – a loss of £207,000. 

 

For 2014-15, CNWL’s CQUIN income equates to £4.34million (minus 

the £1.75million re-purposed funds – see below). Achievement 

against this is expected to be £3million or 70%. This remains 

unconfirmed at the time of printing and will be reported next year. 

67



 
 

53 
 

 

The new commissioning landscape has given rise to an immediate, 

material and significant increase in the complexity of processes to 

agree and monitor CQUINs. As a result, the transactional costs of 

delivering CQUINs have increased significantly. 

 

Difficult contract negotiations mean that we will not be paid for 

North West London CQUINs for the six months of 2014-15 before 

the contract was signed. The CQUINs were delivered and the 

benefits of them were realised for patients, but against 50% of the 

income planned against them. This equates to £1.75million which 

has been re-purposed for projects that are in line with the 

transformation agenda for the financial year 2015-16.   

 

The key aim of the CQUIN framework is to support improvements 

in the quality of services and the creation of new, improved 

patterns of care. The following are a few examples of where the 

2014-15 CQUINs have resulted in positive change for CNWL. 

• NCL Camden:  tbc% of clinicians have been trained to date 

in how to screen patients for alcohol, exceeding the 50% 

target.  This has led to tbc% of patients being screened for 

alcohol use. 

• In HIV services % of patients have been able to be treated 

through telemedicine.  The quarter 4 patient satisfaction 

survey showed that tbc% of those  

• Reduction of pressure ulcers 

• In Milton Keynes a reduction of negative responses by tbc% 

over the year. 

• In Camden more than tbc% of patients who are smokers 

were offered brief advice and Nicotine Replacement 

Therapy is now being offered to all those who are identified 

as smokers. 

• In North West London Mental health the quarter 4 audit 

showed that tbc% of young people who have had a planned 

discharge CPA at the Tier 4 unit will have a follow-up by the 

community CAMH service within 7 days of discharge. 

CQC Reviews of Compliance 

 

CNWL is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its 

current registration status is ‘unconditional registration’. CNWL has no 

conditions on its registration. 

  

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action 

against CNWL during 2014-15. 

 

CNWL has participated in special reviews or investigations by the Care 

Quality Commission relating to the following areas during 2014-15: 

See table below for details of the Trust locations inspected by the 

CQC. 

 

CNWL intends to take the following action to address the conclusions 

or requirements reported by the CQC: The Trust is committed to 

delivering high quality care and immediate action is taken to address 

any concerns raised by the CQC. Robust action plans are in place 

where required and the Trust reports back progress to the CQC.  

 

CNWL has made the following progress by 31st March 2014 in taking 

such action: See table below for details of the Trust’s response to CQC 

inspections. 

 

 

68



 
 

54 
 

CQC Reviews of Compliance: 

Location Outcome of Review Progress with actions 

HMP 

Winchester 

Fully compliant with CQC 

Essential Standards assessed.  

The service was initially 

deemed non-compliant with 

one standard (care and 

welfare) but the CQC 

amended this in September 

2014 stating that the 

compliance action was 

disproportionate. 

None required 

The 

Campbell 

Centre 

This was a re-inspection of 

the Campbell Centre.  The 

warning notices received 

during the previous 

inspection visit were lifted.  

Compliance action required 

for one standard (Records).   

A Special Measures 

Programme was initiated at 

the Campbell Centre from 

April 2013 and significant 

investment has been made 

as part of CNWL’s 

commitment to improve 

the patient and carer 

experience.  The Special 

Measures Programme 

oversees a detailed action 

plan put in place to address 

the compliance issues 

identified by the CQC. 

Buckingha

mshire 

Dental 

Services 

Fully compliant with CQC 

Essential Standards assessed 

None required 

3 Beatrice 

Place 

This was a re-inspection.  

The warning notices received 

during the previous 

The Trust has an action 

plan in place to address the 

compliance issues 

inspection visit were lifted.  

Compliance action required 

for one standard (Care and 

treatment).  

identified by the CQC 

inspection. This action plan 

forms part of the 

Accelerated Service 

Improvement Programme 

(ASIP) which was already in 

place to oversee and 

monitor progress in 

addressing the issues 

identified by the CQC. 

St Charles 

Mental 

Health Unit 

This was a re-inspection.  

Compliance action required 

for three standards (consent 

to care and treatment; care 

and welfare; assessing and 

monitoring the quality of 

service provision). 

The Trust has an action 

plan in place to address the 

issues identified by the 

CQC inspection.   

 

 

Data quality 

 

NHS number and General Medical Practice Code Validity            

CNWL submitted records during 2014-15 to the Secondary Uses service 

for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the 

latest published data. The percentage of records in the published data 

which included the patient’s valid NHS number was (at month 11): 

 

• 95.2% for admitted patient care; 

• 98.9% for out-patient care; and 

• N/A for accident and emergency care. 

 

The percentage of records in the published data which included the 

patient’s valid General Medical Practice code was (at month 11): 

69



 
 

55 
 

• 100% for admitted patient care; 

• 100% for out-patient care; and 

• N/A for accident and emergency care. 

 

Information Governance Toolkit attainment level 

CNWL Information Governance Toolkit score for 2014-15 was 86% and 

was graded green (satisfactory), meaning that the organisation achieved 

at least level 2 in all the requirements. 

  
CNWL will be taking the following actions to improve data quality:  

•         Monitor progress across Divisions against nationally set measures 

and provide a holistic view of services covered including HR, 

Finance, Quality and Performance via the Divisional Integrated 

Dashboard, 

•         Continue with DQ (the Trust’s business intelligence system) reports 

daily to support the business’s ability to audit and validate reports 

against the clinical systems and provide assurances to relevant 

stakeholders, 

•         Highlight anomalies in data via scorecards to improve the quality of 

data, positively impacting reporting, 

•         Continue to engage and consult across services to produce/update 

business rules using national guidance to ensure standardization 

and compliance, 

•         Use internal and external benchmarking information to monitor 

data quality and support improvement. Participate in national 

benchmarking work, such as the NHS Benchmarking Network, to 

ensure favourable comparison with leading mental health and 

community service providers, 

• Publish reports monthly on the intranet against the MHMDS 

published reports and benchmark performance against national 

average and other London Trusts. 

 

 

Clinical coding error rate 

CNWL was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit 

during 2014-15 by the Audit Commission. 

70



 

56 
 

Part 3 – Other information 
 
3.1. Our performance against national priorities and Quality Priorities – current and historic 

 

The following section describes how we have performed against indicators required by Monitor (our regulator), the Operating Framework for the NHS in 

England, and our previous years’ Quality Priorities which we continue to monitor and report on. 

 

The indicators are grouped as per the three quality dimensions of patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient and carer experience as per Lord Darzi’s 

High Quality Care for All report.  

 

Tables 3.1.1 to 3.1.3 below present these indicators by year-on-year achievement and comparisons with national averages (where available). Tables 3.2.1 to 

3.2.3 that follow present results broken down by borough and specialist services where possible. 

 

For easy identification, this year’s Quality Priorities are highlighted in purple.  

 

 

3.1.1 Patient Safety 

               

Measure 
Data 

Source 
Target 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 

Benchmark (where 

available): National 

average;  and highest 

and lowest scores 

1. CPA 7-day 

follow-up 

What percentage of our patients, who are 

on Care Programme Approach, did we 

contact within seven days of them leaving 

the hospital? (YTD M11) 

Clinical 

system 

scan 

95% 

 

 

97.1% 96.1%  97% 95.2% 

 National Avg: 77% 

National Max: 100%; 

 National Min: 24%  

 

2. Risk 

assessment 

and 

management 

What percentage of mental health 

inpatients have had a risk assessment 

completed and linked to their care plans?* 

(Q4; n=194) 

Internal 

audit 
95% 87% 92%  92% 96%  Not available 

71



 
 

57 
 

Measure 
Data 

Source 
Target 

 

 

2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 

Benchmark (where 

available): National 

average;  and highest 

and lowest scores 

3. Infection 

control 

a. The number of cases of MRSA (MRSA 

bacteraemia) annually (YTD M12) 

Internal 

database 

Year on 

year 

reduction 

0 0 0  0  Not available 

b. The number of cases of Clostridium 

Difficile annually (YTD M12) 

Internal 

database 

Year on 

year 

reduction 

 
 

5 2 0   0 Not available  

4. Patient 

safety 

Mental health patients reported that they 

felt safe during their most recent inpatient 

stay # (YTD; n=505) 

Patient 

survey 
75% 

 

 

86% 80% 79% 75% Not available 

5. Access in a 

crisis 

a. Community mental health patients 

report that they have a phone number to 

call in a crisis**  (Q4; n=533)                                                                                                                            

Patient 

survey 
65% 

 

 

85% 75% 75% 72% 68%^  

b. Patients report that they received the 

help they wanted from the CNWL urgent 

advice line when they contacted them 

**+(YTD M12; n=325) 

Patient 

survey 
75% 

 

 

75% 

 

 

84% 

 

85% 44% 78%^ 

6. Incidents 

a. Number of patient safety incidents for 

the reporting period (01/04/14 - 

17/03/15);  

Datix 

scan  
N/A 17816 15,702 11,622  10,924  Not available  

b. Percent of patient safety incidents  

that resulted in severe harm or death 

Datix 

scan  
N/A 123 (0.69%) 

113 (0.71%) 

 

92 (0.79%) 

 

107 (0.98%) 

 
 Not available 

72



 
 

58 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Key: 

^ Source: Quality Health 2014 NHS community mental health service user survey  

* This was a QP for 2009/10 

** This was a QP for 2010/11                                                                                                                           

# This was a QP for 2011/12  

+ This was a QP for 2012/13 

“n=” denotes total sample size 

“YTD M12” denotes year to date at month 12 

“Q4” denotes results at quarter four 

 
 
 

Measure 1 CPA 7-day follow up: Evidence suggests that people with mental health problems are particularly vulnerable in the period immediately after 

they have been discharged from a mental health inpatient ward. This measure is in place to ensure our patients remain safe and have their needs cared for 

after discharge from hospital to community care, and reduce risk of relapse or incident. We are pleased to report that, year to date, 97.1% of CPA cases 

received a follow-up contact within seven days of discharge, achieving the target. CNWL considers that this percentage is as described for the following 

reasons: Performance is monitored locally on a daily basis via the Trusts’ Business Intelligence Systems which reports all discharges so that local business 

teams can track patients who have or have not been followed up. Clinicians are alerted to those patients requiring follow up, so that they are able to take 

focussed and informed action. The CPA policy supports operational delivery of follow up contacts, and the business rules are published and shared across 

the Trust to ensure data captured is representative of activity. This indicator is also published monthly via an internal integrated dashboard, which is 

reported to the Quality and Performance Committee. CNWL has taken these actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of its services, and will 

continue to do so through the coming year to aid compliance.  

 

Measure 2 Risk assessment and management: This measure aims to ensure that a risk assessment has been completed and that any issues highlighted are 

directly addressed in the patient’s care plan. This is to ensure the patient’s ongoing safety and management of any risk issues. This was achieved in 87% of 

cases audited for quarter four, missing the target. This is an increase from quarter three. Those teams who have not achieved this target are currently 

putting in place action plans which will be detailed in the final version of the Quality Account. We will continue to closely monitor and report on this 

indicator next year. 

 

Measure 3 Infection control: We have a duty to ensure that our patients do not get any healthcare acquired infections whilst in contact with our services. 

At year end we are pleased to report that we achieved no MRSA bacteraemia cases, however we have had three cases of Clostridium difficile cases within 

our Milton Keynes services and two within our Camden services. CNWL considers this data is as described for the following reasons: CNWL considers the 

data valid because the results are reported by laboratories with the appropriate accreditation. CNWL intends to take the following actions to improve this 

number, and so the quality of its services, by on-going antimicrobial stewardship, as well as the development and implementation of a defined Clostridium 

difficile risk assessment tool. Further, root cause analysis is undertaken in every case of Clostridium difficile toxin detection to ascertain if the infection 

occurred on or after the fourth day of admission (day of admission being day 1), and actions put in place as appropriate. 

73



 
 

59 
 

Measure 4 Patient safety:  

It is important to understand our mental health patients’ sense of safety on the ward. This impacts on their care experience and satisfaction of our services. 

We are pleased that we have seen an upward trajectory over recent years from 75% in 2011/12 to 86% in 2014-15, and achieve the target. This represents 

a cumulative result of all the surveys that took place throughout this year due to relatively low numbers in each individual in survey. While we are proud of 

our performance in this area, we feel this is a key indicator to maintain at all times and so will continue to focus on this measure next year. 

 

Measure 5 Access in a crisis:  

We want to monitor that our community patients have a phone number to call in a crisis to ensure they get help when they need it most. We have seen an 

upward year on year movement of this result, achieving 85% at quarter four (based on 533 responses), exceeding the national average of 68%. This has 

been due to our development of CNWL’s Argent Advice Line (UAL) number and distribution of our crisis cards and care plan folders to our mental health 

patients, including those in Milton Keynes.  

 

We also want to ensure that patients who access the UAL get the help or support that they need. The UAL is largely a sign-posting service, and a central 

point where patients can go when in urgent need of advice, information or the arrangement of urgent follow-up care by care coordinators, or even 

immediate ambulance services. The UAL also deals with calls from police and GPs, and provide the support and information to keep patients as safe as 

possible out of hours. Across the year we surveyed 325 callers, and 75% stated that they definitely or to some extent got the help they wanted from the line 

(slightly below national average). As it is a sign-posting service, and patients would not get the help they needed directly from the UAL, but rather from the 

onward service, we measure those who state they ‘definitely’ and ‘to some extent’ got the help they wanted. We will continue to monitor and act on 

feedback (based on the reasons people gave for their responses), and will report on this measure next year. 

 

Measure 6 Incidents: We take reported incidents very seriously at CNWL. We have an electronic reporting system to support the positive reporting culture 

we have within the organisation. This is currently being integrated with existing systems to form one system, thus allowing greater and easier visibility of 

incidents across the Trust. Incidents are graded, analysed and, where required, undergo a root cause analysis investigation to inform actions, 

recommendations and learning. The Trust has formed a Serious Incidents Investigation Team that undertakes investigations and provides specialist advice 

and guidance to investigating teams. The Trust has a quarterly Incidents and Serious Incident Group who review relevant information and data before it is 

distilled by the Organisational Learning Group and reported to the Board. 

 

This measure indicates the total number of safety incidents reported during 2014-15 and, of these, what number and proportion resulted in severe harm or 

death. CNWL reported no ‘never events’ during 2014-15.  

CNWL considers that this number is as described for the following reasons: the Trust provides a broad range of services and supports the reporting of all 

incidents whether related to patients, staff or other parties. As such, the Trust has a positive reporting culture which supports a culture of learning. The 

data included within the report relates to all safety incidents and includes incidents which have been graded as resulting in no harm, low harm, moderate 

harm, severe harm and death. The data covers all services provided by the Trust.  

 

74



 
 

60 
 

CNWL has taken the following actions to improve this number, and so the quality of its services:    

• Strengthened its arrangements for ensuring learning is shared across the Trust as well as developing its systems for monitoring the 

implementation of actions following root cause analysis investigations. The Trust has now established a central root cause analysis investigation 

team which has strengthened the arrangements for investigation and reporting within the Trust;  

• Conducting non-executive director chaired panels of inquiry into the highest level incidents. The reports are reviewed by the Board of Directors, 

along with the action plans into the recommendations; 

• The Trust’s Clinical Risk Assessment and Management Policy has been reviewed in the past year, with strengthened timescales, a focus on care 

planning and risk assessment being linked and immediate risks being entered onto progress notes; 

• The Trust has invested heavily in addressing potential ligature risks at the Campbell Centre in Milton Keynes. We have removed a large number of 

potential ligature points from this inpatient facility acquired in April 2013;  

• The Trust has undertaken multi-discipline reviews of all in-patient areas to further reduce the number of potential ligature risks. 

• The Trust has led a London-wide benchmarking process with all other providers of Mental Health services in the London area into probable suicide 

over a 3 year period.  

• The Trust has invested heavily in improving potential points of exit to prevent patients from going AWOL (absent without leave) and points that 

could be used to smuggle illicit substances into secure environments.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

75



 
 

61 
 

3.1.2 Clinical Effectiveness 

 

Measure Data Source Target 

 

 

2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 

Benchmark (where 

available): National 

average;  and highest 

and lowest scores 

1. Re-

admission rates 

What percentage of patients were re-

admitted to hospital within 30 days of 

leaving? (YTD M11) 
Clinical 

system scan 
<8.1% 

4.1% 4.5% 5.3% 4.1% 

National Avg: 11% 

National Max: 34%; 

 National Min: 0%  

 

a. For patients aged 0 - 15:                           

b. For patients aged 16 or over: 

 

a. 0% 

b. 4.1% 
a. 0;               

b. 4.5% 

a. 0;             

b. 5.3%  

 a. 0;          

b. 4.1% 
Not available  

2. Crisis 

Resolution 

Team gate 

keeping  

The percentage of patients admitted to 

acute adult inpatient beds who were 

assessed as to their eligibility for home 

treatment prior to admission? (YTD 

M11) 

Clinical 

system scan 
95% 99.6% 96.2% 99.4%  98% Not available 

3. Early 

Intervention 

Teams 

Did our Early Intervention Teams meet 

the commitments (set by 

commissioners) to serve new psychosis 

cases? (YTD M11) 

Clinical 

system scan 
95% 100% 100% 100%  99.5% Not available  

4. Mental 

Health 

Minimum Data 

Set (data 

completeness) 

 

a. Identifiers (YTD M11) 

Clinical 

system scan 
97% 99.2% 99.5%  99.1% 99.1% 

National Avg: 96.7% 

National Max: 100%; 

 National Min: 84.5%  

 

 

 

b. Outcomes (YTD M11) 

 

Clinical 

system scan 
50% 92.5% 98.1% 97.6%  97.2% Not available 

76



 
 

62 
 

Measure Data Source Target 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 

Benchmark (where 

available): National 

average;  and highest 

and lowest scores 

 

Referral information data completeness 

(referral source, priority, and discharge 

date)(YTD M11) 

Clinical 

system scan 
50% 88.6% - - - Not available 

5. Referral 

information 

(data 

completeness) 

 
 

6. Physical 

health checks 

a. The percentage of mental health 

inpatients with physical health 

assessment after admission (Nursing)** 

(Q4; n=185) 

Internal audit 95% 98% 94%  95%  96% Not available 

b. The percentage of mental health 

inpatients with physical health 

assessment after admission (Medical)** 

(Q4; n=175) 

Internal audit 95% 94% 96%  89% 80% Not available 

c. Patients on CPA report that they got 

enough advice and support for their 

physical health # + (YTD M12; n=647) 

Patient 

survey 
65% 

 
 

89% 86% 75% 66% 65%^ 

7. Appraisals 

Quality Priority 2014-15: Percentage of 

staff who have an in date appraisal 

(YTD M11) 

Internal audit 95% 86% 62% - - Not available 

 Key:  

^ Source: Quality Health 2014 NHS community mental health service user survey 

** This was a QP for 2010/11                                                                                                                          

# This was a QP for 2011/12 

+ This was a QP for 2012/13 

“n=” denotes total sample size 

“YTD M12” denotes year to date at month 12 

“Q4” denotes results at quarter four 

 

77



 
 

63 
 

Measure 1 Readmission rates: Readmission rates describe how many patients get readmitted to hospital within 30 days post their discharge. It is important 

to monitor this as action is required if it indicates patients are being discharged before they are ready or not given the appropriate support in the 

community. We are pleased to report that our readmission rates are below 8.1% target at 4.1% and an improvement on last year. CNWL considers that 

these percentages are as described for the following reasons: Performance is monitored locally via the Trust’s Business Intelligence Systems which identifies 

all patients who were re-admitted. The business rules are published and shared across the Trust to ensure that activity is recorded and captured accurately. 

This indicator is also published monthly via an internal integrated dashboard, which is reported to the Quality and Performance Committee. 

 

CNWL has taken the following actions to improve this number, and so the quality of its services: Performance of this indicator is monitored on a weekly 

basis by the operational ward teams, using the appropriate business intelligence reports. Where a patient has been re-admitted within 28 days, the local 

team investigates the causes, looking across the patient pathway and shares lessons learnt at quality and operational management meetings. Exceptions 

are also reported monthly to the trust board and quality and performance committee. The trust plans to continue undertaking these activities to aid in 

compliance throughout the coming year. 

 

Measure 2 Crisis resolution gate-keeping: Our crisis resolution teams assess patients when they are in crisis to quickly determine if they are suitable for 

home treatment rather than being admitted to hospital. It is important to treat our patients in the most appropriate settings to ensure their safety and that 

they receive the effective treatment.  

 

We are proud that we have done well on this measure for three years running, achieving 99.6% against our 95% target, and an improvement on last year. 

CNWL considers that these percentages are as described for the following reasons: Performance is monitored daily via the Trust’s Business Intelligence 

Systems which identifies all admissions and all associated gate-keeping information. The Crisis Resolution Team (CRT) policy is published and shared with all 

staff to support operational delivery of gate-keeping activity and the business rules are published and shared across the Trust to ensure that activity is 

recorded and captured accurately. CNWL has taken the following actions to improve this number, and so the quality of its services, by: Breaches of the 

measure are discussed and reviewed at local care quality groups and/or senior management team meetings. The CRT operational policy which clearly 

indicates the procedure around gatekeeping is widely circulated and published on our staff intranet. There are clear Business Rules, which are published 

ensuring accurate data recording across all trust teams.  

 

This measure is also reported monthly via the integrated performance dashboard, which is reviewed by the Board and Quality and Performance Committee. 

The trust plans to continue undertaking these activities to aid in compliance throughout the coming year. 

 

Measure 3 Early intervention teams: This indicator assesses whether we have met our commitments, set by our commissioners, to serve new cases of first 

episode psychosis. We are pleased to report that we achieved 100% against a 95% target.   

 

78



 
 

64 
 

Measure 4 Mental health minimum data set: This information ensures that we are delivering services that meet the needs of our population, and so we 

can plan and re-design services appropriately. We have exceeded our targets again this year for completeness of our outcomes and identifier data set. As 

these are Trust-level indicators we do not present performance by borough. 

  

Measure 5 Referral information: This measure is relevant to our community health services, and monitors the completeness of our patient records with 

regards to referral information. Specifically, this monitors the completeness of referral source, priority and discharge date, which enables us to effectively 

plan and manage our referrals in, reducing any delays, and plan for discharge. At month 11 we achieved 88.6%, achieving the national 50% target. 

 

Measure 6 Physical health checks (mental health): Measure 6a and 6b indicate the percent of patients who have received nursing and medical physical 

health assessments after their admission to a mental health inpatient unit. The medical health assessment includes a physical examination however the 

nursing assessment does not. Both the nursing and medical health assessment will ask about allergies and both will ask open-ended questions throughout 

the assessment which allow the patient to report on any physical side effects they may be experiencing. Where side effects are identified on the ward, 

these are raised with the Home Treatment Team (HTT) to follow up once under their care. While a patient is under the care of HTT they will be primarily 

under the care of their GP, and HTT’s will liaise closely with GP’s regarding any outstanding physical healthcare issues. 

 

The results for quarter four indicate that we have achieved our nursing physical health assessment target, and marginally missed our medical health 

assessment target.  

 

Medical physical health assessments have been achieved in all preceding quarters this year, and will be closely monitored and reported on throughout next 

year to ensure this is a temporary ‘blip’.  

 

Measure 6c asks from a community patient’s point of view, if they feel they have been given enough advice and support for their physical health care 

needs. We are pleased to report that this measure has shown a year-on-year improvement from 66% in 2011/12, to 89% in 2014-15, exceeding the 65% 

target and 65% national average at year end. (Note that 3c includes Milton Keynes quarter three results but will be updated in the final version of the 

Quality Account). As the Trust works toward further integrating its mental and physical healthcare services, these measures will continue to be monitored 

and reported on in the Quality Account next year. 

 

Measure 7 Appraisals: This was a Quality Priority for 2014-15 and is explained in Section 2.1.2, Objective 12. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

79



 
 

65 
 

3.1.3 Patient and Carer Experience 

Measure 
Data 

Source 
Target 

 

 

2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 

Benchmark (where 

available): National 

average;  and highest 

and lowest scores 

1. Mental 

health delayed 

transfers of 

care 

On average, what percentage of hospital beds 

are being used by patients who should have 

been discharged? (YTD M11) 

Clinical 

system 

scan 

<7.5% 3.9% 4.7% 6.3% 3.1% 

National Avg: 3% 

National Max: 13%; 

National Min: 1% 

 

2. CPA 12 

month review 

 What percentage of our patients who are on 

CPA received a full CPA review within the last 

12 months where appropriate? (YTD M11) 

Clinical 

system 

scan 

95% 98.0% 96.1% 95.9% 95.6% 

National Avg: 83% 

National Max: 99%; 

National Min: 41% 

 

 

a. Quality Priority 2014-15: Community 

patients report that they were involved as 

much as they wanted to be in decisions about 

their care and treatment (definitely) (Q4; 

n=2402) 

Patient 

survey 
65% 

ALL: 81%       

MH: 68% 

ALL: 82% 

MH: 71% 
MH: 57% MH: 41% 43%^ 

3. Care/ 

treatment 

plans 

b. Quality Priority 2014-15: How well does 

your care coordinator or lead professional 

organise the care and services you need? (Q4; 

percentage of ‘very well’ and ‘quite well’; 

n=545) 

Patient 

survey 
75% 92% n/a n/a n/a 92%^ 

 

c. Community mental health patients report 

that they had been given/offered a copy of 

their care plan# (YTD; n=1693)  

Patient 

survey 
80% 74% 63% 56% 51% Not available 

 

d. Percentage of patients that have a ‘carer 

status’ identified (Q4; n=623) 

Internal 

audit 
70% 77% 68% 75% - Not available 

80



 
 

66 
 

Measure 
Data 

Source 
Target 

 

 

2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 

Benchmark (where 

available): National 

average;  and highest 

and lowest scores 

 

e. Patients on CPA whose care plans contain at 

least one personal recovery goal+ (Q4; n=158) 

Internal 

audit 
75% 90% 81% 83% n/a Not available 

4. Access for 

people with a 

learning 

disability 

Self-certification against compliance with 

requirements regarding access to healthcare for 

people with a learning disability (YTD M11) 

Internal 

database 
8/8 8/8 8/8 7/7 7/7 Not available  

5. Dignity and 

respect 

Quality Priority 2014-15: Patients report that 

they were treated with dignity and respect 

(Q4; n=2507) 

Patient 

survey 
90% 

ALL: 98%  

MH: 95% 
- - - 94%^ 

6. Service 

satisfaction/ 

Friends and 

Family Test 

Patients: How likely are you to recommend 

CNWL services to family or friends if they 

needed similar care or treatment (Q4; 

percentage of ‘likely’ and ‘extremely likely’ 

responses; n=2445) 

Patient 

survey 
90% 

ALL: 95% 

MH: 92% 
- - - Not available  

Quality Priority 2014-15: Staff: How likely are 

you to recommend CNWL services to family or 

friends if they needed similar care or 

treatment (YTD; percentage of ‘likely’ and 

‘extremely likely’ responses; n=523) 

Staff 

survey 
66% 72% 66% - - 60%^^ 

81



 
 

67 
 

Key:  

^ Source: Quality Health Ltd 2014 NHS community mental health service user survey 

^^ Source: NHS National Staff Survey 2014 

# This was a QP for 2011/12 

+ This was a QP for 2012/13 

“n=” denotes total sample size 

“YTD M12” denotes year to date at month 12 

“Q4” denotes results at quarter four 

“MH” denotes results for mental health services only 

  

Measure 1 Mental health delayed transfers of care: This measure assesses the percentage of inpatient beds that are being used by those who should have 

been discharged to our partner agencies, but are being delayed. We work closely with our local authority partners to ensure discharge takes place at the 

right time to ensure patient satisfaction of services and that our beds are kept free for those who most need them. We have seen good performance in this 

area far achieving our <7.5% target and showing further improvement compared to the previous two reporting periods. 

 

Measure 2 CPA 12 month review: This indicator monitors whether those on CPA receive a full CPA review at least annually. This enables service provision 

to be updated as per the patient’s changing needs to ensure they are receiving the most effective care. We are proud that we have achieved the best result 

(98%) compared to the previous three reporting periods, and continue to achieve our target for this measure. 

 

Measure 3 Care plans:  

a) Involvement in care and treatment: This was a Quality Priority for 2014-15 and is explained in Section 2.1.2, Objective 2. 

b) Organisation of care needed: This was a Quality Priority for 2014-15 and is explained in Section 2.1.2, Objective 3. 

c) Patients report being offered a copy of their care plan: This measure was a Quality Priority in 2011-12, and we are pleased to report that is has 

shown, together with patients feeling involved in their care and treatment, a steady upward trend from 51% in 2011-12 to 74% in 2014-15. Much of 

our efforts over the years have been detailed in Section 2. This is no longer asked in the national community mental health survey, so there is no 

national benchmark to report. We will continue to focus our efforts on patient and carer involvement and personalisation next year, supported by 

patient’s reporting on the effectiveness of their care or treatment plan as better proxy measures, and so will not be reporting on this next year (as a 

‘patients’ reported’ or a ‘we recorded’ measure). 

d) Carer status identified: This measure took a sample of patients across our mental health and specialty services each quarter to assess the extent to 

which staff were recording whether or not our patients had the involvement of a carer. The identification of carers is vital - to enable us to follow-

up with the appropriate support and engagement. We are pleased to report that we achieved our target and demonstrated improvement on last 

year. This indicator will be monitored for continued improvement next year, and will not be reported in the Quality Account. 

e) Recovery goals: As part of our Quality Priority in 2012-13 we audited our patient notes to determine the extent to which care plan goals included 

personalised recovery goals – as part of our focus on culture shift toward involvement, personalisation and empowerment. Each quarter and year 

82



 
 

68 
 

we achieve our target, and feel this practice has bedded in, as supported by the good performance of 3a and 3b. We will no longer be reporting on 

this measure in future Quality Accounts. 

 

Measure 4 Access for people with a learning disability: This measure assesses whether those with a learning disability have the same access to care rights 

as those who do not, to ensure they are not disadvantaged and receiving the care they need. The assessment is by seven questions based on the 

recommendations set out in ‘Healthcare for All’ (2008), the Independent Inquiry into Access to Healthcare for People with Learning Disabilities. We are 

proud to report that we achieved the maximum score (eight out of eight) at year end for this measure. 

 

Measure 5 Dignity and respect: This was a Quality Priority for 2014-15 and is explained in Section 2.1.2, Objective 11. 

 

Measure 6 Service satisfaction: Patients and staff recommending our services: We monitor whether patients and staff would recommend our services to 

family or friends if they needed similar care or treatment (known as the ‘Friends and Family Test’) via telephone surveys, quick feedback cards, and a variety 

of other methods for patients, and via an on-line and postal surveys for staff. Detail of these results are reported in Section 2.1.  

 

 

  83



 
 

69 
 

3.2 A borough and specialist service breakdown:    

The following three tables reflect the data presented in Section 3.1 broken down, where possible, by borough and specialist services. 

 

3.2.1. Clinical Safety 

 

 Mental health services Specialist services Community physical services  

Measure 

T
a

rg
e

t 

B
re

n
t 

H
a

rr
o

w
 

H
il

li
n

g
d

o
n

 

K
e

n
si

n
g

to
n

 &
 

C
h

e
ls

e
a

 

W
e

st
m

in
st

e
r 

M
il

to
n

 

K
e

y
n

e
s 

 

C
A

M
H

S
 

Le
a

rn
in

g
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

ie
s 

E
a

ti
n

g
 

D
is

o
rd

e
rs

 

A
d

d
ic

ti
o

n
s 

O
ff

e
n

d
e

r 

C
a

re
 

C
a

m
d

e
n

 

H
il

li
n

g
d

o
n

 

M
il

to
n

 

K
e

y
n

e
s 

S
e

x
u

a
l 

H
e

a
lt

h
  

T
ru

st
-w

id
e

 

1. CPA 7-day 

follow-up 

What percentage of our 

patients, who are on Care 

Programme Approach, did 

we contact within seven days 

of them leaving the hospital? 

(YTD M11) 

95% 98.9% 94.9% 97.2% 96.1% 97.6% 100% 92.0% 86.2% 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 97.1% 

2. Risk 

assessment 

and 

management 

What percentage of mental 

health inpatients have had a 

risk assessment completed 

and linked to their care 

plans? (Q4; n=194) 

95% 95% 77% 97% 75% 65% 100% 100% n/a 90% 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 87% 

3. Patient 

safety 

Mental health patients 

reported that they felt safe 

during their most recent 

inpatient stay (YTD M12; 

n=505) 

75% 88% 81% 89% 81% 86% 80% n/a 100% 100% 80% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 86% 

4. Access in a 

crisis 

Community mental health 

patients report that they 

have a phone number to call 

in a crisis (Q4; n=533) 

65% 80% 89% 78% 68% 86% 92% 67% n/a 67% 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 85% 

Key: “-“: Not measured or no response received; n/a: Measure not applicable; “n=” denotes total sample size;  

“YTD M12” denotes year to date at month 12; “Q4” denotes results at quarter four  

 

 

84



 
 

70 
 

3.2.2. Clinical Effectiveness 

 

 Mental health services Specialist services Community physical services  

Measure 

T
a

rg
e

t 

B
re

n
t 

H
a

rr
o

w
 

H
il

li
n

g
d

o
n

 

K
e

n
si

n
g

to
n

 

&
 C

h
e

ls
e

a
 

W
e

st
m

in
st

e
r 

M
il

to
n

 

K
e

y
n

e
s 

 

C
A

M
H

S
 

Le
a

rn
in

g
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

ie
s 

E
a

ti
n

g
 

D
is

o
rd

e
rs

 

A
d

d
ic

ti
o

n
s 

O
ff

e
n

d
e

r 

C
a

re
 

C
a

m
d

e
n

 

H
il

li
n

g
d

o
n

 

M
il

to
n

 

K
e

y
n

e
s 

S
e

x
u

a
l 

H
e

a
lt

h
  

T
ru

st
-w

id
e

 

1. Re-

admission 

rates 

What percentage of patients 

were re-admitted to hospital 

within 30 days of leaving? (YTD 

M11) 

>8.1% 6.8% 3.5% 2.9% 2.7% 2.8% 8.4% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 4.1% 

2. Crisis 

Resolutio

n Team 

gate 

keeping  

The percentage of patients 

admitted to acute adult 

inpatient beds who were 

assessed as to their eligibility 

for home treatment prior to 

admission? (YTD M11) 

95% 100% 99.5% 99.6% 99.5% 99.3% 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 99.6% 

3. Early 

Interventi

on Teams 

Did our Early Intervention Teams 

meet the commitments (set by 

commissioners) to serve new 

psychosis cases? (YTD M11) 

95% 100% 100% 85.7% 100% 100% 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 100% 

4. Mental 

health 

physical 

health 

checks 

a. Inpatients with physical 

health assessment after 

admission (Nursing; Q4; n=175) 

95% 100% 100% 95% 100% 100% 85% 100% 100% 100% 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 98% 

b. Inpatients with physical 

health assessment after 

admission (Medical; Q4; n=175) 

95% 65% 100% 100% 100% 100% 90% 100% 89% 100% 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 94% 

c. Patients on CPA report that 

they got enough advice and 

support for their physical health 

(YTD M12; n=647) 

65% 79% 76% 86% 88% 86% 94% 100% n/a 100% - n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 89% 

5. 

Appraisals 

Percentage of staff who have an 

‘in date’ appraisal (YTD M11) 
95% 85% 89% 78% 69% 73% 91% 86% 94% 86% 89% 89% 96% 87% 91% 98% 86% 

85



 
 

71 
 

Key: “-“: Not measured or no response received; n/a: Measure not applicable; “n=” denotes total sample size; “YTD M12” denotes year to date at month 12; “Q4” denotes results at quarter 

four;  

  

3.2.3 Patient and Carer Experience 

 

 Mental health services Specialist services Community physical services  

Measure 

T
a

rg
e

t 

B
re

n
t 

H
a

rr
o

w
 

H
il

li
n

g
d

o
n

 

K
e

n
si

n
g

to
n

 &
 

C
h

e
ls

e
a

 

W
e

st
m

in
st

e
r 

M
il

to
n

 

K
e

y
n

e
s 

 

C
A

M
H

S
 

Le
a

rn
in

g
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

ie
s 

E
a

ti
n

g
 

D
is

o
rd

e
rs

 

A
d

d
ic

ti
o

n
s 

O
ff

e
n

d
e

r 

C
a

re
 

C
a

m
d

e
n

 

H
il

li
n

g
d

o
n

 

M
il

to
n

 

K
e

y
n

e
s 

S
e

x
u

a
l 

H
e

a
lt

h
  

T
ru

st
-w

id
e

 

1. Delayed 

transfers 

of care 

On average, what percentage 

of hospital beds are being 

used by patients who should 

have been discharged? (YTD 

M11) 

<7.5% 4.5% 3.9% 5.2% 0.9% 6.6% 3.4% n/a 14.5% n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 3.9% 

2. CPA 12 

month 

review 

 What percentage of our 

patients, who are on CPA, 

received a full CPA review 

within the last 12 months 

where appropriate? (YTD 

M11) 

95% 98.5% 97.8% 99.0% 98.7% 98.3% 97.4% 100% 96.9% 97.5% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 98.0% 

3. Care/ 

treatment 

planning 

a.i. Community patients 

report that they were 

involved as much as they 

wanted to be in decisions 

about their care and 

treatment (definitely) (Q4; 

n=2402) 

65% 66% 68% 74% 66% 86% 65% 100% n/a 100% 100% 26% 89% 64% 80% 91% 81% 

a.ii. Community patients 

report that they were 

involved as much as they 

wanted to be in decisions 

about their care and 

treatment (definitely and to 

some extent) (Q4; n=2402) 

75% 94% 95% 95% 94% 94% 92% 100% n/a 100% 100% 50% 98% 84% 98% 99% 97% 

86



 
 

72 
 

b. How well does your care 

coordinator or lead 

professional organise the 

care and services you need? 

(Q4; percentage of ‘very well’ 

and ‘quite well’; n=545) 

75% 89% 91% 92% 92% 93% 93% 100% n/a 100% 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 92% 

c. Percentage of patients that 

have a ‘carer status’ 

identified (Q4; n=623) 

70% 66% 79% 81% 73% 63% 80% n/a 78% 83% 90% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 77% 

d. Mental health community 

patients report that they had 

been given/offered a copy of 

their care plan (YTD M12; 

n=1693) 

80% 76% 69% 69% 75% 80% 72% 44% n/a 69% 66% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 74% 

 

e. Patients on CPA whose 

care plans contain at least 

one personal recovery goal+ 

(Q4; n=158) 

75% 92% 95% 97% 83% 67% 75% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 90% 

4. Dignity 

and 

respect 

Patients report feeling they 

were treated with dignity and 

respect (Q4; n=2507) 

90% 98% 100% 97% 93% 94% 97% 100% n/a 100% 90% 83% 98% 100% 99% 99% 98% 

5. Service 

satisfactio

n/FFT 

Patients: How likely are you 

to recommend CNWL 

services to family or friends if 

they needed similar care or 

treatment (Q4; percentage of 

‘likely’ and ‘extremely likely’ 

responses; n=2445) 

90% 98% 100% 93% 78% 96% 86% 100% 88% 100% 100% n/a 98% 91% 96% 97% 95% 

Staff: How likely are you to 

recommend CNWL services 

to family or friends if they 

needed similar care or 

treatment (Q4; percentage of 

66% tbc  tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc 72% 

87



 
 

73 
 

‘likely’ and ‘extremely likely’ 

responses; n=523) 

Key: “-“: Not measured or no response received; n/a: Measure not applicable; “n=” denotes total sample size; “YTD M12” denotes year to date at month 12; “Q4” denotes results at quarter 

four; tbc: to be confirmed – that is because this data became available on 2 April, and borough and specialist service results were not yet confirmed. This data will be included in the final 

version of the Quality Account. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

88



 
 

74 
 

 

3.3. Other indicators of quality 

 

Staff experience  

We believe that in order to deliver high quality, safe and effective services, we need a high quality workforce which is committed, engaged, trained and 

supported. The evidence shows that high staff engagement ratings in the NHS result in better quality services, higher patient satisfaction and less 

absenteeism. This is supported by the White Paper ‘Equity and Excellence’ which stated that “staff who are empowered, engaged and well supported 

provide better patient care”. 
  
One of our key measures of workforce feedback is via the annual national staff survey. We are pleased to report that our overall indicator for Staff 

Engagement this year remains in the top 20% of best performing trusts.  This key finding relates to staff members perceived ability to contribute to 

improvements at work; their willingness to recommend the trust as a place to work or receive treatment; and the extent to which they feel motivated and 

engaged with their work. 

 

The table below demonstrates some of our top ranking scores where we compare more favourably with other trusts of a similar type: 

  

Measure CNWL 

performance 
2014 

CNWL 

performance 
2013 

National 

average for 

similar Trusts 

Top 

performing 

Trust score 

Staff recommendation of the Trust as a place to work 

or receive treatment* 
3.68 / 5 3.79 / 5 3.57 / 5 4.15 

Staff motivation at work 

 
3.88 / 5 3.96 / 5 3.84 / 5 4.09 

Staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and 

patient care they were able to deliver 
79% 81% 76% 89% 

Staff job satisfaction 

 
3.70 / 5 3.75 / 5 3.67 / 5 3.93 

Staff agreeing their role makes a difference to 

patients 
91% 92% 89% 94% 

Staff having well structured appraisal 

 
46% 49% 41% 58% 

Staff suffering work related stress 

 
41% 36% 42% 33% 

89



 
 

75 
 

Measure CNWL 

performance 
2014 

CNWL 

performance 
2013 

National 

average for 

similar Trusts 

Top 

performing 

Trust score 

Staff reporting good communication between senior 

management and staff 
36% 40% 30% 51% 

Work pressure felt by staff 

 
3.04 / 5 2.93 / 5 3.07 / 5 2.79 

Effective team working 
3.91 / 5 

 

3.92 / 5 

 

3.84 / 5 4.06 

Fairness and effectiveness of reporting procedures 3.62 /5  3.62 / 5 3.52 / 5 3.75 

 

*With regards to staff recommending the Trust to work or receive treatment, CNWL considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: 

Although we have seen a fall in this score since last year we have continued to compare more favourably with other similar trusts. We believe that this is 

because during the year there has been unprecedented change within CNWL, for example, our restructure from service lines to divisions and various 

corporate departmental reviews and restructures. CNWL has taken the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its services by 

developing a number of people strategies and frameworks to ensure staff feel well led, supported, involved and empowered. These include: 

• Our People Strategy (2014 – 2018)  

• Staff Engagement Strategy (2014 – 2018) 

• Recruitment and Retention Strategy (2014 – 2018) 

• Staff Health & Wellbeing strategy (2014 – 2018) 

• Behavioural Framework 

Our challenge this year is to ensure these strategies and frameworks are fully embedded across the trust so that we see an improvement in our scores and 

continue to benchmark more favourably against other Trusts of a similar type. 

  
Whilst it is good to understand where staff’s needs are being met, it is important to consider where they are not in order to implement targeted action 

plans to improve staff experiences of the workplace. The following table demonstrates where CNWL has performed below the national average (for similar 

Trusts) and where improvements need to be made as staff experience has deteriorated: 
  

 

 

 

 

 

90



 
 

76 
 

Measure CNWL 

performance 
2014 

CNWL 

performance 
2013 

National 

average for 

similar Trusts 

Top 

performing 

Trust score 
% staff working extra hours 75% 74% 71% 57% 

% staff appraised in last 12 months (to 

February 2015) 
86% 84% 88% 96% 

% staff experiencing discrimination at work 

 
14% 15% 12% 7% 

   
This information became available in February 2015 and at the time of printing the data was being further broken down by service and analysed to identify 

areas in need of improvement. Based on this analysis action plans will be developed, implemented and monitored by the relevant internal committee. 

 

Turnover has slightly increased this year, which would be expected in a year of change and transition.  We monitor the position closely and take action to 

address any particular areas of concern. 

 

There has been a focus on reducing the number of days lost to sickness absence this year, as we see this as an important way to improve the quality of 

service and reduce costs. It will continue to be a focus of activity in the coming year. The results of average staff turnover and sickness are displayed in the 

table below: 

 
Measure Target 2014/2015 2013/2014 2012/13 

Staff turnover  
The number of staff leaving as a percentage of 

total staff 

Year on year 

improvement 
19.5% 15.9% 14.6% 

Average sickness per employee  
The time lost to sickness per employee as a 

percentage of total time available 

Year on year 

improvement 
3.5% 3.32% 3.6% 

 

Increased staff turnover is likely to be largely as a result of organisational re-structuring this year and increased TUPE (transfer of undertakings) 

activity, and will be kept under review. 

 

Patient and carer involvement and experience  

 

We proactively seek the views and feedback of our patients’ experience of services we provide in a multiple of ways.  

 

91



 
 

77 
 

For example, through our quick feedback cards in our sexual health services, regular telephone surveys in our London-based mental health and community 

services (run by trained patients), voluntary annual surveys in our community (physical) health services, paper-based questionnaires in our older people and 

healthy aging services, regular mental health surveys in Milton Keynes and through actively consulting with our patients in Milton Keynes community 

services regarding the focus of their annual Patient Campaigns.  

 

We also engage with patients through local service user and carer forums throughout our boroughs, for example, the Brent User Group, User Focused 

Monitoring in Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster, and the Harrow User Group.  

 

In October 2014 we launched our on-line patient survey based on the ‘Friends and Family Test’ allowing for feedback to be given 24 hours a day from all of 

our services. This is accessed via the front page of the Trust’s website, and is advertised in our services by posters, feedback flyers and feedback business 

cards. 

 

CNWL’s Carers Council, with membership from carers from across our services, aims to raise the profile of the carer as a partner in the recovery and 

wellbeing plans of our patients. Carers often have in-depth experience of their loved one’s needs and conditions and are there first-hand to provide 

support. CNWL avidly supports carers as partners in care, as demonstrated by our on-going carer Quality Priority together with the on-going achievements 

of Carers Council, for example: 

• Recovery and Wellbeing College carer training courses, 

• Carers trained to co-facilitate courses 

• Local borough specific Carer Contact Cards and information leaflets 

• The production of the Carer Film 

• The focus on various quality indicators, and the roll-forward of the carer Quality Priority 

In the coming year the Carers Council’s aims include focusing on assessment carer involvement in care and treatment planning, gaining greater membership 

from community health services, and forging closer links with the patient’s Improving Involvement Board. 

 

We closely monitor the results of our national patient surveys, benchmarking ourselves nationally to understand how we compare against similar Trusts 

and where action is needed. 

 

CNWL is linked in with all its local Healthwatch organisations, who champion the needs of children, young people and adults, meeting with them on a 

quarterly basis; to together review performance and share feedback and learn lessons.  

 

 This feedback is highly valued and enables us to take action where we know it will make the most difference to our patients. 

 

92



 
 

78 
 

The table below presents the results of the National Community Mental Health Patient Survey with regard to patients’ experience of contact with a health 

or social care worker during the reporting period. The table includes the results from the National Community Mental Health Patient Survey for 2011 to 

2014, and data relates to the NHS healthcare worker or social care worker the patients had seen most recently.  

 

In 2014 the national survey questionnaire was redesigned resulting in the elimination of many questions about process and concentrated on experiences. It 

is therefore not possible to provide comparative data for all the questions in 2014. 

 

Measure 2014 ^** 
CNWL 

2013** 
CNWL 

2012^ 

CNWL 
2011^ 

CNWL 
2014^ 

National 

Average 

Did this person listen carefully to you?                  

Yes definitely 
 

68% 

 

74% 
 

81% 

 

76% 

 

72% 

Yes to some extent 25% 21% 16% 20% 22% 

No 8% 5% 3% 4% 6% 

Did this person take your views into account?    

Yes definitely 
 

N/A 

 

67% 73% 72% N/A 

Yes to some extent N/A 28% 23% 23% N/A 

 No N/A 5% 3% 5% N/A 

Did you have trust and confidence in this person?   

Yes definitely 
 

N/A 

 

63% 70% 70% N/A 

Yes to some extent N/A 28% 25% 26% N/A 

No N/A 9% 4% 5% N/A 

Did this person treat you with respect and 

dignity?  Changed in 2014 to: Overall in the last 12 

months did you feel that you were treated with 

respect and dignity by the NHS mental health 

services? 

 Yes definitely 

 

 

 

67% 

 

84% 

 

88% 

 

87% 

 

74% 

Yes to some extent 23% 13% 10% 11% 20% 

No 10% 3% 

 
2% 2% 7% 

93



 
 

79 
 

Measure 2014 ^ 
CNWL 

2013** 
CNWL 

2012^ 

CNWL 
2011^ 

CNWL 
2014^ 

National 

Average 

Were you given enough time to discuss your care 

and treatment?   

Yes definitely 

 

 

62% 

 

 

67% 

 

 

76% 

 

 

72% 

 

 

66% 

Yes to some extent 28% 24% 20% 22% 25% 

No 11% 9% 3% 7% 10% 

Overall how would you rate the care you have 

received from Mental Health Services in the last 

12 months?     

0 – I had a very poor experience 

 

 

 

5% 

 

 

 

2% 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

2% 

1 3% 2% N/A N/A 2% 

2 4% 1% N/A N/A 3% 

3 6% 6% N/A N/A 4% 

4 5% 4% N/A N/A 5% 

5 11% 15% N/A N/A 10% 

6 9% 8% N/A N/A 8% 

7 16% 16% N/A N/A 14% 

8 16% 18% N/A N/A 19% 

9 11% 12% N/A N/A 14% 

10 – I had a very good experience 15% 15% N/A N/A 18% 
Key:  

^ National averages as supplied by Quality Health Ltd, who conduct the survey for the Trust and 85% of all mental health Trusts in England 

** CNWL results incorporating the results from Milton Keynes community mental health survey, supplied by Quality Health Ltd. 

N/A (2014 results) these questions are no longer part of the survey questionnaire 

 

CNWL considers that these indicators are as described for the following reasons: 

 The results for CNWL improved between 2011 and 2012 primarily because of the attention that was given to ensuring that the Care Programme Approach 

is conducted with a patient-centred focus. However despite the improvement in 2012 from all the initiatives undertaken, the scores that CNWL achieved in 

the 2013 national survey were universally poorer than in 2012. This prompted the Trust to pay even more attention to the practice of clinicians involving 

patients in developing their care packages and nurturing the professional relationships that they have with their patients. We are determined to strengthen 

94



 
 

80 
 

patient and carer involvement, a Quality Priority for the last three years, through an overarching strategy and local implementation initiatives. To direct and 

support this, the Improving Involvement Board was set up with an Executive Director lead, working in partnership with patients. Managers from the 

relevant services included in the national survey were members of this Board. The work of the Board was to develop documentation information and 

training materials, to embed good practice in personalised care planning and implementation, and monitor the feedback from patients of their experiences 

of services. 

 

Over 2014 our internal monthly surveys result tell us that increasingly over the year more patients have reported feeling ‘definitely’ involved in decisions 

about their care and treatment – especially in our mental health services which has seen an increase from 41% in 2011/12 to 68% in 2014 telling us they felt 

‘definitely’ involved in their care and treatment; with 90% stating they felt definitely or to some extent involved. 

 

CNWL is taking the following actions to improve these percentages, and the quality of services:  

• Rolling forward the focus on patients reporting that they felt involved in their care and treatment, but taking this further by supplementing it with 

patients reporting that they felt they got what they needed from their care or treatment plan - as two of the Quality Priorities for 2015-16. 

• The continued roll-out of the User and Carer Involvement Strategy (approved by the Board in May 2014): The expectation is that each division 

would establish forums within their services where patients and carers could participate at management level to scrutinize and monitor the results 

of patient and carer feedback, with feedback to the Executive Team. 

• Refresher training provided to staff to ensure that CPA is conducted to the highest standards  

• The roll-out of Recovery College newly developed courses, as suggested through patient and carer feedback, to further empower service users and 

carers to gain the most from their contacts with the services. 

• Monitoring and acting on the results from our on-line Friends and Family Test survey results, as well as our other various survey mechanisms 

mentioned above. Results will be monitored by our Quality and Performance Committee and acted upon by our divisions.  

 

Whilst participation in a national patient survey is not mandatory for community physical healthcare services, our Hillingdon, Camden and Milton Keynes 

services have conducted an annual patient survey which highlights very positive results. The Hillingdon and Camden services also conduct monthly 

telephone surveys run by the team of mental health patients. Milton Keynes services also conduct regular surveys of their patient experiences.  

 

All the above, together with our Quality Priorities, strongly reflect CNWL’s continued commitment to understanding and acting upon what we hear from 

our patients and carers. 

 

 

 

 

 

95



 
 

81 
 

Complaints  

 

Complaints feedback provides the Trust with a valuable source of information to support learning at both a local and organisational level. We value the 

feedback we receive from our service users and carers and ensure that formal complaints are acknowledged, investigated and responded to in a timely 

manner, whilst ensuring that appropriate action is taken where required.  
  
During 2014-15 (up to February 2015) the Trust received 453 complaints. As part of our continued drive to improve the complaints handling process, the 

Trust has been closely monitoring its performance in responding to complaints within the agreed timescale. Following a review of our complaint service, a 

new Patient Support Service will be launched on 1
st

 April 2015, providing a single point of contact for patients and carers who wish to provide a range of 

feedback to CNWL (Compliments, Comments, Enquiries and Complaints). The service will be supported by a new feedback policy that places greater 

emphasis on managing and responding to all feedback. CNWL will achieve this by empowering all staff to respond to feedback and resolve issues or 

complaints at local level as far as possible.  
  
At February 2015 (to be updated) 54 (12%) of complaints were fully upheld and 128 (28%) were partially upheld, with 4 (0.008%) complaints referred to the 

Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman. Learning from complaints is driven by the Organisational Learning group. Common themes identified are 

used to inform the Trust’s Organisational Learning report and action plan which will be presented to the Trust Board later this year.  
    
The Trust has provided information on complaints received during the year to the Department of Health, in line with Regulation 18 of the Local Authority 

Social Services and NHS Complaints (England) Regulations 2009. 
 

Equalities and Diversity  

We have had many Equalities and Diversity highlights for 2014-15:  

We have had the 5
th

 annual Trust-wide Faith and Spirituality Conference, which this year included a focus on the use of spirituality, growth and resilience 

when working with loss. Our palliative care team shared their expertise in this area, although there were also workshops focusing on loss in mental health, 

suicide, and building staff members’ personal resilience. 

During the past year over 11,300 face-to-face interpreting sessions have been provided for Trust patients, service users and carers in over 60 languages.   

The Trust has also run two cohorts of training for bilingual individuals to become professional interpreters – leading to a Level 3 qualification underwritten 

by the Open College Network.  These interpreters are then able to apply for paid interpreting work within the CNWL Interpreting Service and with other 

providers.  There has been targeted promotion to encourage bilingual speakers from certain communities to come forward to train as there is an increasing 

need for certain languages within our services – especially Bulgarian, Hungarian, Romanian, Nepali and Thai. 

96



 
 

82 
 

The Trust continues to work in achieving its five four-year Equality Objectives, as agreed in 2012 by the Trust Board of Directors.  These can be accessed at 

www.cnwl.nhs.uk/about-cnwl/equality-anddiversity/documents/. Particular progress has been made in improving the monitoring of service users by 

three equality protected characteristics – religion, sexual orientation and disability.   

Stonewell, Europe’s biggest lesbian, gay and bisexual charity, praised the Trust for its efforts and cited its practice of delivering LGBT equality and awareness 

training.  Each year it rates those employers it feels are the most gay-friendly and, in January 2015, CNWL maintained its place within the Stonewall Top 100 

being ranked as the joint 70
th

 best employer overall, while being the 5
th

 best NHS organisation in their Top 100.  Organisations are required to not only 

explain what they do to improve their workplace for lesbian, gay and bisexual staff, but also to demonstrate how that has had a real and lasting impact on 

their organisation.  As part of the submission, Stonewall asked both straight and LGB CNWL employees to complete a confidential survey rating CNWL’s 

performance in LGB related matters.  There were 469 responses where 83% of respondents rated ‘the workplace culture in my organisation inclusive of 

lesbian, gay and bisexual (LGB) people’ and 70% reported that ‘senior management were supportive of LGB staff’.  All the CNWL employee feedback scores 

were significantly higher than the average Index entries. 

Stonewall also coordinates a Healthcare Equality Index, open to all providers or commissioners of healthcare in the UK (whether NHS, private or third 

sector) looking at how ‘gay friendly’ the organisation is towards lesbian, gay and bisexual (LGB) patients and service users.  In 2014 CNWL were awarded the 

top place within the Index.  Stonewall praised a number of the specialist services that CNWL runs to target LGB communities and patients and also our 

efforts to improve the monitoring of patients by sexual orientation - one of the Trust’s Equality Objectives.  In 2014, across mental health, addictions, eating 

disorders and learning disability services the recording for gender, age and ethnicity for patients was 98% or over.  For religion or belief it was 82% (70% in 

2013), sexual orientation 72% (26% in 2013) and disability 6.3% (4.5% in 2013).  This information is also being collected on the community health services, 

by IAPT services and by sexual health services. To improve recording rates this is monitored on a quarterly basis. 

A full report of the Equality and Diversity initiatives (Jan 2014-Dec 2014) to meet the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty is available at 

 www.cnwl.nhs.uk/about-cnwl/vision-values/equality-and-diversity/documents/ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

97



 
 

83 
 

Annex 1 – Quality Account glossary of terms 
 

 

                                        

                        

                    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CMHT Community mental health team 

CNWL 
Central and North West London NHS 

Foundation Trust 

CPA Care Programme Approach 

ASIP Accelerated Service Improvement Plan 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

ED Eating Disorder services 

FFT Friends and family test 

GP General Practitioner 

HMYOI Her Majesty’s Young Offender Institution 

HTT Home Treatment Team 

LD Learning Disability services 

MDT Multi-disciplinary team 

NHS National Health Service 

NICE 
National Institute for Health and Care 

Excellence 

OSC Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

PALS Patient Advice and Liaison Service 

POMH Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health 

Q3/Q4 Quarter 3 / Quarter 4 

UAL Urgent Advice Line 

UCLH 
University College London Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust 

YTD Year to date 

98



 
 

84 
 

Care Programme Approach (CPA) 

CPA is the framework for care and support provided by mental health services.  There are two types of support, CPA and Lead Professional Care. CPA is for 

people with complex characteristics, who are at higher risk, and need support from multiple agencies.  The Trust uses the term ‘Lead Professional Care’ for 

people with more straightforward support needs. 
 

CPA Assessment 

All those being seen by the mental health service will receive a holistic assessment of their health and social care needs. 
 

CPA Care Co-ordinator 

A CPA care co-ordinator is the person responsible for overseeing the care plan of someone on CPA. See also Lead Professional. 
 

CPA Care Plan 

A written statement of the care, treatment and/or support that will be provided.  In mental health services, people on CPA have a formal CPA care plan and 

people on LPC have a less formal LPC care plan in the form of a standard letter 
 

Clinical/Specialist Care Plans 

Clinical/specialist care plans give the detailed procedure for each service identified as being appropriate to support the patient within their overall CPA care 

plan. 
 

CPA Review 

Care plans are reviewed at least once a year, in partnership with patients and carers wherever possible. 

 

Carer 

A carer is someone who provides regular and substantial assistance/support to a patient.  Carers are not paid to provide this support and are entitled to 

have an assessment of their own caring needs.   
 

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 

PALS offers help, support, advice and information to patients, carers, family or friends.    
 

Service User 

The term “service user” refers to those people receiving treatment and care. 
  

99



 
 

85 
 

Annex 2 – Statements provided by our commissioners, Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs) and Healthwatch 
 
Our commissioners 

Our local Healthwatch 

 

Our Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 

 

 

  

100



 
 

86 
 

Annex 3 – 2014-15 Statement of director’s responsibilities in respect of the Quality Account  
 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for 

each financial year.  

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal 

requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the 

quality report.  

In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:  

• the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15 and 

supporting guidance;  

• the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information including:  

o board minutes and papers for the period April 2014 to [the date of this statement]  

o papers relating to Quality reported to the board over the period April 2014 to [the date of this statement]  

o feedback from commissioners dated 4/5/2015 (closing date of the Quality Account 30-day consultation)  

o feedback from governors dated 4/5/2015 (closing date of the Quality Account 30-day consultation)   

o feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 4/5/2015 (closing date of the Quality Account 30-day consultation)  

o feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 4/5/2015 (closing date of the Quality Account 30-day consultation)  

o the trust’s complaints report (2014-15) published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 

2009  

o the latest national patient survey dated 2014  

o the latest national staff survey dated 2014  

o the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment dated XX/XX/2015  

101



 
 

87 
 

o CQC Intelligent Monitoring Report dated XX/XX/20XX  

• the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance over the period covered;  

• the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate;  

• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance included in the Quality Report, and these 

controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice;  

• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality 

standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and  

• the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts 

regulations) (published at www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data quality for the preparation 

of the Quality Report (available at www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual).  

 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the Quality Report.  

By order of the board  

 

..............................Date.............................................................Chairman  

..............................Date.........................................................Chief Executive 

 

  

 

Claire Murdoch    Prof. Dorothy Griffiths 

Chief Executive    Chairman 

29 May 2015    29 May 2015 

 

 

 
 

102



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

HEALTH & SOCIAL 

CARE SCRUTINY SUB-

COMMITTEE 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

22  April 2015 

Subject: 

 

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Update 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Alex Dewsnap, Divisional Director 
Strategic Commissioning 
 

Scrutiny Lead 

Member area: 

 

Councillor Mrs Vina Mithani, 
Performance Lead 
 
Councillor Michael Borio, Policy Lead 
Member 
 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
none 

Agenda Item 8
Pages 103 to 108

103



 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
This report provides an update on the outcomes of the Joint Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 3 March 2015. 
 

Recommendations:  
That the sub-committee consider the update and provide any comments/ 
issues to be raised in advance of the next JHOSC meeting on 16 June 2015. 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 
2.1 The North West London Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 
comprising of elected members drawn from the boroughs geographically 
covered by the NHS NW London Shaping a Healthier Future programme was 
set up to consider the proposals and consultation process formally between 
the period of 2 July and 8 October 2012. 
 
The proposals set out reconfiguration of the accident and emergency 
provision in North West London. This included changes to emergency 
maternity and paediatric care with clear implications on out-of- hospital care. 
 
The JHOSC reported its final report in October 2012, making 
recommendations on how the Shaping a Healthier Future proposals could be 
developed and implemented including the risks that needed to be explored.  
This JHOSC also recommended that the Committee continue to meet to 
provide strategic scrutiny of the development and implementation of Shaping 
a Healthier Future. 
 
2.2 The 3 March meeting of the JHOSC covered the various issues as 
detailed below: 
 
JHOSC Terms of Reference 
The revised terms of reference of the North West London Joint Health 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee was agreed and endorsed. 
 
London Ambulance Service 
The London Ambulance Service provided an update on the current 
performance of the service including an analysis of the impact on response 
and journey times since the closure of Hammersmith & Central Middlesex 
Hospitals as part of the Shaping a Healthier Future programme. The JHOSC 
also received an analysis on whether this information allows us to anticipate 
the impact of the planned closure of Charing Cross and Ealing Hospitals. 
 
A detailed discussion took place and a decision was made that a further 
update report on performance figures was required and it was expressed that 
hopefully service improvements would have been made as in most areas the 
service was achieving  between 50-60% where as it should be at a level of 
75%. 
 

104



 

 
 
Travel Advisory Group (TAG) 
The JHOSC received an update on the activity and progress of the Travel 
Advisory Group. The update included: 
� An analysis of where the need for improved public transport access is 

greatest 
� Suggested responses being developed 
� key areas of concern emerging 

 
As an outcome of the discussions, the TAG will consider issues raised 
concerning the route 204 and Sudbury Town Station and improved services 
from route 267 from Fulwell garage and feedback to the JHOSC in advance of 
the next meeting. The TAG also agreed to provide their work plan for 2015, 
and provide an update on whether suitable arrangements were in place in the 
various North West London hospitals in respect of parking for people with 
disabilities. 
 
Shaping a Healthier Future Update 
As part of its remit to scrutinise the Shaping a Healthier Future reconfiguration 
of services in North West London, the JHOSC receives regular updates on 
the progress of the SaHF programme. A presentation was given, addressing: 
� A&E waiting times: following the spike reported to the JHOSC at the 

October 2014 meeting and subsequent national and regional trends 
and mitigation that is being put in place 

� An analysis of how local trends in NWL compare to the national and 
regional picture 

� Following the closure of Hammersmith and Central Middlesex A&Es - 
whether there are there conclusions to be drawn about any future 
closure of A&Es? 

� Maternity services - information on the timetable for the announcement 
of decisions regarding changes to maternity services 

 
As an outcome of the discussions, the Chair will write to the Shaping a 
Healthier Future team requesting that the Implementataion Business Case is 
provided to the JHOSC in advance of being signed off. In addition the JHOSC 
has also requested a comparison of the 111 service and the NHS Direct 
service along with details of training and qualifications of 111 staff. 
 
Healthcare Commission – Verbal Update 
The North West London Healthcare Commission, an independent commission 
launched on 1 December 2014 to examine the impact and implementation of 
the Shaping a Healthier Future programme.  The Commission currently 
involves Ealing, Brent, Hounslow and Hammersmith & Fulham Councils. 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham, and Ealing expressed that they wished to have it 
recorded that they did not support the case for change when the Shaping a 
Healthier Future proposals were discussed ahead of the JHOSC’s 
consultation n response that was submitted in October 2012. 
 
 

 
 
 

105



 

Any other Business 
The JHOSC agreed that a discussion paper should be prepared on the 
potential benefits and risks of broadening the scope of the JHOSC to other 
pan North West London issues at the health/social care interface, including 
which issues should be discussed and which are outside the scope of the 
JHOSC. 
 

Financial Implications 
None 
 

Performance Issues 
 
None 
 

Environmental Impact 
 
None 

 
Risk Management Implications 
 
None 
 

Equalities implications 
 
There are a number of equalities implications that relate to the 
reconfiguration of health services in North West London as a whole. These 
implications form part of the on-going considerations of the JHOSC. 
 

Council Priorities 
 
The work of JHOSC committee relates to all four of council’s priorities: 
� Making a difference for the most vulnerable  
� Making a difference for communities  
� Making a difference for local businesses  
� Making a difference for families  

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO  
.  

 

 
 
 

106



 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
 

Contact:  Fola Irikefe, Policy Officer, ext. 5389 
 
 

Background Papers:  JHOSC Agenda, 3rd March 2015 

 
http://moderngov:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1102&MId=626
13 
 

107



108

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE 

SCRUTINY SUB-

COMMITTEE 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

22nd April 2015 

Subject: 

 

Healthwatch Update Report 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Alex Dewsnap, Divisional Director, Strategic 
Commissioning 

Scrutiny Lead 

Member area: 

 

Health and Social Care 

Exempt: 

 

No 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: 

 

No 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
 
This report provides an update on the work of the Harrow Healthwatch% 

 
Recommendations: That the Sub Committee notes the report 
 

Agenda Item 9
Pages 109 to 116

109



 
 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. The Health and Social care Act made local authorities responsible for 
commissioning a local Healthwatch.  Local Healthwatch are statutorily 
responsible for: 
 

• Promoting involvement of local people in the commissioning, 
development and assessment of local health and social care 
services; 

• Monitoring health and care services through; ‘Enter and View’ 
visits, listening to users and carers and surveys to assess the 
effectiveness of services;  

• Obtaining the views of users of health and social care services on 
the effectiveness of these services;  

• Issuing reports and recommendations on local services to 
commissioners and providers of services in order to create better 
services; and  

• Influencing commissioners of health and social care so that their 
plans meet our needs 

• Supporting individuals to exercise choice by signposting them to 
services.  In particular, they will support people who lack the 
means or capacity to make choices; and 

• Reporting concerns about the quality of local health and social 
care services to Healthwatch England, independently of their local 
authority.  Healthwatch England will be able recommend that the 
Care Quality Commission takes action. 

 
2. Locally, Harrow Healthwatch is expected to achieve outcomes in two 
areas: 
 
1. Engagement and influence – The Consumer Champion; and 
2. Information and Advice - Signposting 

 
These functions are outlined in more detail below. 
 
Engagement and influence – The Consumer Champion - What should 
individuals and organisations experience? 

Individuals should experience: 
 

• Systematic and appropriate engagement with all sections of the local 
population, especially the ‘seldom heard’; 

• An organisation which seeks the communities’ views about current health 
and social care services and any planned changes; 

• Consultation and engagement that is co-ordinated with other relevant 
organisations; 

• An organisation that has due regard to what others are doing; 

110



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\7\7\AI00095776\$fepn1ewm.doc 

• An organisation that employs staff and volunteers who reflect the local 
community, who are skilled and informed to deliver Healthwatch Harrow’s 
objectives; 

• An organisation that is easy to contact; 

• A welcoming, inclusive, listening organisation; and 

• An organisation that provides easily accessible, relevant and 
understandable information which supports engagement activity. 

 
Organisations (Community, Statutory, Regulator, the Health and Well-being 
Board and HealthWatch England) should experience: 

• An organisation which makes a positive contribution to local strategic 
planning and service commissioning through clear communication of the 
local communities’ views, based on credible evidence, presented in an 
accessible, relevant way; 

• Constructive challenge on behalf of the community when required to 
assist service change and improvements to quality; 

• Informed, robust relationships based on mutual respect and an 
appreciation of the different roles each organisation plays; 

• Judicious use of ‘enter and view’ powers by collaborative working with 
other inspection regimes; 

• Prompt appropriate contact and reporting of concerns about service 
quality and safety; and 

• Co-ordinated work between local Healthwatches where providers or 
issues cross borough boundaries. 

Information and Advice – Signposting 

 
There is a flourishing and well-established network of sources of advice and 
information in existence in Harrow.  HH will not be expected to replicate or 
duplicate existing provision but to try to co-ordinate current activities and 
challenge inaccuracies to ensure the best possible range of sources of high 
quality and accurate advice and information.  If gaps in provision are 
identified, HH will be expected to ensure that these are met either by an 
already existing organisation or organisations or by direct provision. 

 
What should individuals and organisations experience? 

Individuals should experience: 
 

A service which: 
 

• Is easy to find and access; 

• Informs them about how they can manage and improve their own health 
and be involved in their own social care;  

• Informs them about how they can get involved in HealthWatch to bring 
about change to health and social care services; 

111



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\7\7\AI00095776\$fepn1ewm.doc 

• Provides information through a range of mediums and formats e.g. 
leaflets, electronic, telephone; 

• Communicates general health and social care information through local 
networks; 

• Supports and promotes local public health information and awareness 
raising activities; 

• Provides and /or points to accurate and accessible information for 
patients, carers and families about local health and social care services 
and  helps introduce people to local networks and support groups 

 
Organisations (Community, Statutory, Regulatory, the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and HealthWatch England) should experience: 
 

• A service which links with other local information sources for health and 
social care; 

• An organisation with extensive local networks; 

• An organisation which actively communicates information from local 
health and social care organisations to the local community through its 
networks; 

• An organisation which provides an early warning system for local health 
and social care commissioning and provider bodies by identifying issues 
or gaps in services; and 

• An organisation which understands the limits of the local HealthWatch 
information and advice giving function. 

Expectations 
 
HealthWatch Harrow should be guided by the following expectations: 
 

• HH will be independent and commissioned to co ordinate and support all 
relevant local advocacy and information advice services rather than 
directly providing them; 

 

• HH will develop a clear identity, operating standards and, in partnership 
with the Commissioner,  a performance framework; 

 

• HH will adopt a governance framework that, within the requirement to 
deliver the outcomes in this specification, enables communities in Harrow 
to shape its priorities and activities; 

 

• HH will conduct its business openly and transparently and report its 
activities and the impact that they have had to Harrow Council on a 
regular basis; 

 

• HH will seek to achieve value for money through delivering its services as 
efficiently and effectively as possible;  

112



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\7\7\AI00095776\$fepn1ewm.doc 

• HH will promote equality of opportunity and observe the requirements of 
the Equalities Act 2010; and 

• HH will work collaboratively with other agencies. 
 
3. Healthwatch has been provided by Harrow in Business for the last two 
years.  The Council decided to reduce the budget for Healthwatch by 43% for 
the current and future financial years and, as a consequence, it was decided 
to seek new tenders.  The budget decision was related to the volume of 
activity that the service needed to undertake rather than being based around 
the indicative un-ring-fenced grant that the Government provided when the 
function was changed form the previous LINk. 
 
4. Tenders have been received and evaluated and a new contract has been 
awarded to Harrow in Business for a further three years with options to extend 
the contract for two further years.  In awarding this new contact, the Council 
has made it clear that it expects to see a better record on enter and view.  
This is the unique attribute of Healthwatch and is able to reassure the public 
that independent people are making sure that their health and social care 
establishments are operating at a reasonable standard from a sensible 
common sense point of view.  Enter and view is not about judging complex 
clinic issues not is it the type of inspection that the CQC operates but is an 
unobtrusive, helpful and reassuring presence that is designed to: 

 
Gather data on people’s experiences of the NHS and publicly funded social 
care services from the lay perspective and 

• Increase Healthwatch’s contact with the local communities it serves;  

• Increase Healthwatch’s contact with local service providers, 
commissioners and the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 

• Be properly integrated into the organisational structure and the processes 
are in place to ensure that the data gathered is effectively used to improve 
health and social care;  

• Use data that is demonstrably evidence based;  

• Make all reports are available in the public domain. 

• Enter and View visits should be carried out with a clear purpose and all 
data gathering activities are designed to reflect that purpose;  

• Enter and View visits should be carried out by authorised representatives 
who are selected through a robust recruitment system, and receive 
appropriate training and support to ensure they carry out their duties to 
the highest standards. 

• Enter and View visits should be undertaken only where they can have an 
impact on the service users.  

• With all visits, whether reactionary or part of a planned programme of 
work, the decision to visit should be informed by intelligence gathered, or 
presented, to Healthwatch.  At the time of deciding to schedule a visit the 
following should also be decided:  

• The Purpose of the visit; and  

• Any relevant parameters for the visits.  
 

113



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\7\7\AI00095776\$fepn1ewm.doc 

• Any concerns about a service identified through an enter and view visit (or 
any other means actually) should be escalated through the appropriate 
channels  

 
Healthwatch should ensure that the health and safety of service users, staff 
members, visitors and members of the public that the visit team comes into 
contact with during the course of an Enter and View visit is not compromised 
by the actions or presence of any authorised representatives. This includes 
ensuring that:  
 

• There is no spread of infection through an unwell authorised 
representative taking part in visit;  

• Authorised representatives comply with the health and safety 
regulations of a location.  

 
Healthwatch should be equally committed to ensuring that the dignity of 
service users is not compromised by your actions.  
 
Where authorised representatives witness, are informed of, or suspect there 
is a safeguarding issue they are obliged, by law, to pass that information on to 
the appropriate bodies as soon as possible.  Authorised representatives are 
obliged to report any appropriate matters to the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC). 
 
Each visit should generate a report.  Ideally, every draft report should be 
shared with the service provider within ten working days of the visit.  The 
report should be based only on the data gathered during the Enter and View 
visit and should be written in an objective and factual style, with all statements 
grounded in data and free from subjectivity.  No individual service user or 
family member should be personally identifiable in the report.  Staff members 
will not be named in the report, however they may be personally identifiable 
due to their role.   
 
The service visited should be encouraged to respond to the draft report within 
ten working days of receiving it and, where appropriate, to develop an action 
plan outlining how they will respond appropriately to the recommendations 
outlined in the draft report.  The final report should take account of the 
service’s response and the service visited will receive a copy of the final 
report directly.  
 
All services that receive an Enter and View visit should be asked to complete 
an evaluation form of the visit itself and to provide feedback on their 
experience of the Enter and View process as a whole.  
 
5. Secondly, the Council would like to see Healthwatch develop a greater 
reach and provide improved accessibility for the public to engage with 
Healthwatch.  The unique structure of Harrow Healthwatch is a major asset 
but it has perhaps not been developed as much as it could be.  With the new 
contract providing a significantly reduced budget, it is now more vital than 
ever that the Advisory Board partners make the most of their links with their 
constituencies of health and care users to help inform Healthwatch of their 

114



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\7\7\AI00095776\$fepn1ewm.doc 

needs and experiences.  Partners could also increase the visibility of 
Healthwatch to the public at large through their other activities and their bases 
in the Borough.  The Council would like to see the Healthwatch brand 
represented in the activities, publications, events and offices of all of the 
delivery partners.  The Healthwatch partnership needs to be more active and 
more real than in the first two years when the service was finding its feet.  
  
 

Financial Implications 
 
None 

 
Performance Issues 
 
Harrow Healthwatch will continue to supply monitoring and an annual report to 
the Council which will be reported to Health Sub-Committee and the Health 
and Well Being Board as appropriate. 
 

Environmental Impact 
 
None 
 

Risk Management Implications 
 
None 

 
Equalities Implications 
 
The EqIA for the re-tendering process raised no issues.   
 

Council Priorities 
 
The Healthwatch work programme and functions are relevant to the Council’s 
priorities: 
 

• Making a difference for the vulnerable 
• Making a difference for communities 
• Making a difference for families 

 

 

 

115



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\7\7\AI00095776\$fepn1ewm.doc 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Not required for 
Scrutiny reports. 

  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 
�������������.. 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name:  Not required for 
Scrutiny reports 

  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date: 
�������������.. 

   
 

 
 
 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO  
 

 
 
 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
 

Contact:  Mike Howes mike.howes@harrow.gov.uk Ext 5637 
 
 

Background Papers: None 

116



 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Health & Social Care 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

Date of Meeting: 

 

April 2015 

Subject: 

 

Harrow’s Local Account 2013-14 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Paul Najsarek, Corporate Director of 
Community, Health and Wellbeing   

Scrutiny Lead 

Member area: 

 

Councillor Chris Mote, Policy Lead 
Member 
  
Councillor Karin Ramchandani, 
Performance Lead Member 
 

Exempt: 

 

Wards affected: 

No 
 

All 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
Appendix One:  
Harrow’s Local Account 2013 -14 
 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
This report sets out the main elements of the Harrow Local Account Report 
2013 – 2014 
 
Recommendations: Scrutiny is requested to note the information report. 
 
Reason:  To provide Scrutiny with an overview of Harrow Adult Social Care 
performance during 2013 – 2014 

 

Agenda Item 10
Pages 117 to 178

117



 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 

Introductory paragraph 
The Local Account is an important aspect of our overall approach to improving 
quality. It highlights best practice and demonstrates the progress we are 
making towards positive outcomes for all those who depend on our services. 
 
Local accounts are used by councils across the country to assess how well 
adult social care services are performing. In recent years, government policy 
has encouraged a trend away from reporting to central government. Instead, 
councils report directly to local residents via the Local Account. 
 
We produced our third local account last year, and have gathered feedback to 
ensure that our Local Account continues to reflect the voice of service users 
and carers and aimed at the whole community. 
 

Options considered 
This report refers to activities already undertaken and is presented to Health 
and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee for information and not for decision. 
 

Background  
The Local Account matters because it is rooted in our desire to ensure that we 
are accountable to Harrow’s vulnerable adults and carers. Throughout our 
Local account you will see evidence of the ways in which we have engaged 
with the local community and the ways in which we have responded to their 
collective voice. When the community has spoken, we have listened closely 
and taken positive action to improve Harrow’s adult social care services. 
 
The National Context 
Understanding what we have achieved must be understood within the context 
of the changing care landscape. This year has seen our response to 
Winterbourne View, integration of health and social care and the development 
of the Better Care Fund, and the progress of The Care Act. The funding 
challenges continue, so we need to support ever-more people, with less. 
 
We have chosen to meet the challenges with innovation and partnership 
working. We will continue to push for high quality services and continue to 
challenge poor quality care and support wherever it may be. 
 
Quality Assurance 
In this Local Account we explore our approach to safeguarding assurance and 
quality of services and how MyCommunity ePurse is affecting people’s lives.  
 
As a result of extensive discussions with the Local Account Group, we have 
tailored the style of the document to service users and carers, using more 
pictures and many more case studies to give context to our achievements. 
 
 

118



 3

It is important to recognise the contribution that has been made over the past 
year by Harrow’s Local Account Group. The group is an important part of our 
engagement with the local community. As we move through 2015, the Local 
Account Group will conduct regular surveys and continue to contribute 
towards the quality assurance of Harrow’s adult social care services. 
 
In this year’s Local Account Report we will: 
 

• Explain adult social care and give you the chance to read about people 
who use our services 

• Explain the National and local context for adult social care, including 
the Care Act 2014 and our priorities for the future 

• Publish facts and figures about how we have spent our money and how 
we have performed compared to other Local Authorities 

• Look at the new and exciting initiaitves that have been taking place and 
hearing from people who are involved 

• Give an insigt into what our Safeguarding Assurance and Quality 
Services team have been doing over the last year to protect vulnerable 
people and demonstrate our commitment to driving up Quality 
Standards. 

 
In addition the report covers what the community said to us, and use case 
studies to provide context: 
 

• Mental health recovery 

• Personal budgets and personalised solutions 

• Dementia support 

• Harrow shared lives scheme – a family orientated solution to long term 
care needs 

• Reablement 

• MyCommunity ePurse – transacting personal budgets online 
 

Current situation 
The Local Account is an important tool for the public to use in holding the local 
authority to account for how money is spent and on the quality of the services 
it provides. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
Any future actions are contained within existing plans and budgets as part of 
our continuing improvement cycle. 
 

Legal Implications 
During the period covered by the Local Account 2013-14 there was no 
overarching statutory framework covering adult safeguarding and no legal 
obligation to produce an annual report covering safeguarding activity 
undertaken by the council. 
 
Adult safeguarding is led by local authorities, based on the ‘No Secrets’ 
Guidance 2000 issued by the Department of Health under Section 7 of the 
Local Authorities Social Services Act 1970. The Care Act 2014 reforms the 

119



 4

law relating to care and support for adults and for carers, and to make 
provision about safeguarding adults in primary legislation. 
 
It puts Safeguarding Adults Boards on a statutory footing with the Council, 
Clinical Commissioning Groups and Police as core members. The Council, 
having consulted the aforementioned bodies, will be able to appoint other 
persons as it considers appropriate. Councils will remain the lead agency for 
safeguarding. The Boards will be required to publish an annual strategic plan 
detailing its strategy for achieving its objectives and what each member is to 
do to implement that strategy. In preparing such a strategy, there is a 
requirement to consult the local Healthwatch group and involve the local 
community. The Board will also be required to publish an annual report setting 
out what it has done in the previous year to implement its strategy and 
objectives.   
 

Performance Issues  
 
Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF): 
 

• Enhancing quality of life for people with care and support needs 

• Delaying and reducing the need for care and support 

• Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care and support 

• Safeguarding adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable and 
protecting them from avoidable harm 

The report provides performance information gathered from performance 
indicators, survey data, inspections, consultations and user feedback.  
 
Environmental Impact  
 
None 
 

Risk Management Implications 
 
Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No  
  
Separate risk register in place?  No  
  

Equalities implications 
 
An EqIA has not been undertaken for the production of the report. This 
information report details activity across Adult Services. Many of the activities 
detailed in the Local Account report have undergone an EqIA and are 
available on line. 
 
 

120



 5

Corporate Priorities 
 
The Local Account encompasses the ‘Supporting and protecting people who 
are most in need’ and a ‘United and involved communities:  A Council that 
listens and leads’ council priorities. It does this through ensuring robust QA 
measures are in place that safeguard service users and listen and learn from 
user feedback and complaints. 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Donna Edwards x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 8th April 2015 

   

 
 

 
Ward Councillors notified: 

  
No 
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
 

Contact:  Chris Greenway, Community Health and Wellbeing Directorate, 

Head of Safeguarding Assurance and Quality Services 
Ext: 2188 
Chris.greenway @harrow.gov.uk  
 
  

121



122

This page is intentionally left blank



The Annual Local Account Report

2013/14

A Review of Adult Social Care in Harrow

Apppendix 1

123



2

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

2222

HHHHHHHHaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaarrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrooooooooooooooooooowwwwwwwww’’sssssssss  LLLLLLLLLLoooooooooooooocccccccaaaaaaaaaaallll  AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAccccccccccccccccccccccccooooooooooooooooooooooouuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuunnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnttttttttttttttttt     22222222222222200000000001111111111113333333333333333333333333//////////////////111111111111111144444444444444444

- Glen Mason,
Director of People, Communities

and Local Government

Department of Health

“Personalisation runs through Harrow’s work 

like letters in a stick of rock”

Apppendix 1

124



3

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Contents

Foreword by the Portfolio Holder ………………………………………………… 5

Executive summary by the Director of Adult Social Services ….... 6-7

An introduction by the Local Account Group ……………………………… 8-9

The National and Local Context ………………………………………………….. 10

The Local Account 2013/14 – Our Objectives …………………………….. 11

A Guide to Adult Social Care ……………………………………………………….. 12-15

Safeguarding Adults …………………………………………………………………….. 16-17

Our Approach and Achievements ……………………………………………….. 18-23

Carers Update ………………………………………………………………………………. 24-25

Health Integration Update ……………………………………………………………. 26-27

Personalisation Update ………………………………………………………………… 28

You Said, We Did – User Engagement ……………………………………….. 29

Case Studies …………………………………………………………………………………. 30-43

Sta! Snapshots …………………………………………………………………………….. 44-45

Finance Summary …………………………………………………………………………. 46-47

Performance Summary …………………………………………………………………. 48-49

Glossary …………………………………………………………………………………………. 50-53

Useful Contacts …………………………………………………………………………….. 54-55

 

 

A Review of Adult Social Care in Harrow

Apppendix 1

125



4

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Personal budgets have 

changed my life completely, 

now I have piece of mind

- Mahesh

Apppendix 1

126



5

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Foreword by the Portfolio Holder

Welcome to Harrow Adult Social Care’s 2013-

14 Local Account. This is our chance to share 

with you how well we are doing at meeting the 

needs of vulnerable adults across Harrow, to 

share our plans for the future, and to invite you 

to tell us what you think.

Adult Social Services faces several challenges.  

We know more people are living longer, and 

with more complex long term conditions at 

some point they will therefore require social 

care help.  At the same time, councils are 

receiving less funding overall and so will have 

to find di!erent ways of doing things in order 

to continue to meet the needs of our most 

vulnerable people. 

The people of Harrow have told us they want 

real choice in their care, they want personalised 

care which suits them and they want to stay 

independent for as long as possible.  Our 

commitment to achieving this was rewarded 

with the national accolade of having the highest 

percentage of cash personal budgets in the 

Country.  

There continue to be big challenges ahead 

in adult social care, we are changing the way 

in which we deliver our services so we can 

continue to o!er quality care and value for 

money for the future. We are also committed 

to improving social care outcomes within the 

constraints of a challenging financial climate.

This Local Account was developed by our Local 

Account group, which includes those who 

use our services and their carers.  They have 

helped us to decide what people wanted to 

know about our services and how we perform.  

I would like to thank all those who contributed.  

Please take the time to read this document and 

to share your views with us.

Councillor Margaret Davine

Adults and Older People Portfolio Holder

Apppendix 1

127



6

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Harrow’s Adult Social Care team continues 

to face some of the biggest changes ever; 

with the Care Bill receiving Royal Assent in 

May 2014 and becoming the Care Act, this 

Local Account captures our preparation for 

the important duties it lays out for us as a 

local authority in delivering health and social 

care. 

As always, we seek to improve the lives of 

vulnerable adults and in response to the 

various challenges, it never fails to impress 

me, how Harrow council o"cers, with our 

partners endeavour to achieve the best 

possible outcomes for our clients. 

Safeguarding

2013 saw adult social care receiving its 

first formal Peer Challenge Review of our 

Safeguarding services. The peer team 

consisted of senior social care sta! from 

other authorities and a national expert 

on safeguarding. One of the headline 

messages in their feedback was: ‘There is 

very impressive safeguarding adults practice 

which is overseen by strong leadership and 

commitment from senior o"cers and elected 

Councillors and they informed us that the 

local safeguarding adults arrangements 

continue to move from ‘good’ to ‘great’. 

The Safeguarding Team have worked 

closely with both Harrow Police and the 

London Fire Brigade to raise the awareness 

of those most vulnerable about keeping safe 

both at home and in the community. Events 

have taken place across the community to 

share information about safeguarding and 

to o!er people free home fire safety checks 

and also to introduce people to smartwater 

to prevent burglaries.

Work is currently underway to introduce the 

“Safe Place” scheme to Harrow which will 

help people with disabilities to feel more safe 

and supported in their local communities.

Our unique ‘Safety Helix’ is a tool we have 

developed to ensure more robust and 

sophisticated quality monitoring and we 

have created a Safeguarding Assurance and 

Quality Services team to make sure services 

are achieving the required standards.  

Personalisation

Through pioneering initiatives we have 

continued to passionately support the 

personalisation agenda. A user-led ethos 

underpins  our approach and  this has 

resulted in Harrow’s recognition as a 

consistent national and regional leader 

in this area. During 2013/14, Harrow’s 

social care department have welcomed   

Director of Adult Social Services

Executive Summary 
by Bernie Flaherty

Apppendix 1

128



7

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

number of visitors to the Council to see how 

personalisation works. Dignitaries and Senior 

Health and Social Care representatives from 

across the UK, Sweden, and Japan’s first 

minister have come to Harrow to see this 

ground-breaking work.   

Innovation

A highlight for us has been the growing 

use of ‘My Community ePurse’ (MCEP) for 

personal budgets, with Harrow now having 

the highest number of people nationally 

using a cash personal budget. We are seeing 

the development of MCEP’s potential in 

responding to the Care Act’s technological 

requirements. 

Our integration with Public Health partners 

has made the development of projects like 

‘Ballet Burst’ a reality. This is a research 

programme on the links between Learning 

Disability and Obesity. Ballet Burst has been 

accredited by esteemed academics at the 

Tizard Centre based at the University of Kent  

who are working with us to deliver its benefits.

You will read about these initiatives and others 

and about the people who make it happen 

in this Local Account. Each of our initiatives 

contributes to improving the quality of care, 

support and wellbeing in Harrow.

The Local Account Group

This report is an important aspect of our overall 

approach to improving quality and we give a 

special thanks to the Local Account Group, 

alongside whom we have co-produced some 

excellent work throughout the year.  

We have widened the participation in the Local 

Account Group, and continue to support the 

team of enthusiastic and committed experts-

by-experience, to improve and develop 

Harrow’s adult social care system.

Inclusive fun for everyone: ‘A Ballet Burst’ taster session

Apppendix 1

129



8

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Welcome to Harrow’s 

Local Account Report 2013/14 

An introduction by the Local Account Group

Karrar: “Being on the local account 

has enabled us as a group to look 

at how Harrow council is working 

towards meeting the needs of all 

service users.”

                             

Sally:

“It’s nice to feel part of 

a group that showcases 

what is happening in 

social care.”

 

Peter: “Being on the group 

gives me the opportunity to 

share my ideas and I can then 

share these with other service 

users across Harrow.”

Lee: “As a service user, I like the fact 

that I am able to give something 

back to adult social care and also 

see things from other perspectives.”

George: “This group allows 

us to widen our knowledge 

of what is happening in 

Harrow and also being able 

to share this further afield.”

Arvinda: “As one of the first people 

to receive a personal budget (fo

mother’

other peop

personalisati

grown in Harrow

Apppendix 1

130



9

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

George: “This group allows 

us to widen our knowledge 

Harrow and also being able 

Arvinda: “As one of the first people 

to receive a personal budget (for my 

mother’s care) it has been good to meet 

other people and spread the word about 

personalisation and to see how this has 

grown in Harrow.”

The Local Account group co-produced this report, incorporating the views and 

feedback from both service users and carers. The Local Account group members 

are all experts by experience who have an interest in making sure that we 

represent the views of people who use services in Harrow. They have chosen 

what goes in this report and how it should look. They said “We feel real stories 

by service users, carers and their families are the best way to give evidence as to 

how Harrow’s adult services has delivered it’s social care outcomes”. 

This Local Account Report demonstrates a commitment to service user and carer 

engagement and co-production.

The Local Account Report provides evidence of the ways 

in which Harrow Council have engaged with the local 

community and the ways in which they have responded 

to their collective voice.

In this year’s Local Account report, we will:

• Explain adult social care and give you the chance to 

read about people who use our services.

• Explain the National and local context for adult social 

care, including the Care Act 2014 and our priorities for 

the future. 

• Publish facts and figures about how we have spent 

our money and how we have performed compared to 

other Local Authorities.

• Look at the new and exciting initiatives that have 

been taking place and hearing from people who are 

involved.

• Give an insight into what our Safeguarding Assurance 

and Quality Services Team has been doing over 

the last year to protect vulnerable people and 

demonstrate our commitment to driving up Quality 

Standards.

 

Apppendix 1

131



10

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

 The National & Local Context            
The Care Act Update

The Care Act received Royal assent in May 2014 

and will come into force in two phases: April 

2015 and April 2016. The final guidance for the 

implementation of the first phase was published in 

November 2014, with draft guidance expected in 

January 2015 for phase two implementation.   

The Act focuses on the ‘wellbeing’ principle and the 

concept of coordinated, person-centred services. 

The Act also puts Carers on the same legal footing 

as those they care for and brings together years of 

good practice and updates outdated Social Care 

Law. In the second phase of the Act it will bring in 

a cap on social care costs with the introduction of 

Care Accounts in April 2016.  

The Care Act underlines the importance of 

Personalisation, giving service users and carers 

choice and control over the money spent on 

their care.  Harrow as National Leaders in 

Personalisation have already introduced Personal 

Budgets for all Service Users and Carers in the 

Community.  This makes Harrow well placed to 

meet the requirements of the Care Act.  

Integration of Health and Social Care

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 replaced 

Local Involvement Network (LINk), with a new 

body called Harrow Healthwatch in 2013. This will 

benefit patients, users of services, carers and the 

public by helping to get the best out of services, 

improving outcomes, and helping services to 

be more responsive to what people want and 

need. The expectation is that Healthwatch will 

bring important issues to the Harrow Health and 

Wellbeing Board.

Over the last year the integration agenda has 

developed both nationally and at the North West 

London level. Nationally, there is a recognition 

that increasing the integration of NHS and local 

authority/social care activity between both the 

commissioners and providers of services will make 

significant improvements to people’s quality of life, 

experience and outcomes

Our Progress

We have developed an Integrated Care 

Pilot which involves GPs, healthcare 

professionals and local authorities working 

in a more cohesive way to improve health 

and social care for vulnerable patients. 

This is developing into the ‘whole systems’ 

integrated care programme, which is Harrow’s 

part of the North West London Integration 

Pioneers Early Adopters programme.

The development of Harrow In case of  

Emergency vulnerable adults programme

Social care reablement and reablement plus 

services has underpinned the Harrow In Case 

of Emergency (HICE) project which had the 

overall aim of reducing the number of older 

people who are regularly admitted to hospital. 

The HICE programme provided a range of 

preventative support mechanisms and saw 

significant reduction in admissions as well as 

improvements in outcomes including Health 

and Wellbeing, Safety and Carers quality of life. 

Funding Challenges

Like all councils, we are facing tough times 

but we are committed to support the most 

vulnerable and will target resources where 

they are most needed.   

We will continue to work in partnership with 

Harrow Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), 

Voluntary Sector organisations and other 

Community Groups to find new ways of 

delivering more integrated care services and 

help people to remain independent.  

Apppendix 1

132



11

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Local Account 2013/14 

Our Objectives
This is our third Local Account and it provides a method for demonstrating accountability for 

performance and outcomes. It helps plan improvements through enagement with people 

who use services and getting feedback on their experience. 

The Department of Health provides a framework which we use to assess adult social care 

outcomes and enables us to measure our performance in key areas.

The Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (also known as ASCOF) tells local authorities 

what we must do to improve outcomes.

 

The ASCOF is divided into four sections (called domains). These are:

• Safeguarding adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable 

and protecting them from unavoidable harm

• Enhancing quality of life for people with care and support needs

• Delaying and reducing the need for care and support

• Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care and 

support

Apppendix 1

133



12

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

A Guide to Adult Social Care in Harrow

Some people need support to lead an active life and do the everyday things that most of us 

take for granted. The social care system for adults provides this support for those who need 

it and to help them keep their independence and dignity. The adult social care department, 

part of Harrow Council’s social services, is responsible for assessing people’s need for 

‘community care’ or ‘social care’ services. 

Safeguarding and Quality Assurance is at the centre of everything we do in Adult Social 

Care. Over the next few pages we will take you, step by step through each of the stages 

above, explaining what they are and giving examples of our achievements in each area.

Safeguarding 

and 

Quality 

Assurance

Safeguarding 

and 

Quality 

Assurance

Apppendix 1

134



13

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

‘Ballet Burst’ O!cially 

launched in 2014

Apppendix 1

135



14

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Access Harrow: The customer journey starts with Access Harrow as the first point of 

contact with Harrow Council. Based on the callers 

response to a series of questions, an o"cer from Access 

Harrow will follow up with the necessary action. This could 

be giving you information and advice as appropriate, for 

example details of health related resources or referring 

you to an appropriate partner organisation such as the 

Citizen’s Advice Bureau. If the reason for the call cannot be 

resolved at first point of contact the caller is transferred to 

the Reablement team.

Access Harrow

R
Reablement

What to expect from Adult Social Care            

Reablement: The reablement service provides 

planned, short term intensive support to people who 

may have had a set back in their life, for example an 

injury caused by a fall. Reablement is designed to help 

people restore their independence, regain lost skills, build 

confidence and help people to do as much as possible for 

themselves rather than someone doing things for them. 

The aim is to  enable people to live in their homes for as 

long as possible.

The Reablement service in Harrow is available to residents 

aged 18 years and older. The team provides a multi-

disciplinary approach that sign-posts and supports people 

to be as independent as possible for as long as possible. 

Typically a  Reablement support package may be o!ered 

for a maximum of up to 6 weeks. 

Personalisation: Personalisation is delivered by 
three di!erent teams in Harrow.

The Personalisation 1 team undertake initial assessments 

of people, using a supported self-assessment which is 

essential for determining a Personal Budget amount. 

When the necessary information is gathered, the 

Personalisation 2 team follow up by developing a Support Plan with the individidual.

The Support Plan is developed using ‘My Community ePurse’. This online technology is a website 

that gives you access to a social care directory and useful information including the rated quality of 

care and an idea of what you should pay.

Support Plans are reviewed every year by the Personalisation 3 team or more frequently if required. 

All services are monitored by the ‘Safeguarding Assurance and Quality Services team’.

Please see our case studies for more information about how personalisation is working in Harrow.

R
Reablement

R
Reablement

Apppendix 1

136



15

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Long Term Care: The Long Term team deals with more complex needs that are likely to 

need ongoing support and long term care.

The Team primarily work with people who need supported 

living arrangements, residential or nursing placements.

The team work in partnership with the sensory services team 

supporting people living in Harrow who may have visual 

impairments, are hard of hearing or are dea$lind. They 

provide information, advice, support and assessments for 

specialist equipment adaptations.

Support for Carers: With the refresh of the National 

Carers’ Strategy and the equality of carers’ rights under the 

Care Act, carers are being put at the forefront more than 

ever before. We were pleased to find that in 2013/14, carers 

in Harrow rated their quality of life as third highest in London. 

Harrow contributes to the wellbeing of carers by working 

closely with third sector groups, and hosting regular carer 

events and opportunities that actively encourage carers to 

give their feedback.

Health Integration: The vision for integrated 
care is based around three key commitments to people 

using services. People and their carers and families will be 

empowered to:

• Exercise choice and control, 

• Manage their own health and well-being 

•  Receive the care they need in their own homes or in   

        their local community.

GPs will be at the centre of organising and coordinating people’s care.

Integrated initiatives have included ‘Winter Warmers’ and the Harrow In Case of Emergency project 

targeting people over 75 with high hospital admission rates with the aim of reducing the number of 

avoidable admissions.

Apppendix 1

137



16

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Safeguarding Adults            

Safeguarding of Vulnerable Adults during 2013/2014

The safeguarding of vulnerable adults is a legal responsibility placed on health and 

social care organisations to work together through a duty of partnership. 

A vulnerable adult is defined as a person aged 18 or over, who is or may be in need of 

community care services by reason of mental health or other disability, age or illness; 

and who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself or 

unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or 

exploitation.

The Local Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) is chaired by 

Bernie Flaherty (Director – Adult Social Services, Harrow 

Council) and is the body that oversees how organisations 

across Harrow work together to address the safeguarding 

agenda. The board met four times in 2013/14. This included an 

Annual Review Day.

Key safeguarding activities through 2013/14 have included:

• A Safeguarding Peer Review: Peer reviews have been developed by 

the London Government Association to develop excellence in adult social care. In 

November 2013 a Peer Review team led by Cathy Kerr, Director of Adults Social 

Care in Richmond reviewed Harrow’s safeguarding practices and procedures. The 

team concluded that Harrow has a very impressive service with evidence of strong 

practice and leadership.  The review team judged that Harrow is placed in a strong 

position to tackle future challenges and provided recommendations to enable us to 

move ‘from good to great’.

• Specialist Training: A total of 2176 people received safeguarding training in 2013/14 - 

this was an increase of 698 people from 2012/13. A new three year training strategy 

was developed and agreed by the board.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

The use of these safeguards is important in the Board’s oversight of the prevention of 

abuse and as they are relevant for some of the most vulnerable people known to local 

services (and those that are placed out of borough), the LSAB needs to be reassured 

that they are carefully monitored.

There were a series of briefings about DoLS to more than 250 individual stakeholders 

e.g. social care sta!, school sta! and police. 

Apppendix 1

138



17

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14
Safeguarding adults whose circumstances make them 

vulnerable and protecting them from avoidable harm

Service users produced and presented a film to the Local Safeguarding 

Adults Board annual review day

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) are part of the 

Mental Capacity Act 2005. They aim to make sure that people in 

care homes, hospitals and supported living are looked after in a 

way that does not inappropriately restrict their freedom. 

There were 14 requests for authorisations last year (an increase of 1 from the previous year) of which 

9 were granted. The main change is that there were 5 requests from hospitals compared to none in 

2013/2013. The remaining 9 were from registered care settings, primarily nursing homes.

• 5 authorisations were for 18 – 64 year old (younger) adults and 9 were for older people

• 9 authorisations were for men and 5 were for women

The 14 referrals were across a range of disabilities: 6 for people with a physical disability; 3 for 

people with a mental health di"culty; 3 for people with a learning disability and 2 for people with 

more than one disability (learning disability / mental health and sensory).

1003 people raised a safeguarding concern. This was an increase of 346 in the last year which 

demonstrated that more people were coming forward to raise safeguarding concerns. This reflects 

the impact of awareness raised by the Local Safeguarding Adult Board. 

The Safeguarding Team have worked closely with both Harrow Police and the London Fire 

Brigade to raise awareness to those most vulnerable about keeping safe both at home and 

in the community.  Events have taken place across the community to share information about 

safeguarding and to o!er people free home fire safety checks and also to introduce people to 

smartwater, an innovative scheme to identify stolen property and prevent burglaries. 

See page 54 for Safeguarding contact details

Apppendix 1

139



18

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Safeguarding Assurance & 

Quality Services

We protect the most vulnerable 

residents. This process puts the 

service user at the centre and uses 

techniques we have developed.

Our last local account introduced 

the Quality Assurance Quadrant 

(QAQ), a regular internal report 

which looks at four key areas of our 

work; Reablement; Personalisation; 

Safeguarding and Providers. 

2013/14 sees the development of a dedicated Safeguarding Assurance and Quality Services team. 

This team will incorporate a monitoring role responsible for checking compliance across all social 

care services through inspection and tracking actions that arise.  

Local Quality Charter printed and 

promoted

Disturbing levels of poor care and ill treatment by some 

sta! in care homes has been reported in the media over 

the last couple of years.  The Safeguarding Assurance & 

Quality Services team in Harrow monitor all care homes 

in the Borough and homes outside Harrow where 

Harrow clients are based to ensure that all minimum 

standards are met and the quality of care meets those 

published in our Quality Charter. This is now available 

to all providers who wish to deliver personalised 

services in Harrow

The team continues to focus on helping care homes 

to improve their standards and works closely with 

the homes to ensure the needs of residents are 

met with dignity and respect. The attention in the 

media highlights the importance of the continuation 

and strengthening of this service to ensure that 

standards of care are exceeded. 

meme  

erer  

& & 

eses  

Our Approach & Achievements

Apppendix 1

140



19

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

     Responding to Winterbourne View -

Progress to date:

• Joint Winterbourne View panel and 

processes: Working with service providers 

and families to review people in learning 

disability or autism inpatient hospital beds 

to agree a personal care plan based on 

needs

• Personalised care and care in community 

settings:  Assessments and support plans 

have been completed with families and 

service providers. In addition Harrow are 

first across London for cash Personal 

Budgets

• Established Winterbourne View Task and 

Finish group: to deliver the concordat 

requirements and develop and deliver 

local action plans with accountability to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board

• Guidelines for placements and panel 

decisions: Terms of Reference in place to 

support placements and panel decisions 

• Increased availability of local services: 

Universal access to all services for 

clients with learning disability and autism, 

specialist multi-disciplinary community 

team and newly commissioned CAMHS 

(Child and Adolescent Mental Health 

services), learning disability and 

challenging behaviour service.

• Internal Specialist Provision: Roxborough 

Park Residential Unit has gained National 

Autistic Society Accreditation

• Assessment and Treatment placements: All 

cases are subject to regular multi agency, 

in depth reviews with clear action plans 

to step down into lower intensity care 

settings

• Funding arrangements: Funding 

arrangements are jointly discussed and 

agreed via multi-agency panels with 

agreement to joint fund as required

• All clients have a named coordinator: 

Named health and social care professional 

for every admission

• Dispute Resolution Policy in place and 

adopted by other London Boroughs.

• Dedicated Transition Team for children 

with learning disabilities and challenging 

behaviours moving to Adult Services: Joint 

future care planning.

The Winterbourne View Concordat can be 

viewed at gov.uk - search ‘Winterbourne View 

Concordat’

Winterbourne View in-Depth Review

Following the abuse that occurred at Winterbourne View, a private hospital in South Gloucestershire, Harrow 

Council has worked tirelessly to address factors highlighted in the national response to the Winterbourne 

View scandal through our safeguarding adults partnership board. The safeguarding assurance team has 

successfully developed a framework to ensure that Harrow remains a forerunner in relation to issues 

highlighted and we are building a strong culture of joint working with the Harrow Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG). 

In March 2014 Harrow was notified that the Department of Health intended to conduct an in-depth review 

(IDR) of progress regarding the Winterbourne View Concordat. We were chosen in part due to the diversity 

and demography of the borough. 

Apppendix 1

141



20

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Autism Strategy Update

In February 2014, the Autism Lead for Association of Directors Adult Social Services (ADASS) plus 

representatives from the Department of Health Policy Unit, the Local Government Association, 

and The National Autistic Society visited Harrow. They met a group of people from Adult Social 

Services, Harrow Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and the voluntary sector. The group 

explored how well Harrow was doing to put the strategy into practice locally and which challenges 

they were coming across.

The visitors were particularly impressed with Harrow Council’s training model which involves a 

local support organisation and people with autism in delivering autism awareness training to health 

and social care professionals. Consequently, Harrow Council was the only London borough (a) 

selected to take part in this review, and (b) invited to the autism strategy launch session.  

The service user led awareness training in Harrow has been published as a case study 

representing a model of good practice in the Government’s latest Autism Strategy refresh 

presented by Norman Lamb, April 2014 ‘Think Autism: Fulfilling and Rewarding Lives, the strategy 

for adults with autism in England: an update.’ 

They quote:

Autism awareness training for sta! in Harrow

Harrow Adult Social Care has worked with a local voluntary organisation to set up

Autism Awareness training for sta!. The training model involves adults with autism

and parents or carers as part of the local Empowering Ourselves to be Heard Project.

Using local speakers brings a unique insight into autism and personal experiences of

services. Attendees then have the opportunity to participate in group sessions with

speakers, ask questions and discuss how to improve their practice. As well as social

care, training places have been extended to housing, customer services and

voluntary sector advocacy sta!. The inclusion of customer services has proved

particularly e!ective. The courses have been popular and will continue to run regularly.

This work has also led to links being made between the Empowering Project and

other parts of the Council, providing adults with autism opportunities to participate in

improving the delivery of a range of services.

To read the whole document: 

Think Autism, Fulfilling and Rewarding Lives, the strategy for adults with autism in England: an update 

Visit: 

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/299866/Autism_Strategy.pdf

Our Approach & Achievements

Apppendix 1

142



21

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

MyCommunity ePurse

MyCommunity ePurse is a web-based online solution that uses PayPal’s payment technology to 

administer personal budgets. Also known as MCeP, this pioneering approach to personalisation 

and delivering outcome focussed personal budgets goes from strength to strength. The solution 

addresses many barriers to cash personal budgets including improved management of fraud risk 

and accountability. Harrow has now secured intellectual Property Rights (IPR) to MCeP and has 

already attracted several expressions of interest from other local authorities to buy and use the 

technology. Please see our case studies for examples of how it is being used.

Navigating MyCommunity ePurse

Peter: 

“Having recently joined the local account as someone with autism I find it refreshing to 

be part of a group where we can all contribute, we are listened to and make a di!erence. 

I have been very impressed by the improvements that have been made in adult social 

care and all within a tight budget. As a former accountant I can appreciate that this is 

quite an achievement. I have been involved in the Autism Awareness training all the way 

through as an adult with autism and have been very impressed by the response from the 

sta! members attending. One positive change resulting directly 

from the training related to the often highly stressful experience 

of autistic people coming to the Civic Centre requiring help. Some 

found the procedure they needed to go through to get help too 

stressful and had to give up and go home in some distress. On 

hearing about this during the training, one member of sta! worked 

out a stress-free way that we could come and get help, avoiding 

the previous procedure. This was tested out on one of those who 

had experienced di"culties and worked well. It has now become 

available to all autistic people.”

Apppendix 1

143



22

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Complaints and Compliments

A year on from the last report has seen some 

improvements in the number of complaints 

compared to the previous Year. 

5.4% of complaints escalated to stage 2 of the 

complaints process. We attribute that this low 

rate is due to the sound practice in resolving 

complaints e!ectively.  It also suggests that 

service users concerns are being heard and 

resolutions found at the earliest point in the 

complaints process, in line with best practice.

Harrow has been committed to try to resolve 

complaints as quickly as possible.  All service 

areas exceeded targets with an overall level of 

86% of complaints  being dealt within ten days

In addition to formal mediation meetings 

there were numerous informal meetings with 

complainants as a way to assist them with the 

process or engage with them to discuss specific issues.

Feedback about the service we provide is important to us and we welcome comments or 

suggestions whether good or bad as they help us learn and improve. In addition to complaints  

we also received 44 compliments.

‘The team were very 

professional people who 

really did care. I felt they 

were not just words.  

Their approach was 

caring at a very stressful 

time. They were superb’

Our Approach & Achievements

Complaints Team Contact Details

Telephone:  0800 136 104

email:   Complaints.adultsandchildrens@harrow.gov.uk

Fax:   020 8736 6882

Text:  07584 464628

Apppendix 1

144



23

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Global interest in Harrow

Four dignitaries from the Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions visited 

Harrow in late-March. They were given presentations about personalisation and a variety 

of initiatives we use to achieve high-quality outcomes for service users and carers.  Jennie 

Björstad, Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions, said “the visit gave them 

a lot of inspiration! We want to further explore some of the very interesting activities 

mentioned to spread to others back home.”  In particular they were interested in Ballet 

Burst, Harrow’s Local Account and Quality Charter.

Market Position Statement

Our first Market Position Statement (MPS) is 

a summary of what we have learned from 

feedback and sets out how providers can 

make Harrow the best place to receive adult 

social care and support. 

The institute of Public Care (IPC), who are 

helping councils to develop MPS said they 

were “Really struck by the service user input 

and sense of community and personalised 

care articulated through the MPS giving 

the user a voice”. They also described Harrow’s MPS as “Very 

Compelling” and “Having a really good tone”.

Apppendix 1

145



24

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Carers Update                                 

National Carers Week 2013

We launched Harrow’s very own “carers’ shopping centre” in June 2013.

31 organisations joined forces to become a live shopping centre where carers could 

meet with organisations face to face to see what they were able to o!er and how 

they may be able to provide information, advice, care, and support. The event was 

extremely well attended from start to finish and the general consensus was that the 

event was a great success and should be repeated on a regular basis. The stall-holders 

said that they had benefited from attending and having the opportunity to not only 

meet with carers but also to see what other organisations were able to o!er.

With the refresh of the National Carers’ Strategy and equality of carers’ rights under 

the Care Act. it is positive to see carers more than ever before are being put at the 

forefront of the local community.  We were pleased to find that carers in Harrow rated 

their quality of life as third highest in London. Harrow contributes to the wellbeing of 

carers by working closely with third-sector groups, and have  hosted regular carer 

events and opportunities where carers are actively encouraged to give their views and 

feedback.

Apppendix 1

146



25

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

                        

Carers Revival

All carers were invited to attend a local church on a monthly basis to learn more 

about the support that is available for unpaid carers in Harrow. 

There have been a wide variety of speakers including Caroline Tomlinson, a 

co- founder of In Control* – who focused her presentation on the introduction 

of personal budgets for carers and support planning.  Carers were given the 

opportunity to engage in practical exercises which enabled them to gain more 

understanding of how personal budgets may be of benefit to them. 

Many guest speakers are invited to share information about their organisations 

and carers are given the opportunity to develop more understanding of how new 

initiatives and plans for carers are supported by Harrow council.  

Carers revival is also an opportunity to engage with carers when shaping new 

services as Harrow Council recognises their roles as experts by experience and 

values their thoughts, ideas and feedback.

*In-Control are a national charity ‘working for an inclusive society where everyone 

has the support they need to live a good life and make a valued contribution’ for 

more information please visit: www.in-control.org.uk

The Carer’s strategy

In March 2013 the Carer’s Task 

and Finish group – comprising 

members from Adult Social Care, 

Public Health and Harrow Clinical 

Commissioning Group – hosted 

a workshop to gather views and 

experiences from carers and 

voluntary organisations. The 

feedback was used to improve 

future events and contributed 

directly into the development of 

the Carer Strategy 14/15.

Apppendix 1

147



26

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Reablement, prevention and early intervention 

are fundamental to more personalised services. 

We believe helping individuals to remain as 

independent as they want to be is highly 

e!ective and delivers better outcomes. In 

2013/14 we continued to develop innovative 

models to delay and reduce the need for care 

and support.

2013/14 saw the Introduction of the Integrated 

Care Program (ICP): A total of seven projects 

are associated with ICP. Three projects have 

been allocated innovation funding: Care Home 

Support Team, Home not Hospital and Blue 

Book.  

Two projects are supported and report into the 

Integrated Management Group: Harrow In Case 

of Emergency and a Telehealth pilot. A further 

two projects are ‘branded’ with ICP support 

and information is regularly shared through ICP: 

These are:

Annie’s Place and Ballet Burst in partnership 

with the Tizard Research Centre.  

Annie’s Place: Annie’s Place is a Drop-In service 

at Milmans Day centre every Thursday. The 

Drop-in is available for people with Dementia, 

their carers and wider family. Annie’s place 

provides information on services available, 

support and practical advice on reminiscence 

and other therapies, support for carers and 

access to personal services such as hairdresser, 

beauty therapist and exercise classes. 

Ballet Burst in partnership with the Tizard 

Research Centre: Following the success of a 

dance, musical-theatre and singing master-class 

for users of Harrow Neighbourhood Resource 

Centres and initial taster sessions a short film 

was made with service users outlining our desire 

to produce original research exploring obesity 

in disability and preventing complications in 

later life.  Adult services approached The Tizard 

Centre funded by the Kings Fund to develop a 

research programme and we are proud to say 

the proposal was approved and accredited by 

Tizard.

Health Integration Update                            
Apppendix 1

148



27

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Whole System Approach

Many of services across health and social care are inter dependent, but are managed (and funded) 

separately by the Council or the local NHS.  Across the country this is also largely the same, 

although in some areas services are provided jointly.  The Better Care Fund (BCF) was announced 

by Government in the June 2013 spending plans, and requires the NHS and local government to 

work more closely together around people, placing their well-being as the focus of health and 

care services in local areas, pooling resources to make best use of available funding.  In Harrow, 

given the collective financial pressures faced by both organisations, working in this way has proved 

di"cult, however after much joint working and negotiation there is now an agreed plan.  The 

integrated care pilot (ICP) shares these principles, and is expected to build on the innovative local 

authority-led initiatives such as Harrow In Case of Emergency (HICE) and the WLA Commissioning 

Framework to develop, in the longer term, a whole-system plan, which may (across the whole 

system) achieve e"ciencies which enable the wider health and social care economy to respond to 

the reducing funding envelope that is expected.

Harrow In Case of Emergency (HICE) Pilot  

Recognising through the Integrated Care Programme (ICP) the challenges from increased 

admissions to hospital in Harrow’s health and social care economy, Harrow Council developed a six 

week pilot programme targeted at people with two or more admissions to hospital in the previous 

six months. The pilot analysis has demonstrated that there was an average reduction in admissions 

to hospital for the 25 pilot participants from 18.5 admissions per month before completion of the 

pilot to 4.2 admissions per month post pilot. This average monthly reduction of 14.3 admissions for 

this client group, translates into a 77% reduction in admissions over this period.

The HICE programme provided arrange of support mechanisms; advice, physiotherapy led 

exercises and pharmacy consultation for a cohort of 25 service users with sessions based at 

Milmans Neighbourhood Resource Centre. Feedback from the programme has been very positive 

following the programme with significant improvements on outcomes including health and 

wellbeing, safety and carers quality of life.

A Session at Milmans Neighbourhood Resource Centre

Apppendix 1

149



28

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14HHHHHaaarrrrrrrooooowww’s Looccaal Acccooouuuuunnnnntt 220000113/14

Personalisation of adult social care services saw 

the introduction of personal budgets. Research 

indicates that personal budgets impact positively 

on well-being, increase choice and control and 

improve outcomes. 

A pioneering approach to Personalisation in 

Harrow has involved the development of new 

technology to support an outcome focussed 

approach to Personal Budgets. This is being 

achieved through the continued development of 

My Community ePurse (MCeP). 

This solution addressed the barriers that existed 

to cash personal budgets (formerly known as 

direct payments); including the concerns 

raised around accountability and potential 

fraud.  

We chose to use PayPal as the method 

of payment for My Community ePurse 

because PayPal protects financial 

information with industry-leading security 

and fraud prevention systems. They have 

extensive fraud and risk detection models 

and dedicated security teams that work to 

help keep their customers’ accounts secure 

from fraudulent transactions.

Harrow is the first local authority in the 

country to be able to o!er a solution that 

addresses these issues and has successfully 

secured all Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) 

to this technology to ensure that the Harrow 

Community benefits from the major interest 

we have already received from other local 

authorities.  

In 2013/14 85.9% of all Harrow clients and carers 

with substantial adult services have a personal 

budget.

When it comes to the proportion of people who 

use services who have control over their daily 

lives 47.9% received their personal budget as 

a ‘cash’ payment. This means having control 

over making payments to the service provider 

directly through the use 

of direct payments or 

MyCommunity ePursein 2013/14  

85.9% 
of clients & Carers 

with substantial 

services had a 

Personal Budget
in 2013/14  

47.9% 
of personal budgets 

were cash - the 

highest nationally 

Personal Budget

Personalisation Update                            
Apppendix 1

150



29

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

You Said, We Did                         
You said, we did: user enagement           
User engagement is crucial to us to ensure we are fulfilling our duties to the residents of 

Harrow. Surveys are an important source of feedback and there can be several di!erent 

surveys each year as well as feedback through forums, reviews, consultations, the local 

account group and through our partners including the voluntary sector. Some examples 

are:

The Department of Health Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework User Survey: 

This happens every year. In 2014 The Department of Health User Survey was sent out to 

a random sample of 1,397 services users across the borough.  The Council received 443 

responses, a 38% increase in the number received the previous year.  Overall the survey 

results show that satisfaction has been sustained at a similar level to the previous survey in 

2012-13.  

Strategic review of day services: 

We consulted service users and their families, sta!, community groups and the voluntary 

sector in relation to proposed changes to the Neighbourhood Resource Centres (NRCs) 

including reviewing service users attending Bentley NRC to assist with a smooth transition 

to Byron NRC and the closure of Bentley.

Review of learning disability residential accommodation:

We developed local residential service provision for adults with learning disabilities that 

responds to current and future demand for residential services. Through a more e"cient 

and responsive service, not only were we able to be responsive to need but also to meet 

the council key financial planning document called MTFS ‘medium term financial strategy’. 

This was achievable through sustaining local resource and not being dependant on 

expensive resources that in some cases can be a considerable distance from Harrow.

You said, We Did

We constantly strive to improve our services, the case studies from page 32 onwards are 

examples of how key strategic decisions are connected to a person centred approach. For 

example David’s story on page 34. 

David was one of the first service users to use Pay Pal to manage his personal budget and 

we recognise that when introducing new systems there will be challenges to overcome. 

Although David told us initially he experienced a long delay in getting a personal budget 

set up we responded by realigning the adult social process (see pages 14-15) in readiness 

for the roll out of MyCommunity ePurse to all service users eligible for a personal budget. 

Apppendix 1

151



30

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Case Studies: Real stories from real people
Over the next few pages you can read about:

Alan Franks: How Wiseworks opened up life 

changing opportunities

David House: Personal budgets o!er 

personalised solutions but you need to have 

the right choice on o!er

Annie’s Place: The launch of an innovative 

drop-in service o!ers support to people 

newly diagnosed with dementia and those 

who care for them

Apppendix 1

152



31

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Shared Lives: Joanne and Terry share their 

experience of a family orientated solution to 

long term care needs

Gerald and Joyce: Set backs in life can occur 

at any time, Gerald and Joyce share their 

experience of reablement and getting on 

with their lives with the reassurance of a 

personal budget and MyCommunity ePurse

Lucy, June and Jim: Getting back on their 

feet with a little help from STARRS (short-

term assessment, rehabilitation and 

re-ablement service)

Apppendix 1

153



32

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

‘I can now see a future for myself’‘I can now see a future for myself’

“After becoming unwell, I had lost my confidence and was finding it hard to believe 

in myself,” said Alan.

“I visited Wiseworks and immediately felt I was somewhere I would feel comfortable 

and supported and, importantly, where people would understand my health issues. 

Wiseworks o!ered me work related activities programmes where I had the chance 

to learn new skills and feel productive again.

“I started on the desktop publishing programme. The great thing is the classes are 

taught in small groups and tailored to learners’ needs. I had never thought of 

myself as creative but with the guidance of the Wiseworks sta!, I discovered 

a new talent.

“Wiseworks also helped me to take on further study - I went to college 

in the evenings and gained a certificate in Graphic Design. On top of 

this, with Wiseworks support I successfully completed a teaching 

course.

“Being at Wiseworks has undoubtedly aided my recovery. I’ve 

learnt new skills and have been helped to think about what I 

might go on to do in the future.

As the programmes at Wiseworks are work-focused we get 

to work on real jobs for clients, such as producing leaflets 

and booklets, which has given me invaluable experience.

“I now help other service users, assisting with the 

photography and desktop publishing classes. I also helped 

to design and construct the water feature in our Wiseacre 

garden.

“Wiseworks has been invaluable for me. I feel like I have 

come a really long way since I first came here and can 

now see a future for myself.”

With one in four people su!ering from a mental health issue, facilities 

such as Wiseworks, provided by the Disability Day Services of Harrow 

Council, are leading the way in mental health recovery. Service user 

Alan Franks explains how Wiseworks has turned his life around.

Apppendix 1

154



33

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Alan is lead designer on Wisewords; 

Wiseworks clients quarterly 

newsletter

Apppendix 1

155



34

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

‘It’s made a massive di"erence 

and is an amazing opportunity’ 

- David House

Apppendix 1

156



35

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Choosing the right support: 

David’s Story

David lived with his grandmother for a large 

part of his life and they supported each other.  

David eventually became his grandmother’s 

primary carer until she passed away. When 

David moved into a flat of his own, coping with 

everything alone was proving di"cult.  

It was then that David contacted Adult Services 

seeking help and support. As David was 

struggling to manage essential daily tasks, 

he was keen to regain his independence and 

realised that he would quickly have to learn 

new skills.  

Following the assessment stage, David 

developed his own support plan to meet his 

social care outcomes. At that time, Harrow was 

embarking on an exciting new partnership with 

PayPal for people to receive their personal 

budgets payments electronically online. David 

identified that this would be a good way for him 

to manage his personal budget, with no added 

paperwork. David acknowledges he wanted to 

pick the people who work with him and to be 

able to make sure his personal budget was 

spent on achieving his goals.

David was fully involved with interviewing 

potential providers to support him. The first 

provider David chose didn’t work in terms of 

meeting his specific personalised outcomes. It 

was then that he met Matt who at the time was 

doing some support work.  David and Matt got 

on extremely well and Matt was approached 

to register his agency with Harrow’s online 

social care directory as a provider.  This way, 

David could take control and work directly with 

Matt to organise his support plan. Matt is paid 

directly through PayPal and he says he never 

gets a late payment.

David’s lifestyle has changed significantly since 

having a personal budget. Initially Matt got 

involved in helping with everyday things like 

menu planning and being a qualified fitness 

instructor means David can balance his nutrition 

with a regular fitness regime and goes to the gym 

at least once a week 

Matt says  ‘I decided I wanted to give something 

back and I enjoy working with people…I like the 

fact that personal budgets are person centred’

David says ‘it’s made a massive di!erence and is 

an amazing opportunity’. 

Apppendix 1

157



36

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

There are currently over 2,876 people who have been diagnosed with dementia 

in Harrow. This number is projected to increase at least 30% by 2025.

Dementia can lead to people feeling isolated and confused. 

Advice and support should be provided at the earliest 

possible time to o!er reassurance and information about !!

dementia and services available. 

Over the last year, adult services have been  working 

closely with health and voluntary sector partners to develop 

dementia services and have established a pilot to o!er an !!

innovative Drop-in Service to support people in the early 

stages of dementia. The drop-in has been called “Annie’s 

Place”.

Annie’s Place o!ers a supportive environment where !!

information is made available and discussion about the 

experience of the dementia illness can be shared with 

other people in the same situation.

The Drop-In is available for people with Dementia, their 

carers and their wider family. It provides information on 

services, support and practical advice on reminiscence 

and other therapies. This includes relaxation, computer 

support, carer support, access to a hairdresser and beauty 

therapist, yoga and gentle exercise sessions provided via 

the STARRS team physiotherapist.

d. 

est 

ut 

g 

op 

n 

Apppendix 1

158



37

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Annie’s Place: O!ering a 

supportive environment

Ron and Joan Howard

In our last Local Account we featured a story 

about Ron and Joan who attend Annie’s Place. 

We are delighted to let everyone know that 

after the Local Account was published we also 

had an article in the Harrow People featuring 

Ron’s story and as a consequence of this a 

friend of Ron’s got in touch after 50 years and 

visited him at Milmans. Joan said “It actually 

brought a tear to Ron’s face. It’s because of 

Annie’s Place that we have re-established our 

friendship and we are so thankful for this. We 

think of ourselves as very lucky to have learnt 

about dementia and knowing where to go 

for help advice and support is so important.  I 

have been encouraged to be involved and 

invited to di!erent meetings and events.  I 

feel much more confident in knowing what to 

do that is best for Ron. It’s the little snippets 

of information that I get which make all the 

di!erence”.

Philomena and Neville De Mello 

Philomena has a diagnosis of Alzheimers and lives 

with her husband Neville in Harrow

“We started to attend Annie’s Place a few months 

ago and this has now become a regular event for 

us. I have the opportunity to go to another club for 

people with dementia however my husband isn’t 

able to join me so we were looking for somewhere 

to go together. At Annie’s Place we get to spend 

time with other people who we are able to share 

our experiences with and gain support from each 

other. Another positive is how less isolated we 

feel now that we have somewhere to go on a 

regular basis. Neville would stay at home doing 

his crossword but now he gets to go out and 

spend time with really nice people.

Our favourite aspect of Annies Place is the 

physiotherapy sessions that take place every 

other week.  We both enjoy taking part in these”.

Apppendix 1

159



38

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

‘I love being a shared lives carer 

because I make a di"erence in 

people’s lives’ 

- Terry

Apppendix 1

160



39

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Harrow Shared Lives Scheme o!ers 

local people the opportunity to 

open their home and their lives to 

supporting a vulnerable person. 

Whether this is long term (living with 

a carer and their family on a full time 

basis) or for respite (staying with the 

carer for a short break) many people 

have been able to take advantage of 

the scheme. 

Without the need to have had 

extensive training or any experience 

in social care, Shared Lives creates 

an opportunity for people to develop 

skills and an understanding of what 

it takes to support a person who is 

unable to manage for themselves.

Harrow Shared Lives has had a 

successful year. More carers have 

been recruited taking the total from 

10 to 35. This has included identifying 

prospective carers, taking them 

through an intensive induction and 

training process and then finally 

presenting to an approval panel. 

Raising awareness of a scheme that 

is a person centred service takes 

time, but we have seen an increase in 

service users taking up a placement 

from 19 to 32 and several more 

people are waiting to be matched. 

We hear positive stories of change 

on a daily basis and our carers do 

an amazing job in promoting the 

independence of the people they 

support. 

Terry has been a Shared Lives Carer 

for 3 years:

Terry says: I love being a Shared Lives 

Carer because I make a di!erence  

in peoples lives. I would encourage 

other people to consider the scheme 

as there are so many people who 

would love to become a part of a 

family. I have two wonderful ladies 

who live with me and my husband and 

we all get on great together because 

we respect each other and talk about 

everything. The ladies are a part of 

my extended family and we socialise 

together at family events. 

Joanne has been living within the 

scheme for two years with Terry.

Joanne says: I have been in the 

Shared Lives Scheme living with Terry 

for nearly two years and so much 

has happened in that time. Terry is 

really funny and great at helping me 

to become more independent, she is 

also good company when we go out 

to places like the cinema, swimming 

and for meals. Terry helps me to 

manage my home skills like washing 

and shopping and also supports me to 

keep in regular contact with my family 

who are welcome to visit me anytime. 

 

Joanne and Terry:

Harrow’s Shared Lives 

Scheme

Apppendix 1

161



40

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

“I didn’t realise how much was 

on o er”

- Joyce 

Apppendix 1

162



41

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Gerald and Joyce: 

Experiencing Reablement and 

MyCommunity ePurse
Joyce lives with husband Gerald in Stanmore. 

Gerald was a salesman by trade and enjoyed a 

fit and active life until he developed Parkinson’s 

Disease which then progressed to dementia. 

After a period in hospital Gerald was directed 

through to the reablement services in Harrow,. 

This was their first encounter of the integrated 

support o!ered by health and adult social care. 

Gerald was supported for six weeks with the 

aim of regaining as much independence as he 

could. During this period, Gerald was reviewed 

and assessed as eligible for further support. It 

was then that a personal budget was discussed. 

They were visited by a MyCommunity ePurse 

care navigator and shown how the process of 

having a personal budget linked to an online 

social care marketplace worked. They opted 

for a culturally specific day service that was 

available through the website and Gerald now 

attends for two days per week. 

Joyce was supported to use a PayPal account 

that is linked to MyCommunity ePurse. Joyce 

can now manage this account online making 

sure the money is spent on the support Gerald 

receives without having to provide additional 

receipts or paperwork.

The support that Gerald gets also enables Joyce 

to have a well deserved break from her caring 

role and they can continue to live a very fulfilling 

life together. Joyce is a fan of quizzes and has 

appeared on many  televison programes including 

‘Name that Tune’, Strike it Lucky’, ‘The Chase’ 

and ‘Pointless’. Gerald and Joyce have always 

enjoyed the arts including theatre and musicals 

and they are avid supporters of the University 

of the Third Age (U3A) and acknowledge that 

belonging to U3A has enabled them to have a 

wide range of experiences including holidays 

and visits to places of interest.

For more information about the University of the 

Third Age visit www.U3a.org.uk

 

Facts about MyCommunity ePurse

• MyCommunity ePurse is very secure as it uses PayPal technology

• You do not need to have your own computer, or necessarily have computer skills as you will 

be supported at all times

• You do not need to open a separate bank account and you do not have to show the council 

receipts of services you receive as a full statement of transactions in produced and held in 

your account information

• You can look at the range of services available to you including services you currently receive

• MyCommunity ePurse will enable more choice in selecting the services and social care 

support that best suit your needs

• It is a flexible and adaptable system enabling you to make changes to your Support Plan 

within your current Personal Budget

Apppendix 1

163



42

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Lucy, 97, has returned to living 

independently in the community 

following a fall.

Lucy’s son says: My mum is 97 and 

has worked hard all her life. Mum 

has had problems over the last ten 

years or so with falls and we have 

attended the falls clinic at Northwick 

Park Hospital. Sometimes mums 

falls have resulted in injuries where 

she has needed hospital treatment. 

A recent fall resulted in a fractured 

wrist. Following discharge mum 

went to stay with our brother and 

she deteriorated. An assessment 

with the STARRS team (short-

term assessment, rehabilitation 

and reablement service) resulted 

in an o!er of support through a 

placement at Denham Lodge where 

she spent three weeks, and with 

gradual encouragement from the 

physiotherapists and nurses, mum 

was helped to get back on her feet.

 Amazingly mum has made a great 

recovery and with support from the 

reablement team we now have our 

mum back.

*Denham Lodge is a reablement unit 

in Harrow.Lucy

Reablement

Apppendix 1

164



43

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

June and Jim

 June is 86 years old and has a 

diagnosis of dementia. June is well 

supported by her family, her son Jim 

lives locally and visits several times 

a day to support with shopping, 

medication and other tasks. With 

this support June is able to live 

independently in the community.

 Jim says: “Following a fall that saw 

my mother admitted into hospital, we 

were supported by Harrow Council’s 

reablement team and the STARRS 

team (short-term assessment, 

rehabilitation and reablement 

service). Helpline was installed at 

mum’s house as well as mobility aids 

including bed rails, bath rails and a 

bath lift, We were also signposted to 

a handyman scheme”.

“We were told about ‘Annie’s Place’ 

where we have been attending for a 

few weeks. Mum feels very blessed 

with the help that she has been 

receiving”

June and Jim

Apppendix 1

165



44

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Sta! Snapshots
“I am Will, a Customer Advisor working in Access Harrow. I have 

worked for Harrow Council for 6 years previously working in older 

people services, concessionary travel and reablement, 

Access Harrow is the frontline support for six Social Services 

teams. My work involves taking calls from customers, checking 

records, linking customers with their social care worker, adding 

new clients to our database and establishing what their needs 

are, looking at current activities of daily living and seeing what 

the current di"culties they are experiencing.

Most importantly we take safeguarding referrals for vulnerable 

people being reported at risk of abuse. These calls require 

time and sensitivity to allow the caller to open up about often 

very di"cult issues.

The core of what we do is to support the Social Workers 

and Care Mangers to ensure they have more time to spend 

helping people.

s great to get calls where people are just calling in to say thanks to their 

worker. It’s easy to forget that we can make a real di!erence in people lives if only by listening !!

and a few kind words”.

“I am Wi

worked

people

Access

team

reco

new 

are,

the 

Mo

pe

ti

ve

It’s great to get call

worker It’s easy to forget that we ca

!"##$%$&'()*+,
-$./0"(*-$.11,

(($23--*4

Johanna, Care Manager, Long Term Team:

“I am Johanna, a care manager of many years working in the Long Term Team in the Civic Centre. The team 

supports vulnerable adults aged 18 years and upwards who have learning disabilities, physical disabilities 

and older people, all who are either in residential or nursing placements, supported living accommodation or 

need to be moved from the community into 24 hour care.

My role is extremely varied and diverse. I carry out needs led assessments which involve visiting the client 

and family as well as liaising with General Practitioners, hospital sta!, district nurses and carers.  I also liaise !!

with placement managers.  Once my assessment is completed I present the client’s case to a panel of senior 

managers who manage the council’s budgets. When the client is placed I carry out a review in the placement 

to ensure their ongoing needs are being met and he/she is happy and settled.

Another aspect of my job is to assess people moving into supported living accommodation in order for them 

to live in the community and to develop the skills they need for independent living in a safe and secure 

environment.

Although my job is very hectic I thoroughly enjoy my role and get immense satisfaction at successfully 

finding a suitable placement or accommodation. It is extremely satisfying to see a placement having a 

positive a!ect on the person’s health and well being.  I particularly enjoy building up a rapport and good !!

working relationship with my clients and their families and all the agencies involved. I also enjoy the support 

and camaraderie I receive from my colleagues in my team as we all work together towards a shared goal”.

Apppendix 1

166



45

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Examples of Harrow Council o"cers who work in the di!erent 

areas of adult social care...

Rebecca - Care Manager, Personalisation Team 2:

“I`ve worked at Harrow Council for nearly 25 years, starting as a 

Residential Social Worker in a residential unit, then moving to Older 

Care Management and now Personalisation 2 where I am a Care 

Manager. 

I really enjoy my job which is wide ranging and includes planning 

support with some of Harrow’s most vulnerable people. These 

could be people who are existing personal budget users or may 

be new to our team. We use ‘My Community ePurse’ and ‘Paypal’ 

technology to create a support plan and help people to set up 

services using their personal budget.

Personalisation is about providing a person centred approach, 

using resources available locally to support people to meet their 

assessed needs. 

It’s my job to help find the right services and support 

organisations who can help them with the right care package. This involves working with people in their 

homes to search online via My Community ePurse for businesses and local services and then set up a 

payment system via Paypal. This approach enables people to have greater control over their lives.

Overall it’s a very fulfilling and rewarding job and it’s great when I see how positively a support plan is 

working for someone”.

Re

“I

Re

Ca

5,6,113%$&3-,$73839,-$:,-(*83#"(3)"*8$;

Michelle – Care Manager Personalisation 1

“My main job role is to assess client’s needs in the community often 

liaising with health partners, care agencies and di!erent departments !!

within Harrow as well as the private sector.

Our referrals come from the reablement team, Personalisation 3 

team and the long term team. The outcome from our assessment s 

could result in a care package, day centre placement, sitting service, 

supported living, shared lives or other specialised services to meet 

the clients’ individual needs. Another part of my job role is to assess 

carers to support them in their caring role.

The ever changing needs of the various di!erent client groups !!

require the ability to manage one’s time and prioritise whilst 

maintaining high standards of care being and good health and safety 

practice following policy, procedure and legislation.

I work in a great team which is complimented by good management 

which makes it a happy working environment.

I absolutely love my work and am very passionate about getting 

the best outcome for my clients. I find this very rewarding”.

7"1<,##,$%$&3-,$73839,-$:,-(*83#"(3)"*8$=

Apppendix 1

167



46

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Finance Summary

£19.8m

Residential Services

Breakdown of Adult Social Care Expenditure

Prevention£6.3m

How did we spend our money in 2013/14?

Apppendix 1

168



47

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

We provide services that support people in their own homes including home care, day care, 

reablement services and equipment. Our services concentrate on enabling people to remain at 

home or return home after hospital treatment or time spent in a residential home.

Most people prefer to be cared for in their own home so these services are crucial for helping 

people live independent lives. We also provide services to unpaid carers who look after people 

with adult social care needs.

Local authorities receive funding from central government that is allocated according to 

a formula. The delivery of care has changed significantly following a range of legislative, 

organisational and demographic changes.

Harrow is one of the lowest grant-funded boroughs in London. Despite the financial challenges, 

Harrow’s Adult Social Care department delivered its commitments within a managed budget 

resulting in no overspend.

£12.155m

£6.672m

£6m

£4m

£3.7m

£2.6m

£0.9m

Community Based Services

Sta"ng Costs

Corporate costs

In House Residential

Mental Health Services

In House Day Services

Safeguarding

The total Adult Social Care budget for 2013/14 was 

£62.2 million pounds

Apppendix 1

169



48

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Performance Summary

We are measured independently, and regularly assess ourselves. These are a few 

of the indicators which show our strength and activity in personalisation, reablement 

and support for carers during 2013/14. Data figures are from the ASCOF (Adult Social 

Care Outcomes Framework and the ACCUE(Adult Community Care User Experience) 

surveys.

Performance was very strong at the end of the year with all corporate and 

departmental targets achieved.  Adult Services achieved 85.9% of all clients and 

carers with substantial services now with a personal budget and of those 47.1% 

receive this as a cash payment.  

Other performance highlights include 91.7% had their care needs reviewed during the 

year, and 19.6% of people with a learning disability were in paid employment. 

 

47.1%
of people recieving 

personal budgets 

received them as  

cash

 

  

85.9% 
of clients & Carers 

with substantial 

services had a 

Personal Budget

  

1st 
Highest nationally for 

the proportion of people 

receiving cash personal 

budgets

 

5667
social care 

reviews 

completed

 

Apppendix 1

170



49

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

  

2nd 
Our national position 

of adults with learning 

disabilities in paid 

employment (19.6%)

  

6th 
In London for delayed 

transfers of care following 

a hospital admission

6700
carers packs sent out 

giving information & 

advice

300
people attended the 

carers support civic 

roadshow as part of 

Carers Week

Carers 

Revival
Free monthly event 

throughout 2013/14

  1st 
in London for adults in 

contact with secondary 

mental health service who 

are in paid employment 

(9%)

Apppendix 1

171



50

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Glossary of words used

Adult social care Personal care and practical help for adults who have care or 

support needs due to age, illness or disability, to help them 

live their life as independently as possible. 

Advocacy Help for people to express their views about their needs and 

choices.

Care Quality Commission An independent regulator of all health and social care 

services in England.

Carer Someone who provides unpaid support to a family member 

or friend who cannot manage without this help.

Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG)

Clinical Commissioning Groups are responsible for 

implementing the commissioning roles as set out in the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012

Commissioning Process the Council uses to plan and buy services for adults 

with care and support needs.

CNWL Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust

Deferred payment scheme The deferred payment scheme which allows someone who 

goes into care to keep their property and still get help from 

the local authority with paying care home fees. The local 

authority recovers the fees from the proceeds when the 

property is sold. This scheme can also be used if there is a 

delay in selling a property.

Dementia A syndrome (a group of related symptoms) associated with 

the ongoing decline of the brain and its abilities. Problems 

include memory loss, language and thinking speed. 

Direct Payments Cash payments given to people to pay for the community 

care services they have been assessed as needing. They 

are intended to give people greater choice in their care. The 

payment must be su"cient to enable the person to purchase 

services to meet their needs and must be spent on services 

that he or she needs.

Director of Adult Social 

Services (DASS)

The Director of Adult Social Services (DASS) is a sta!position 

that every local authority must have. The DASS has 

responsibility for ensuring high quality, responsive adult 

social services, promoting wellbeing and ensuring better 

integration of adult

social services with a range of partner agencies in the local 

community.

Domiciliary care See home care below.

Apppendix 1

172



51

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Eligibility criteria Guidance has been issued from the Department of Health 

about how each Council should set the criteria they use for 

a person to be eligible for social care services. Councils 

should ensure that each decision about a person’s eligibility 

for support is taken following an appropriate community care 

assessment.  

Equipment and 

adaptations

Specialist items provided to service users following an 

assessment by an occupational therapist or physiotherapist 

to help them remain safe in their home and perform daily 

activities. 

FACS (Fairer Access to 

Care Services)

Government guidance for councils to help them set eligibility 

criteria for adult and social care services.

Health and Wellbeing 

Board

The Government has given local authorities a duty to set up 

these Boards. The aim is to bring together local Councillors, 

patient representatives and key decision-makers across 

health and social care so that local people benefit from 

coordinated and joined up local services. There is to be a 

focus on addressing health inequalities, combining resources 

across health and social care, and the empowerment and 

involvement of local people. 

HealthWatch An organisation established as a new independent consumer 

champion for health and social care. HealthWatch England is 

a statutory part of the Care Quality Commission. 

Home care Home care or Domiciliary care is care provided in an 

individual’s home, normally of a personal nature such as help 

with dressing, washing or toileting. It can be arranged by 

Social Services following an assessment of need, or can be 

arranged privately by the individual themselves, or someone 

acting for them.

Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA)

This is a process to identify current and future health and 

well-being needs of the local population; informing the 

priorities and targets set by local authorities and the local 

NHS PCTs. It enables agreed commissioning priorities that 

will improve outcomes and reduce health inequalities. The 

Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

places a duty on local authorities and PCTs to undertake 

these assessments. 

Local accounts Local accounts are reports used by councils across the 

country to tell residents what adult social care is doing and to 

assess how well adult social care services are performing.

Apppendix 1

173



52

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Local Safeguarding Adults 

Board (LSAB)

Harrow’s LSAB is a multi-agency partnership, made up of a 

wide range of statutory, independent and voluntary agencies 

and organisations, all working together to keep adults, 

particularly those who are more vulnerable, safe from the risk 

of abuse, harm or exploitation.

Market Position Statement This is a tool that is designed for providers, and potential 

providers, of care and support services.

MyCommunity ePurse A support planning and personal budget tool for service 

users and carers, which gives service users the facility to 

receive and manage their cash personal budget online. 

My Support, My Way This is Harrow Council’s Quality Assurance Charter. It defines 

what local people have said is important to them. It is the 

basic standard of what local people should expect when they 

receive care and support in Harrow. 

NHS continuing care 

funding

This describes a package of continuing health care provided 

outside hospital, arranged and funded solely by the NHS, for 

people with ongoing health needs. To decide if a person is 

eligible for this funding an assessment of healthcare needs 

takes place. Eligibility for continuing care funding is reviewed 

on a regular basis.

Nursing care Care carried out or supervised by a qualified nurse, including 

injections and dressings paid for by the NHS.

Outcome End result, change or benefit for an individual who uses 

social care and support services.

Preventative Services Services that involve early interventions to prevent long term 

dependency or ill health.

Personal Budgets An allocation of funding given to users of community care 

services after a community care assessment. The amount 

should be enough to meet their assessed needs. People can 

take them either as direct payments (see above) or – while 

choosing how their care needs are met and by whom – leave 

local authorities with the responsibility to commission the 

services; or they can have a combination of the two.

Personalisation Personalisation is a social care approach described by the 

Department of Health as meaning that “every person who 

receives support, whether provided by statutory services 

or funded by themselves, will have choice and control over 

the shape of that support in all care settings”. The purpose 

is to ensure that services are tailored to the needs of every 

individual, rather than being delivered in a “one-size-fits all” 

fashion.

Apppendix 1

174



53

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Portability The portability of social security benefits is the ability of 

workers to preserve, maintain, and transfer acquired social 

security rights (and social security rights in the process of 

transferring) from one private, occupational, or public social 

security scheme to another.

Portfolio Holder A Portfolio Holder is a Cabinet member with a specific 

responsibility that has been delegated by the Leader of the 

Council.

Providers These are organisations or agencies who are commissioned 

to provide services on behalf of the Council.

Quality Assurance 

Quadrant (QAQ)

The QAQ is a regular internal report which focuses on four 

areas: consumer/citizen challenge, independent challenge, 

provider challenge, and professional challenge.

Reablement Timely and focussed intensive therapy and care in a person’s 

home to improve their choice and quality of life and maximise 

long term independence. The aim is that, through short 

term intervention, people are helped to recover skills and 

confidence to enable them to live at home. 

Residential care Care in a care home providing personal care such as 

washing, dressing and taking medication.

Safeguarding Protecting vulnerable people from neglect or physical, 

financial, psychological or verbal abuse. 

Self Directed Support A description of how a Council plans to arrange social 

care support by carrying out an assessment of need with 

an individual; agreeing what help is needed and then 

determining how much money will be provided to pay for it 

(this is called a Personal Budget). The Council then agrees 

a plan with an individual about how the money will be spent 

and who will manage the “personal budget”. Some people 

chose to manage the money themselves. 

Telecare Equipment, devices and services to help vulnerable people 

stay safe and independent at home, including fall sensors 

and safety alarms.

Telehealth Telehealth is the use of electronic information and 

telecommunications technologies to support long-distance 

clinical health care.

Vulnerable adult A person aged 18 or over who may be unable to take care of 

themselves, or protect themselves from harm or exploitation 

due to mental health problems, disability, sensory impairment, 

frailty or other condition.

Apppendix 1

175



54

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

Useful Contacts

Safeguarding Team Contact Details

Telephone:  020 8420 9453

Out of Hours: 020 8424 0999

email:   safeguardingadults@harrow.gov.uk

For information on Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)

Telephone:  020 8736 6153

email:  dols@harrow.gov.uk 

Harrow Council: Adult Services Golden Number

020 8901 2680 

www.harrow.gov.uk

Safeguarding Assurance and Quality Services Team

020 8424 1205

email: saqs@harrow.gov.uk

Emergency out-of-hours Social Worker

020 8424 0999

Police non-emergency number 

101 

www.met.police.uk

NHS – fast but non-emergency medical help

111

Harrow Citizens’ Advice Bureau

020 8427 9477 

www.harrowcab.org.uk

Harrow Mencap

020 8869 8484 

www.harrowmencap.org.uk

Harrow Association of Disabled People

020 8861 9920 

Apppendix 1

176



55

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

www.had.org.uk

Mind in Harrow

020 8426 0929 

www.mindinharrow.org.uk

Rethink Mental Illness

0300 5000 927 

www.rethink.org

Stroke Association

0303 3033 100 

www.stroke.org.uk

Parkinson’s UK

0808 800 0303 

www.parkinsons.org.uk

Age UK Harrow

020 8861 7980 

www.ageuk.org.uk

Alzheimer’s Society

020 7423 3500 

www.alzheimers.org.uk

Carers UK

020 7378 4999 

www.carersuk.org

Crossroad Care Harrow 

020 8868 0903 

www.carers.org

Harrow Carers

020 8868 5224 

www.harrowcarers.org

London Taxicard

0845 415 4156 or 020 7934 9791 

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/services/taxicard

Apppendix 1

177



56

Harrow’s Local Account 2013/14

www.harrow.gov.uk

Apppendix 1

178


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 CNWL DRAFT Quality Account 2014-15
	Draft Quality Account 2014-15 v3 0 1

	8 Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee Update
	9 Healthwatch Update Report
	10 Harrow's Local Account 2013/14
	The Local Account 2013 - 2014 FINAL cgy


